EVALUATION OF THE POTENTIALITY OF SESBANIA CANNABINA (RETZ.) POIR. FOR PHYTOREMEDIATION OF HEXAVALENT CHROMIUM CONTAMINATED SOIL.

By ABDUL KADIR IBNE KAMAL

A thesis submitted to The University of Birmingham for the degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

School of Geography, Earth and Environmental Science College of Life and Environmental Sciences The University of Birmingham September 2023

UNIVERSITY^{OF} BIRMINGHAM

University of Birmingham Research Archive

e-theses repository

This unpublished thesis/dissertation is copyright of the author and/or third parties. The intellectual property rights of the author or third parties in respect of this work are as defined by The Copyright Designs and Patents Act 1988 or as modified by any successor legislation.

Any use made of information contained in this thesis/dissertation must be in accordance with that legislation and must be properly acknowledged. Further distribution or reproduction in any format is prohibited without the permission of the copyright holder.

Abstract

Heavy metals (HM) accumulation in the soil or sediment is of significant environmental concern because of their toxicity to living organisms. Hexavalent chromium [Cr(VI)] is considered one of the most toxic HM released in the natural environment due to anthropogenic activities and they are still discharged from many industrial processes (e.g., chromo-tanning in leather industries), especially in developing countries like Bangladesh due to continuing use of chromium-containing salts (e.g. Na₂CrO₄, K₂Cr₂O₇, Cr(OH)SO₄). These HM do not decompose or disintegrate thus, removing or converting them into a less harmful state will reduce bioavailability and toxicity. Using plants (phytoremediation) in the remediation of HM has many advantages over chemical methods because it is less costly and can change metal speciation without the addition of further potential contaminants. The prerequisite for being a phytoremediation species is that species need to be fast-growing, able to grow under broad environmental stress and non-edible. A native species in Bangladesh Sesbania cannabina (Retz.) Poir. fulfils these conditions. This research aims to assess the Cr(VI) phytoremediation capacity of Sesbania cannabina (Retz.) Poir. (commonly known as Dhaincha in Bangladesh).

Study 1 (Chapter 2) provides evidence of Cr(VI) contamination in riverbank sediment (the highest Cr(VI) was recorded at 31.67±2.87 ppm, December 2021) of the Dhaleshwari River, Bangladesh. In Study 2 (chapter 3), we optimised the conditions (seeds pre-treated with H_2O_2 (6% v/v) for 5 minutes and primed with 65°C water for 5 minutes can germinate well at 27.5 ± 2.5°C) for *S. cannabina* seed germination. In study 3 (chapter 4), we tested the effect of Cr(VI) concentration on seed germination and root radicle elongation, and we observed *S. cannabina* can germinate and grow in

concentrations of up to 175 ppm Cr(VI) in a growth medium. In addition, we observed the effect of Cr(VI) on the root system of *S. cannabina* by using rhizobox in study 4 (chapter 5) and found that root growth in plants grown in 160 ppm contaminated soil was reduced by about 55±0.65% at 25 days and 35±0.25% at 45 days and that the root system was destroyed ≥360 ppm. Finally, we studied (chapter 6) the phytoremediation (in soil) potential of *S. cannabina* under different concentrations of Cr(VI) and observed that the plant species can convert all the harmful Cr(VI) to less harmful Cr(III) when grown in ≤ 175 ppm Cr(VI) contaminated soil.

Collectively, the four studies mentioned above (chapters 2 to 5) suggest that *S. cannabina* is a suitable candidate for phytoremediation of Cr(VI) (\leq 175 ppm) contaminated soil because it can convert all Cr(VI) to Cr(III) and sequester chromium in the roots.

DEDICATION

TO MY CREATOR AND MY FAMILY

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First of all, I would like to thank Almighty Allah for everything. I would also like to thank the people who helped me on this long journey; this would have been impossible without them.

First and foremost, I want to acknowledge my supervisors, Dr Lesley C. Batty and Dr Rebecca Bartlett, for accepting me to commence a PhD with them. Working with you both has been a pleasure, and I have gained immense knowledge. Dr Lesley, thank you for everything you have done for me over the last 5 years, especially during COVID-19. Without your mental support, I could not continue my study. Both of you invested a lot of time in me, which allowed me to develop my confidence as a researcher. I would like to thank the support of the "Bangabandhu Science and Technology Fellowship Trust" of the Government of the People's Republic of Bangladesh.

In addition to my supervisors, I want to thank them for those who have also been involved with the research. To David Tubbs, Bethan Phillips, James Gore, Suleiman Suleiman, Dr Joanna Chustecki and Dr Mirza A. T. M. Tanvir Rahman, – thank you for your advice about lab techniques, lab support and technical expertise. And finally, to all my family members; my mother, father, especially Tima and Ayat– I understand that a bit of passage here is insufficient to express my gratitude to all of you.

Thank you, everyone

LIST OF PUBLISHED ABSTRACTS

This thesis incorporates the following abstract:

- Abdul Kadir Ibne Kamal, Lesley Batty, and Rebecca Bartlett; "Evaluation of the root system and phyto-management potential of Sesbania cannabina grown in hexavalent chromium contaminated soils utilizing modified rhizobox systems." EGU General Assembly 2022; EGU22-4921; https://doi.org/10.5194/egusphereegu22-4921.
- Abdul Kadir Ibne Kamal, Lesley Batty, Rebecca Bartlett, Suleiman Suleiman, and Joanna Chustecki; "Germination potential of Sesbania cannabina in 2 Chromium (Cr) spiked growth media" EGU General Assembly 2020; EGU2020-5952; https://doi.org/10.5194/egusphere-egu2020-5952.
- Abdul Kadir Ibne Kamal, Lesley Batty, and Rebecca Bartlett; "Assessing the Buriganga River Pollution of Bangladesh: Past, Present and Future." *Research poster conference*, University of Birmingham, 19th June 2019. https://intranet.birmingham.ac.uk/as/studentservices/graduateschool/documents/ public/RPC-2019/RPC-2019-Conf-Booklet.pdf

Table of Contents

Chapter 1:	1
General Introduction and Literature Review	1
1.1 Prelude	2
1.2 Buriganga and Dhaleshwari River 1.2.1 River System	3 3
1.2.2 River pollution	5
1.3 Chromium in Environment and their effects	6
1.3.1 Sources of Chromium	6
1.3.2 Geochemistry of Chromium	7
1.3.3 Toxicity of chromium	9
1.3.4 Soil and Sediment Guidelines for Chromium	11
1.4 Remediation of heavy metals from contaminated sites	13
1.4.1 Physico-chemical methods of Cr removal	13
1.4.2 Biological remediation	14
1.4.2.1 Phytoremediation of heavy metals	15
1.5 Phytoremediation of chromium	16
1.5.1 Hyper-accumulators	17
1.5.2 Plant Selection for Phyto-extraction	18
1.6 Factors Affecting Phytoremediation of Chromium	19
1.6.1 pH	19
1.6.2 Soil organic matter and root exudates	20
1.6.3 Effect of Chelating Agents	20
1.6.4 Effect of Sulfur	22
1.6.5 Effect of rhizobia legume symbiosis	24
1.7 Sesbania cannabina (Retz.) Poir	25
1.7.1 Phytoremediation of HM by species of Sesbania genus	26
1.8 Summary and Gap of the chromium phytoremediation studies:	27
1.9 Aim and Objectives	28
1 10 Outling of the Thesis	29

1.11 References	31
Chapter 2 :	44
An assessment of distribution and concentrations of total chromium, c (VI) and lead in river sediments during the dry season after the relocati tannery industries from the Buriganga to the Dhaleshwari Rivers in Bar	hromium on of the ngladesh. 44
Abstract	45
2.1 Introduction	46
2.2 Methodology	
2.2.1 Sediment sample collection	49
2.2.2 Sample preparation and Cr analysis	50
2.2.2.1 Analysis of total chromium (Cr) and lead (Pb)	50
2.2.2.2 Analysis of hexavalent chromium (Cr(VI)	50
2.2.3 Estimation of geo-accumulation index	51
2.2.4 Estimation of contamination factor	52
2.2.5 Statistical analyses	52
2.3 Results	53
2.4 Discussion	58
2.5 Conclusion	65
2.6 References	65
Chapter 3	69
Optimisation of seed germination and seedling emergence of <i>cannabina</i> (Retz.) Poir	Sesbania 69
Abstract	70
3.1 Introduction	71
3.2 Methodology	73
3.2.1 Seed Collection and Storage	
3.2.2 Seea selection and preparation for germination	
3.2.3 ⊑nect of disinfectant and not water treatment on seed germination	
3.2.4 Effect of Tomporature and Destanariad	
3.2.5 Effect of burial depth for different growth modium on soudling amore	
5.2.6 Enect of burnar depart for unreferit growin medium on seeding emerg	viii

3.2.7 Germination percentage	77
3.2.8 Statistical analysis	77
3.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	77
3.3.1 Effect of disinfectant and hot water treatment on seed germination	77
3.3.2 Effect of growth medium on seed germination	79
3.3.3 Effect of Temperature and Photoperiod	80
3.3.4 Effect of burial depth within different growth media on seedling emergenc	e.82;
3.4 Conclusion	83
3.5 References	83
Chapter 4 :	87
Effect of chromium on seed germination and root development of Sest cannabina (Retz.) Poir. in two different growth media	oania 87
Abstract	88
4.1 Introduction	89
4.2 Methods	90
4.2.1 Experimental design	90
4.2.2 Seed selection, preparation and growth media for germination	91
4.2.3 Germination percentage	92
4.2.4 Germination Rate (T ₅₀)	92
4.2.5 Radicle (RTI) tolerance indices	92
4.2.6 Confocal microscopy	92
4.2.7 Statistical analysis	93
4.3 Results	93
4.3.1 Seed germination	93
4.3.2 Maximum Root elongation	96
4.3.3 Effect of Cr(VI) on root structure	98
4.4 Discussion	. 101
4.5 Conclusion	.105
4.6 References	. 105
Chapter 5 :	.110

Evaluation of the root system of Sesbania cannabina (Retz.) Poin hexavalent chromium contaminated soils by utilising modified systems.	grown in rhizobox 110
Abstract	111
5.1 Introduction	112
5.2 Methodology	114
5.2.1 Soil Preparation	114
5.2.2 Seed germination, transfer to rhizobox and experiment design:	114
5.2.3 Rhizobox design and development	115
5.2.4 Laboratory growth chamber	117
5.2.5 Root system analysis (RSA)	117
5.2.6 Soil sample preparation and Cr(VI) analysis	117
5.2.7 Dissolved Organic Carbon (DOC) in soil	118
5.2.8 Evaluation of root growth and Cr(VI) tolerance	118
5.2.9 Statistical analysis	119
5.3 Results and Discussion	119
5.4 Conclusion	126
5.5 Reference	
Chapter 6 :	131
An assessment of the phytoremediation potential of Sesbania cannal Poir. grown in hexavalent chromium contaminated soil	o <i>ina</i> (Retz.) 131
Abstract	132
6.1 Introduction	133
6.2 Materials and Methods	137
6.2.1 Soil preparation	137
6.2.2 Experimental Procedure	137
6.2.3 Chlorophyll content	138
6.2.4 Proline content	139
6.2.5 Sample Preparation for Cr analysis	139
6.2.6 Analysis of chromium species	140
6.2.7 Phytoremediation potential	141
6.2.8 Statistical tests	141

6.3 Results and Discussion	142
6.3.1 Status of Cr(VI) in soil and S. cannabina	142
6.3.2 Cr(VI) effect on S. cannabina growth	144
6.3.3 Cr(VI) effect on the photosynthetic pigment of S. cannabina	146
6.3.4 Cr(VI) effect on proline content of S. cannabina	148
6.3.5 Chromium phytoremediation potential of S. cannabina	150
6.4 Conclusion	151
6.5 References	
Chapter 7:	158
Conclusion & Recommendations	158
7.1 Conclusions	159
7.2 Limitations of this study	
7.3 Recommendations	161

List of Figures

Figure 1.1: Buriganga- River system (modified after (Khan, 2004)4
Figure 1.2: EC value at near Kamrangir Char of Buriganga River water in the year 2012, 2013,
2014 and 2016. (DoE, 2014, 2015, 2017, 2013)5
Figure 1.3: Annual world mine production of Cr (USGS, 2020)7
Figure 1.4: Eh-pH diagram for chromium (Sueker, 2005)
Figure 1.5: Biological remediation methods. Modified from Azubuike et al., (2016) and Grzegórska et al., (2020)
Figure 1.6: Sesbania cannabina (Retz.) Poir. in laboratory condition
Figure 2.1: Sample collection location points in both rivers
Figure 2.2. Total Cr and Pb concentrations (ppm) in the Buriganga and Dhaleshwari Rivers in
2019 and 2021. Boxplot legend: top (bottom) edges of box are 75th (25th) percentiles;
center line in the box is median; the upper (lower) whisker extends from the box edge to
the largest (smallest) value no further than $1.5 \times inter-quartile$ ranges of the edge; data
beyond the end of the whiskers are outliers and are plotted individually)
Figure 2.3. The Cr (total) and Pb concentrations (ppm) in the sediments of the sampling sites
in the Dhaleshwari and Buriganga Rivers for 2019 and 2021. Small letters indicate the
difference in metal concentrations between years (corrected p = 0.0125); and capital

- Figure 3.4: Effect of different (constant) temperatures and different photo-period on seed germination of for 5 d. Error bars are standard error (n =5). Identical letters indicate no significant difference, as determined by Tukey's LSD (p ≤ 0.001)......81

- Figure 4.5: Propidium iodide fluorescence density in the roots grown in different concentration of Cr(VI) (0, 5, 10, 25, 50, 175, 250, 500, 750 and 1000 ppm) after 120 h . MS0 =

Murashige and Skoog basal medium and FP = Whatman No 1 Filter paper. Error bars are standard deviation from the mean $(n=3)$
Figure 5.1: Rhizobox set-up
Figure 5.2: Average root area coverage (%) over time under increasing concentrations (ppm) of Cr(VI). Bars indicate standard error (n=3)
Figure 5.3: Root coverage over time (up to 210 mm) under increasing concentrations of Cr(VI).
 Figure 5.4: RSA images showing root damage and regrowth in 160 ppm Cr(VI) sample. A. Root death is visible, having occurred between day 15 and day 20. B. Root regrowth observed on day 25 (yellow circle) and new growth has established (blue oval). C. Root growth continued vigorously by day 30
n=3123
Figure 5.6: Soil-Cr(VI) during the experiment as a % of initial Cr(VI) dose, n=3 123
Figure 5.7: Average root length over time (up to 20 cm) under different concentrations (in ppm) of Cr(VI), n=9
Figure 5.8: Root growth rate (RGR) and tolerance index (TI) after 45 days grown in different Cr(VI) in ppm dosed soil concentrations
 Figure 5.8: Root growth rate (RGR) and tolerance index (TI) after 45 days grown in different Cr(VI) in ppm dosed soil concentrations
 Figure 5.8: Root growth rate (RGR) and tolerance index (TI) after 45 days grown in different Cr(VI) in ppm dosed soil concentrations
 Figure 5.8: Root growth rate (RGR) and tolerance index (TI) after 45 days grown in different Cr(VI) in ppm dosed soil concentrations

List of Tables

Table 1.1: Soil and sediment chromium standards (ppm dry weight). 12
Table 2.1. Chromium (total), Cr(VI) and Pb concentrations (ppm) in the sampling sites in the
Dhaleshwari River (L1 to L4) and in the Buriganga River (L5 to L8) in 2019 and 2021
(mean ± SD)
Table 2.2. Summary statistics of generalised linear mixed models (GLMMs) to determine
difference in metal concentrations (ppm) in sediments between the Buriganga and Dhaleshwari Rivers (n indicates sample size)
Table 2.3. Summary statistics of the likelihood-ratio test to examine the effects of interaction
between sampling year (Y) and sampling site (S) on the Cr (total) and Pb concentrations
(ppm) in the Dhaleshwari and the Buriganga Rivers. (df indicates the degrees of
freedom)
Table 2.4. Summary of geo-accumulation index (Igeo) and contamination factor (CF) for Pb
and total Cr in the Dhaleshwari and Buriganga rivers in 2019 and 2021 (see figure 2.1
for sample locations L1 to L8). L1 to L4 upstream and L5 to L8 downstream)
Table 2.5: Total chromium (ppm) contents in the sediments of Buriganga River (Sampling site
varies around 50 meters for each researcher)
Table 3.1: Effect of different concentrations of H_2O_2 (where (+) means microbial growth and (–
) is no microbial growth)78
Table 4.1: Radicle (RTI) tolerance indices (%) after 5 day or 120h for different Cr(VI) concentrations (0 to 1000 ppm). 98
Table 5.1: Parameters of soil used in this experiment (average values \pm SD (n=3)114
Table 6.1: Important parameters of soil used in this experiment (average values ± SD (n=3).
Table 6.2: Mean ± SD (n=6) chromium (Cr, total) concentrations in Sesbania cannabina plant
parts and soil (ppm). Values followed by the identical letter for each parameter show no
significant difference from one another, as identified by Tukey's LSD ($p \le 0.001$) 142
Table 6.3: BAC, TF, and RCF of S. cannabina for Cr(VI) phytoremediation. Each value is the
mean of six replicates ($n = 6$); values followed by the identical letter for each parameter
are not significantly different from one another, as identified by Tukey's LSD ($p \le 0.001$)

List of Papers

Paper 1:

Title : An assessment of distribution and concentrations of total chromium, chromium (VI) and lead in river sediments during the dry season after the relocation of the tannery industries from the Buriganga to the Dhaleshwari Rivers in Bangladesh

Authors : Abdul Kadir Ibne Kamal^{1,2}; Mirza A. T. M. Tanvir Rahman², Lesley C Batty¹; Rebecca Bartlett¹

Affiliations: ¹School of Geography, Earth and Environmental Science, University of Birmingham, Birmingham, B15 2TT, United Kingdom; ² Department of Environmental Sciences, Jahangirnagar University, Dhaka 1342, Bangladesh

Paper 2:

Title : Optimisation of seed germination and seedling emergence of Sesbania cannabina (Retz.) Poir.

Authors : Abdul Kadir Ibne Kamal; Lesley C Batty; Rebecca Bartlett

Affiliations: School of Geography, Earth and Environmental Science, University of Birmingham, Birmingham, B15 2TT, United Kingdom.

Paper 3:

Title : Effect of chromium on seed germination and root development of Sesbania cannabina (Retz.) Poir. in two different growth media.

Authors : Abdul Kadir Ibne Kamal; Lesley C Batty; Rebecca Bartlett

Affiliations: School of Geography, Earth and Environmental Science, University of Birmingham, Birmingham, B15 2TT, United Kingdom.

Paper 4:

Title : Evaluation of the root system of Sesbania cannabina (Retz.) Poir. grown in hexavalent chromium contaminated soils by utilising modified rhizobox systems.

Authors : Abdul Kadir Ibne Kamal; Lesley C Batty; Rebecca Bartlett Affiliations: School of Geography, Earth and Environmental Science, University of

Birmingham, Birmingham, B15 2TT, United Kingdom.

Paper 5:

Title : An assessment of the phytoremediation potential of Sesbania cannabina (Retz.) Poir. grown in hexavalent chromium contaminated soil.

Authors : Abdul Kadir Ibne Kamal,; Lesley C Batty; Rebecca Bartlett Affiliations: School of Geography, Earth and Environmental Science, University of Birmingham, Birmingham, B15 2TT, United Kingdom. Chapter 1:

General Introduction and Literature Review.

Chapter 1

1.1 Prelude

Worldwide, soil contamination with heavy metals (HM) has become a global public health issue for the safety concern of agricultural products and food safety (Li et al., 2019; Vardhan et al., 2019). Globally a significant area of land (about 20 million ha of land) of > 500 million sites are contaminated with heavy metals or metalloids, and the concentration of these contaminants is above the standard or regulatory levels (Liu et al., 2018; He et al., 2015). The monetary consequences of this soil pollution are estimated to be >US\$10 billion per year and hinder future economic growth (He et al., 2015). At present major polluting industries are located in developing countries, and these industries directly or indirectly pollute the soil and rivers of these contaminated with heavy metals, mostly because sewage and industrial effluent are discharged directly into the river channel without proper treatment (Tom et al., 2014).

Bangladesh is a developing country; its capital, Dhaka, is surrounded by three rivers, the Buriganga, Turag and Shitalakhya. Along with economic growth (GDP growth of 8.2% in 2019), rapid population growth (more than 21 million people in 2020) and improper management of wastes (including wastewater from industries) in Dhaka increase the pollution load in the surrounding rivers of the capital (WPR, 2020; World Bank, 2020). Major polluting industries such as tanneries, textile industries and battery recycling are situated on the bank of these rivers and discharge effluents directly into the river without appropriate management (Islam et al., 2018a; Nargis et al., 2018; Islam et al., 2015). Heavy metals (such as Cr, Pb, Cd, etc.) are considered the most toxic substance among the major environmental pollutants (Liu et al., 2018; He et al., 2015).

Chapter 1

Chromium (Cr) is recognised as a heavily noxious HM but is extensively used in processing industries (Shahid et al., 2017; Sinha et al., 2018; Jeřábková et al., 2018). It is in group VI-B transitional element (electronic configuration of Ar 3d⁵4s¹) and has two steady oxidation states [Cr(III) or Cr³⁺ and Cr(VI) or Cr⁶⁺] (Sueker, 2005). It can be found in all environment settings with various species (compounds) and different concentrations. Due to carcinogenicity and toxicity, compared with other chromium species, hexavalent chromium (Cr(VI)) is identified as a major environmental threat to both aquatic and terrestrial life (Jeřábková et al., 2018; Zayed and Terry, 2003).

Governments and the scientific community are trying to remediate the heavy metalcontaminated soil by several methods (Vardhan et al., 2019; Liu et al., 2018). Among them, phytoremediation is considered cost-effective and more sustainable but is still not highly efficient (Ashraf et al., 2019; Grzegórska et al., 2020). In this chapter, we will discuss the pollution status of river bank sediment of one of the major rivers in Bangladesh, the toxicity and chemistry of chromium and the existing phytoremediation methods.

1.2 Buriganga and Dhaleshwari River

1.2.1 River System

The Dhaleshwari-Buriganga system started near the meeting point of the Padma (Ganges) and upper Meghna rivers in Bangladesh (Point A in figure 1.1) (Kamal et al., 1999; Khan, 2004). The Dhaleshwari River is a tributary of the Buriganga river, and the Dhaleshwari River starts from the Meghna River, just upstream of the Padma (Ganges) river near the confluence (Point B in figure 1.1). But the Turag River is the primary source of water for the Buriganga, which receives flows from

local rainfall and the Jamuna River. The lower reaches of the Dhaleshwari-Buriganga system are tidal during the dry season when upstream inflows are minimal (Kamal et al., 1999; Khan, 2004).



Figure 1.1: Buriganga- River system (modified after Khan, 2004)

1.2.2 River pollution

The main source of water for Bangladeshi rivers is from upstream rivers generated from the Himalayan mountain range of India; thus, the mean discharge rate varies from season to season. The water pollution also varies with the season, and during winter or dry season, these rivers become more polluted than the time of monsoon due to (dilution) heavy rainfall (Islam et al., 2015; Bhuiyan et al., 2015; Islam et al., 2014; Kolås et al., 2013).

The Department of Environment of the Bangladesh Government has detailed records on EC (Electric Conductivity) of Buriganga river water which is a useful index of water pollution parameters (DoE, 2014, 2015, 2017, 2013). The presence of mixed fish species in a river system is one of the key indicators of good water quality or good biological health of a river; mixed fishes can only survive in the EC range between 150 to 500 micro-siemens per centimetre (μ s/cm) and EC value above it is not suitable for certain kind of fish or macroinvertebrates (EPA, 2012).



Figure 1.2: EC value at near Kamrangir Char of Buriganga River water in the year 2012, 2013, 2014 and 2016. (DoE, 2014, 2015, 2017, 2013).

River water near Kamrangir Char, Dhaka, of the mainstream of the Buriganga River was reported to be the most polluted site and figure 1.2 shows the EC value of that site (Islam et al., 2018b; Nargis et al., 2018). From the EC value, the highest contamination was detected in Feb-Mar-Apr (780 to 1510 μ s/cm), when rainfall and water discharge from upstream is low. In Aug-Sep-Oct, contamination is lower due to dilution by heavy rain and high discharge from upstream.

Throughout the year, Biological oxygen demand (BOD) and Chemical oxygen demand (COD) were always above the threshold limit highest value observed BOD 284 ppm (BOD permissible limit in the freshwater ecosystem \leq 5ppm)in December 2016 and COD was 212.6 ppm in December due to the discharge of untreated effluent from textile industries, tannery industries and sewage from Dhaka city in the river, which typically contains chemically reduced compounds, that readily react with oxygen (Bhuiyan et al., 2015; Islam et al., 2015; Saifullah et al., 2012; DoE, 2017, 2015)

1.3 Chromium in Environment and their effects

1.3.1 Sources of Chromium

Chromium is the 24th most abundant element in the earth's crust (average 100–200 ppm as total chromium), and ultramafic (basaltic igneous) rocks and their derived soils have higher chromium concentrations (Jeřábková et al., 2018; Becquer et al., 2003). South Africa, India and Kazakhstan are the leading countries for mining chromium as chromite (USGS, 2020; Shahid et al., 2017). Globally, chromium production by mining increased progressively between 2000 and 2019 from 14,400 thousand metric tons to 44,000 thousand metric tons, respectively (USGS, 2020) (figure 1.3).



Figure 1.3: Annual world mine production of Cr (USGS, 2020).

Chromium compounds are used in metallurgical and galvanising, chromo paints and pigments, rawhide processing (tanning), furniture, pulp and paper industries. Stainless steel and alloy preparation industries consume 65.0 to 70.0 % of the total production of chromium (Sinha et al., 2018; USGS, 2020). More than 85% of the leather tanning industries use Cr salt as a tanning agent, and their effluents contain chromium (Sundaramoorthy et al., 2010). In most developing countries like Bangladesh, these industries discharge their chromium-containing effluent straight into the environment without proper treatment (Shahid et al., 2017; Jobby et al., 2018; Sinha et al., 2018; Jeřábková et al., 2018).

1.3.2 Geochemistry of Chromium

Geochemical processes govern the speciation, transport and fate of heavy metals in the environment. A wide range of chromium oxidation states have been found, varying from -2 to +6. Among these states, elemental chromium (Cr 0), trivalent chromium (Cr(III)), and hexavalent chromium (Cr(VI)) are the most stable (Sueker, 2005; Kim and Dixon, 2002). Pourbaix diagram (Eh-pH diagram) illustrates the behaviour of chromium species under specific Eh (reduction-oxidation (redox) potential) and pH conditions (figure 1.4) (Sueker, 2005; Palmer and Wittbrodt, 1991).

Thermodynamic stability of chromium species also depends on the presence of atmospheric oxygen, pH and complexing agent (excluding H₂O or OH⁻) (Bandara et al., 2020). According to the Pourbaix diagram of chromium, in high Eh and high pH, hexavalent chromium (i.e., HCrO4⁻ and CrO4²⁻) is thermodynamically steady. By contrast, in low pH and all Eh conditions, trivalent chromium (i.e., Cr³⁺, CrOH²⁺, Cr(OH)₂⁺, Cr(OH)₃⁰ and Cr(OH)₄⁻) is thermodynamically steady (Bandara et al., 2020; Hu et al., 2016). In addition, under reducing conditions and high pH, trivalent chromium is also stable.



Figure 1.4: Eh-pH diagram for chromium (Sueker, 2005).

Chapter 1

Eh-pH diagram shows distinct boundaries between Cr(III) and Cr(VI) species, but the mechanism of conversion from one species to another is unclear (Bandara et al., 2020; Hu et al., 2016). Cr(III) species are the most dominant species because they occur in wide-ranging Eh and pH values; below pH 3, they are predominant as ionic (i.e., Cr⁺³). By contrast, Cr(VI) can be converted to Cr(III) under highly acidic conditions because, under acidic conditions, chromate acts as a potent oxidising agent (Fendorf et al., 2000; Kim and Dixon, 2002; Sueker, 2005).

1.3.3 Toxicity of chromium

Trivalent chromium (Cr(III)) can play important roles in maintaining normal glucose function (recommended value 125 to 600 µg/d) and lipid metabolism in humans (Paiva et al., 2015; Behrouz et al., 2020; Anderson, 2003). By contrast, hexavalent chromium (Cr(VI)) is highly toxic and carcinogenic in even low doses (Hu et al., 2018; Peralta-Videa et al., 2009). In summary, Cr(VI) is the most toxic species of chromium and chromium (III) species are less toxic and cause fewer health problems (Wilbur et al., 2012; ATSDR, 2012; Hu et al., 2018; Browning and Wise, 2017).

Chromium can enter the human body through inhalation and oral routes (ATSDR, 2012). Low doses (0.003 ppm/day) of Cr(VI) can cause iron deficiency (anaemia), allergic reactions in the body, skin irritations, gastric ulcers and infertility in men (ATSDR, 2012; Wilbur et al., 2012). High doses (> 250 ppm) can cause severe coronary heart disease, asthma, gastrointestinal and hepatic disorders, and damage to the mitochondria and DNA of blood cells, leading to carcinogenicity (ATSDR, 2012; Ray, 2016; Hu et al., 2018). Alterations in cellular DNA have been observed in many i*n vivo* and *in vitro* experiments when exposed to chromate

compounds (Hu et al., 2018; Browning and Wise, 2017), and the link between C(VI) and carcinogenesis in human cells has been clearly demonstrated (Browning and Wise, 2017).

Chromium is not recognised as an essential nutrient for plant development (Zayed and Terry, 2003; Ertani et al., 2017; Stambulska et al., 2018). Although plants take up Cr(VI) actively like other essential ions, the uptake mechanism of Cr(III) is passive (Pradas del Real et al., 2020; Peralta-Videa et al., 2009; Shahid et al., 2017). However, chromium toxicity in plants depends on the composition, concentration and distribution of different chromium species in soil and Cr(VI) perform higher toxicity on plants rather than Cr(III) species (Zayed and Terry, 2003; Hayat et al., 2012; Shahid et al., 2017). Studies on several crop plants have shown chromium disruption of photosynthesis activities by inhibiting electron transport, disrupting the activation of Calvin cycle enzymes and decreasing CO₂ fixation (Panda and Choudhury, 2005; Rocchetta and Küpper, 2009). Plants have also shown reduced water potential, elevated transpiration rate, wilting and changes in the tracheary vessel when chromium is taken up from contaminated soil (Singh et al., 2013; Shanker et al., 2005). Several studies of chromium toxicity on soybean, tomato, bush bean, sunflower, and maise plants showed that the uptake of essential elements (Mg, Fe, Ca and P) was hindered by chromium (Panda and Choudhury, 2005; Singh et al., 2013; Shanker et al., 2005).

Vegetables satisfy the major portion of the human diet, prevent diseases and are sources of major vitamins (NHS, 2018; Siegel et al., 2014; Dias and Ryder, 2011). Farmers in developing countries often irrigate their land with polluted river water (Qadir et al., 2010; Khan et al., 2008) and also grow vegetables on landfill sites for urban markets (Kamal et al., 2016). Plants can accumulate HMs from aqueous

medium and soil and in this way, heavy metals enter the food chain (Zwolak et al., 2019; Oves et al., 2012). Therefore soil and water contaminated with chromium become a major concern in food production because crop plants can and do accumulate chromium while cultivated in contaminated environments (Chen et al., 2014; Ertani et al., 2017; Khan et al., 2008).

1.3.4 Soil and Sediment Guidelines for Chromium

Traditionally arid and fertile soil has been used in agricultural practices, and generally, this soil contains low levels of HM suitable for agriculture (Ertani et al., 2017). Natural levels of HMs in soil and sediment are altered because of industrial activities and the application of excessive fertiliser/ soil amendment (He et al., 2015; Oves et al., 2012).

These elevated levels of heavy metals affect living organisms, but each heavy metal's threshold level varies between the individual element and species (ionic state)(Vardhan et al., 2019; Oves et al., 2012). Soil texture, organic matter and pH strongly affect the mobility and bioavailability of HMs (Oves et al., 2012; Sinha et al., 2018; ATSDR, 2012).

Soil quality is vital for land management in rural and urban environments. As heavy metal contamination is not only a regional problem, combined global efforts by governments, scientists and communities are required to control and mitigate the problem (Liu et al., 2018; Vardhan et al., 2019). For the purpose of controlling and mitigation of HM pollution, a common regulatory standard is required for agricultural soil and sediments.

Agency/ Guideline /Report	Chromium Species		Sed (ppr Fresh water	liment m dw) Marine/ estuarine	Soil ppm dw	References	
Canadian	Total	ISQGs	37.3	52.3			
Sediment Quality Guidelines	Chromium	PLEs	90	160	67	(CCME,	
	Cr(VI)	ΤV			2.5	2004)	
Ministry of the	Total	TV			100	(MEF,	
Environment,	Chromium	LGV	-		200 (e)	2007; Tóth	
Finland	omoniam	HGV			400 (e)	et al., 2016)	
Department of	Cr(VI)	EIL			1		
Environment	Cr(III)	EIL			400		
and		ISQGs Low		80			
The Government of Western Australia	Total Chromium	ISQGs high	370			(DOEC, 2010)	
Contaminated	Cr(VI)	Residential with home-grown produce			21		
		Residential without home- grown produce			21		
		Commercial			49		
Assessment, Environment Agency, UK		Residential with plant uptake			130	Environmen	
	Total Chromium	Residential without plant uptake			200	1, 2009)	
		Commercial and Industrial			5000		
	Cr(VI)	TV			11		
United States Environmental Protection Agency	es ntal Total Chromium	Soil level requiring clean- up			230	(USEPA, 2004)	
		BERL		81		(NOAA,	
		BERM	3	370		1999)	

Table 1.1: Soil and sediment chromium standards (ppm dry weight).

Please note: Interim sediment quality guidelines (ISQGs); Probable effect levels (PELs); Threshold value (TV); Lower guideline value (LGV); Higher guideline value (HGV); Ecological risks (e); Ecological Investigation Levels (EIL); Biological Effects Range-Low (BERL); Biological Effects Range-Median (BERM).

However, different countries set their own critical / threshold value for each contaminant on the basis of exposure, local geography, land use and HM distribution (Table 1.1).

Chapter 1

1.4 Remediation of heavy metals from contaminated sites

Methods used in the remediation of heavy metals from contaminated sites (soil) can be categorised as physical, chemical (Peng and Guo, 2020), biological (Grzegórska et al., 2020) or a combination of these techniques. Physical (e.g. soil vacuum and soil washing) and chemical (e.g. oxidation, neutralisation, and soil flushing) techniques alter the soil composition and texture and reduce the biological activities within the soil. By contrast, biological remediation processes reduce the risk associated with contamination whilst not negatively affecting overall soil quality using 'natural' biological attenuation. Soil remediation techniques can also be classified on the basis of remediation sites (e.g. ex-situ techniques and in-situ techniques). In ex-situ methods, polluted soil or sediments are transferred to other sites for decontamination of the contaminated soil or landfill, and this is one of the main causes of high remediation costs (Peng and Guo, 2020; Malaviya and Singh, 2011). By contrast, in-situ methods, for example, phytoremediation, allow decontamination to take place in on-site without excavation or translocation of the contaminated soil and sediment. In phytoremediation (in-situ method) plants act as bio-reactors in the remediation process and thus make it cheaper (Grzegórska et al., 2020; Igiri et al., 2018).

1.4.1 Physico-chemical methods of Cr removal

Precipitation, electrochemical, ion exchange, reverse osmosis and adsorption are well-known methods of the physico-chemical treatment process for the remediation of chromium, which is rapid and do not depend upon the weather, but these are not economically viable and generate noxious sludge (Peng and Guo, 2020; Pakade et al., 2019; Nur-E-Alam et al., 2020; Malaviya and Singh, 2011). Moreover, these

methods initiate more pollution load (total dissolved solids and conductivity) as secondary contamination from treated effluents and also affect soil fertility by destroying the biotic component (Sinha et al., 2018; Li et al., 2019).

1.4.2 Biological remediation

In biological remediation, microorganisms or plants are used to remove xenobiotic compounds (organic and inorganic) from the environment; the ultimate objectives of biological remediation are to restore the contaminated environment efficiently in a sustainable and economically viable way (Ashraf et al., 2019; Grzegórska et al., 2020). Various biological remediation methods (figure 1.5) have been introduced during the last two decades (Azubuike et al., 2016; Grzegórska et al., 2020). Much research has focussed on developing different biological remediation techniques; however, no single treatment method has yet been developed to decontaminate the environment because of various pollutants (Ashraf et al., 2019; Grzegórska et al., 2020).



Figure 1.5: Biological remediation methods. Modified from Azubuike et al., (2016) and Grzegórska et al., (2020).

1.4.2.1 Phytoremediation of heavy metals

The process or technology related to the removal or reduction in the toxicity of contaminants into harmless substances by utilising plants and their associated microorganisms is known as phytoremediation (Grzegórska et al., 2020; Ashraf et al., 2019; Marques et al., 2009). Organic contaminants are usually biodegradable and can be successfully attenuated by phytoremediation, but biodegradation (phytodegradation and rhizodegradation) of HM is not achievable. Thus, phytoremediation of HM can be divided into five main subcategories (Figure 06), which may function simultaneously in phytoremediation (Ranieri et al., 2020; Sinha et al., 2018); these are :

- (i) Phytoextraction removes the HM and radionuclides from the contaminated environment by accumulation in plant tissue (mostly in aerial parts) (Grzegórska et al., 2020).
- (ii) Rhizofiltration is the adsorption or deposition of pollutants onto plant roots;
 biotic or abiotic processes are involved in this process (USEPA, 2000).
- (iii) Phytosequestration: If heavy metals form complexation, precipitate or immobilise in the root and accumulate in the vacuole in the root cell; this process is known as phytosequestration (Ali et al., 2013; Ahmad et al., 2011).
- (iv) Phytostabilisation occurs when plant roots immobilise (onto roots) and precipitate (in rhizosphere) metals in soil or sediments (Wu et al., 2010).
- (v) Phytovolatilisation is limited to very few elements, such as Hg and Se, and occurs when plant leaves transform noxious substances into atmospheric volatiles. (Ali et al., 2013).

However, different Plant species react differently to individual HM and on the basis of their accumulation of HM plants can be categorised into three groups. **Excluders** are unable to accumulate or slightly accumulate HM in their tissues regardless of Chapter 1

the concentration of HM in the soil/growing medium. **Accumulators** - accumulate HM in their tissues in proportion to the HM concentration in the soil, and **hyperaccumulators** are unique to individual HM, and can accumulate HM in their tissue at higher concentrations than the soil. Brooks and Wither, (1977) first introduced the term hyperaccumulator when they observed *Rinorea bengalensis* to accumulate 17,500 ppm (dry weight) of Ni in their above-ground biomass parts and defined plants accumulating > 1000 ppm HM in their above-ground biomass as hyperaccumulators. On the other hand, van der Ent et al., (2013) proposed the criteria for defining a hyperaccumulator varies for different metals (100 ppm for Se and TI; 300 ppm for Cu, Co, and Cr; 3,000 ppm for Zn in dried plant biomass).

1.5 Phytoremediation of chromium

During the last two decades, there has been significant research to elucidate the adaptation, accumulation and uptake mechanisms of Cr(III) and Cr(VI) by plants (Wakeel and Xu, 2020; Sinha et al., 2018; Shahid et al., 2017). In recent years, an increasing amount of literature on the phytoremediation of Cr has been accomplished at the laboratory scale, usually using greenhouse-based, hydroponic cultures with a range of chromium concentrations (Srivastava et al., 2021; Das et al., 2020; Ranieri et al., 2020; Wakeel and Xu, 2020; Sinha et al., 2018) (Sinha et al., 2020; Ranieri et al., 2020; Wakeel and Xu, 2020; Sinha et al., 2018) (Sinha et al., 2018). The use of hydroponics allows for a relatively simple system focusing on rhizofiltration; however, it is important to understand the chromium removal process (phytoextraction) from contaminated soil (Wakeel and Xu, 2020; Shahid et al., 2017). Untreated chromium effluent from industries pollutes the riverbank sediment and soil; thus, identifying the phytoremediator for contaminated soil is essential.

1.5.1 Hyper-accumulators

Zhang et al., (2007) introduced Leersia hexandra as a potential Cr hyperaccumulator. In their study, Cr(VI) reduction and sequestration have been observed in hydroponic (batch) culture, and the highest bioaccumulation coefficients have been found on the leaves: 486.8 after 45 days of treatment at 60 ppm Cr(III) and bioaccumulation coefficients 72.1 after 45 days treatment at 10 ppm Cr(VI). Chromium (total) accumulated in foliage was 4868 ppm for Cr(III) treatment and 597 ppm for Cr(VI) treatment (Zhang et al., 2007). However, while grown in \geq 20 ppm of Cr(VI), a substantial decrease in foliage biomass have been observed (Zhang et al., 2007). pH is an important factor for Cr(VI) speciation and Cr(III) availability, but the author did not mention the pH of the hydroponic system. In another Cr(III) (as CrCl₃) phytoremediation study, Liu et al., (2011) applied fertiliser for the growth of Leersia hexandra and the author observed 45% growth in biomass and 26% more Cr extracted by Leersia hexandra compare to the results of plant growos without fetiliser. Finally, Leersia hexandra swartz has been considered a potential plant for phyto-extraction, especially in large-area of (low-concentration) contaminated environment (Lin et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2007).

Redondo-Gómez et al., (2011) identified *Spartina argentinensis* (Cordgrass) as a hyperaccumulator of Cr(VI) while studied in a greenhouse (batch) condition grown in an inert substrate (pearlite) for six months and allocated to six Cr(VI) treatments (0 to 20 mmol/L). Results showed that plants accumulated 15100 ppm (DW) Cr(VI) in plant tissue after 15 days with 20 mmol/L of Cr(VI).

Gardea-Torresdey et al., (2004) introduced *Convolvulus arvensis* (Bindweed) herbaceous perennial plant of the Convolvulaceae family, as a promising hyperaccumulator for Cr(VI). In his experiment, the author germinated the seeds of

Chapter 1

C. arvensis in spiked (0 and 80 ppm of Cr(VI)) agar-based nutrient mediums. The accumulated Cr in roots was about 20,000 ppm (DW) Cr(VI) and 2100 ppm (DW) Cr(VI) in foliage when allowed to grow in an agar-based nutrient medium spiked with 20 ppm Cr(VI) for two weeks. The author suggested *C. arvensis*, a hyperaccumulator for hexavalent chromium based on the accumulation at 20 ppm. *Prosopis laevigata* (smooth mesquite) also showed a high accumulation of Cr(VI) while seeds were germinated in tissue (batch) culture condition in modified Murashige–Skoog medium added with K₂Cr₂O₇ (0-353.6 ppm) at pH of 5.8 (Buendía-González et al., 2010). After 50 days, accumulation in roots reported 8090 ppm Cr(VI) (DW), and shoots contained 5461 ppm (DW) Cr(VI). However, the translocation factor of chromium was calculated below 0.7 but due to high accumulation in root author suggested *Prosopis laevigata* as a hyperaccumulator (Buendía-González et al., 2010).

1.5.2 Plant Selection for Phyto-extraction

The plants recognised as suitable for accumulation of HM, while it accumulates high concentrations (> 1000 ppm) of HM on its aerial (above soil biomass) part or low accumulation of HM with high biomass (growth rate) (Varun et al., 2017; USEPA, 2000; Ali et al., 2013). Besides this, many factors have been identified which control the phytoremediation potentiality of a plant. After horizon scanning with literature, the following characteristics need to be considered before selecting a plant species for phyto-extraction study.

- High yield and more arial part biomass.
- Well-distributed root system.
- Higher accumulation of HM (targeted) from contaminated environment.

- Capacity to grow in higher level of selected contaminants.
- Well adapted to local (where phytoremediation is needed) weather.
- Have higher resistance to plant pathogens and insects.
- Less effort on cultivation and harvesting after phytoremediation.
- Nonedible to humans and animal helps to prevent food adulteration.

1.6 Factors Affecting Phytoremediation of Chromium

There are various factors that affect the phytoremediation of chromium from contaminated soil. Some are endogenic (plant characteristics) and some are exogenic (media or environment) factors. The major exogenic factors are discussed below.

1.6.1 pH

It has been extensively reported that the speciation of chromium changes with pH (Figure 2). Cr(VI) is available in nature at a wide range of pH but especially as chromate in a basic medium (CrO_4^{2-}) and dichromate in an acidic medium ($Cr_2O_7^{2-}$) (Shewary and Peterson, 1976; Xu et al., 2020).

Previous research has shown changing pH from 3 to pH 6.7 showed higher (1.5 times) accumulation of Cr(VI) while barley seedlings in hydroponic culture (Shewary and Peterson, 1976). Cary et al. (1977) studied changes in pH from 5.0 to 8.0 while grown in Cr(VI) by wheat (Cary et al., 1977) and observed an increase in uptake as pH increased from 5.0 to 6.0, but they observed a decrease in Cr(VI) uptake from pH 6.0 to 8.0. These studies indicate that pH significantly impacts Cr(VI) uptake by plants.
1.6.2 Soil organic matter and root exudates

Oxidation states and mobility of chromium in soil are affected by soil organic matter (Alyazouri et al., 2020; Hayat et al., 2012; Choppala et al., 2018). The degraded organic matter and root exudates produce dissolved organic carbon (DOC) and low molecular weight organic acids (LMWOAs) (e.g. citric, oxalic acid, salicylic acids), which lowers the pH of soil. These DOC and LMWOAs convert Cr(VI) to the less bioavailable form Cr(III) (Chiu et al., 2009; Farid et al., 2017; Jean et al., 2008), but in contrast, the formation of the oxidised chelating ligands (LMWOAs from root exudates) form complexes with Cr(III), making them bioavailable (Hayat et al., 2012).

For example, Srivastava et al., (1999) studied *Lycopercicum esculentum* under Cr(III) stress condition and observed that accumulation of Cr(III) was enhanced in roots by carboxylic acid and amino acids (root exudates). In addition, researchers have found that due to its cationic nature, Cr(III) is chelated by LMWOAs (form root exudates) and then precipitated within the rhizosphere (Mishra and Tripathi, 2009; Suñe et al., 2007).

In summary, many studies have suggested that organic matter has the capacity to reduce Cr(VI) to Cr(III), which is less toxic to plants. By contrast, soil organic acids (LMWOAs) make Cr(VI) more bioavailable to plants. Therefore, measuring the amount of organic matter and DOM (dissolved organic matter) in contaminated soil before and during the phytoremediation is essential.

1.6.3 Effect of Chelating Agents

Chelating agents (e.g., ethylenediaminetetra-acetic acid and citric acid) can increase the solubility of HM in soils ((Evangelou et al., 2007)) and have also been

applied in phytoremediation studies to increase the accumulation of HM by plants (Ram et al., 2019; Mahmood-ul-Hassan et al., 2017; Farid et al., 2017).

In a study, *Ipomonea aquatic* (water spinach) was exposed to Cr(III) with or without EDTA (ethylenediaminetetra-acetic) at pH 6 under hydroponic conditions. The addition of EDTA improved the Cr(III) accumulation in roots by forming Cr-EDTA complexation, but these complexes hindered the translocation of Cr(III) from root to shoot (Chen et al., 2010).

Jean et al., (2008) investigated the phytoremediation efficiency of *Datura innoxia* for Cr(III) uptake from industrial-contaminated soil with the aid of EDTA and citric acid. The study results showed that citric acid was more effective than EDTA with a 2 and 3.5 x increase in translocation factor (TF) compared to the control (Jean et al., 2008).

The effect of natural low-molecular-weight organic acids (LMWOAs) and EDTA on Cr phytoextraction (soil containing 3100 ppm of Cr(III)) have been studied with *Brassica juncea,* and the author recommended LMWOAs over synthetic chelators (SC) because SC reduces plant shoot biomass and is not suitable for the environment (Hsiao et al., 2007).

Hybrid Napier grass (*Pennisetum americanus* L. × *Pennisetum purpureum* Schumach) was grown in soil with different concentrations of Cr(VI) (0, 20, 40, and 60 ppm) with and without EDTA (4mM) (Ram et al., 2019). The bio-accumulation factor (BAF) and translocation factor (TF) of Cr(VI) in plants increased with higher Cr(VI) concentration. EDTA increased the Cr(VI) accumulation in the root; however, due to total chromium being measured rather than Cr(VI), it was not possible to determine whether EDTA affected the speciation and uptake of Cr (Ram et al., 2019).

Page 21

The effects of EDTA on the accumulation and translocation of two forms of chromium on *Salix matsudana* (hybrid willow) plants and *Salix babylonica* (weeping willow) plants were investigated by Yu and Gu, (2008) in a hydroponic system (at $24.0 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C) spiked with either potassium chromate (Cr(VI)) or chromium chloride (Cr(III)). Under control conditions with EDTA, uptake of Cr(III) was 3x higher than Cr(VI) in both willow species, but there was an insignificant translocation factor recorded for both Cr(III) and Cr(VI). However, researchers also reported that weeping willow with EDTA did not increase the uptake of Cr(VI) but showed elevated translocation of Cr(VI), although both plants were from the same genus (Yu and Gu, 2008).

In summary, it is difficult to come to a definitive conclusion regarding the role of chelating agents in the phytoremediation of Cr(VI), as the amount and types of chelating agents required for phytoremediation vary from species to species.

1.6.4 Effect of Sulfur

Sulfur (S) plays a vital role not only in animal nutrition but also in plant growth, and it also helps plants to assimilate N (e.g., as ferredoxins), which are essential for plant growth (Ihsan et al., 2019; Hawkesford, 2000; Resurreccion et al., 2001). Plants uptake chromium via a sulphate transport mechanism by the addition of adequate sulfur also helps to manage Cr-induced plant stress (Kulczycki and Sacała, 2020; Alyazouri et al., 2020; Sardella et al., 2019; Holland and Avery, 2011). Alyazouri et al., (2020) irrigated *Portulaca oleracea* (purslane) with sulfate (300–600 ppm) and observed higher chromium uptake (compared to control) due to the activation of sulfate transporters in the root and while irrigated with sulphate (> 600 ppm), sulphate transporters in the root were saturated with sulphate anion, and a

reduction in the Cr(VI) uptake in the root was recorded (Alyazouri et al., 2020). Previous research has shown that Cr (as chromate) uptake by duckweeds (Spirodela polyrhiza and Lemna minor) was affected by sulphate, with Cr uptake increased at a low level of sulphates (1.25 ppm) but prevented at \geq 960 ppm (high concentration) (Appenroth et al., 2008). These studies suggested that at high concentrations of sulphates, the bonding capacity of the sulphate transporters in roots was exceeded, with preferential binding of S over Cr (Appenroth et al., 2008). In another study, Pteris vittata improved its accumulation of Cr in the root by 1.3 -7.8 times under moderate concentrations (~125–250 ppm) of sulphate in the growth medium, but no significant translocation was observed from root to fronds (de Oliveira et al., 2016; De Oliveira et al., 2014). The plant cell membrane contains the sulfate transport gene (e.g., SHST1) (Lindblom et al., 2006). Lindblom et al., (2006), genetically modified by the initiation of SHST1 gene in Brassica juncea (Indian mustard) (common hyper-accumulator) and observed higher accumulation in the root (46.5%) and in shoots (66%) compared to control in a hydroponic system containing 5ppm of Cr(VI) (as potassium chromate). However, compared to Cr(III) transportation and uptake, Cr(VI) transportation and uptake is metabolically driven with plant cellular sulphate transporters because of the resemblance in geometry, charge and size of both sulphate and chromate ion (Schiavon et al., 2008; Appenroth et al., 2008; Holland and Avery, 2011).

In early studies, researchers considered sulphate as a strong inhibitor of Cr(VI) uptake (Shewary and Peterson, 1976; Kleiman and Cogliatti, 1997). By contrast, in recent studies, the uptake of chromium has been shown to be enhanced by low concentrations of sulphates in growth media and reduced at high concentrations (Kulczycki and Sacała, 2020; Alyazouri et al., 2020; Sardella et al., 2019; Holland

and Avery, 2011). However, the application of sulfur in plants' phytoremediation study of Cr(VI) is still poorly known. Thus, understanding the sulphate-chromate interaction before phytoremediation for individual plant species is essential.

1.6.5 Effect of rhizobia legume symbiosis

Soil supports uncountable microorganisms, and among them, plant-growthpromoting bacteria (PGPB) accelerate plant growth and development and also help plants to cope with numerous biotic and abiotic (e.g., HM) stresses (Ahemad, 2015; Fagorzi et al., 2018). By contrast, PGPB enhances the Cr uptake capacity of plants and the phyto-availability of Cr in soil by generating several primary and secondary metabolites (e.g., siderophores and organic acids) (Braud et al., 2009; Fagorzi et al., 2018; Dimkpa et al., 2009). In addition, the bioavailability of Cr also increases in the presence of bio-surfactants released by bacteria in soil because it drains the strongly bonded metal from the soil (Gnanamani et al., 2010; Sheng et al., 2008). Din et al., (2020) studied the effects of Bacillus xiamenensis PM14 on Sesbania sesban grown in Cr-contaminated soil and observed double positive effects. The inoculant (*B. xiamenensis*) improved plant growth under Cr stress and increased Cr accumulation compared to the uninoculated plant. In addition, Jobby et al., (2019) observed Cr(VI) resistant Sinorhizobium sp. SAR1 bacteria could transform Cr(VI) in the bacterial cell wall to Cr(III). In summary, PGPB in legume plants produces numerous primary and secondary metabolites, which increase the bioavailability of Cr in soils and enhance the accumulation rate of Cr in the plant (Stambulska et al., 2018; Ahemad, 2015). However, the accumulation of chromium varies with species of plant and rhizobacterium.

1.7 Sesbania cannabina (Retz.) Poir.

Dhaincha (local name in Bangladesh) (Sesbania spp.) belongs to the family Leguminosae (sub-family Papilionoideae). *S. cannabina* is used as a green manure crop because of its high growth, is readily decomposed (requires less water), increases total carbon and nitrogen in the soil, and controls soil erosion (Sarwar et al., 2015; Ahmed et al., 2009).



Figure 1.6: Sesbania cannabina (Retz.) Poir. in laboratory condition.

It can be found in areas with a semi-arid to sub-humid climate, with rainfall between 500 and 2000 mm per year and a temperature of 18–23°C. Because of its tolerance to low temperatures, *S. cannabina* can grow at high altitudes (100 m to 2300 m), and it can also grow in waterlogged, flooded, saline, acidic, and alkaline soils. (Degefu et al., 2011; Sarwar et al., 2015; Chavan and Karadge, 1986).

As discussed in section 1.5.2, *S. cannabina* might be an ideal candidate for phytoremediation of chromium-contaminated soil.

1.7.1 Phytoremediation of HM by species of Sesbania genus.

The phytoremediation potential of several species of the Sesbania Genus for different HM has been studied. Chromium toxicity on Sesbania sesban (L.) Merr has been studied, and the inhibitory effect was witnessed with increasing levels of Cr compared to the control, but less effect was observed in germination percentages (Bakiyaraj et al., 2014). Patra et al., (2020) studied the phytoremediation potential between Sesbania sesban L. and Brachiaria mutica and found S. sesban has higher bioaccumulation and tolerance capacity while grown in chromium-contaminated soil (92.5 ppm Cr). In another study, the researcher found in Sesbania sesban that if the Cadmium concentrations in the soil exceeded 1.00 g /kg, cadmium caused the reduction of morpho-physiological (low biomass, low height) parameters in treated plants rather than control plant (Soundararajan and Veeraiyan, 2014). Varun et al., (2017) suggested Sesbania sesban (L.) as a potential candidate for phytoremediation of Cd from polluted soil, and in this experiment highest accumulation have been observed in roots (86.7 \pm 6.3 ppm), stem (18.59 \pm 1.9 ppm), and leaf (3.16 \pm 1.1 ppm) while grown in 300ppm Cd dosed soil.

Sesbania exaltata was relatively tolerant of lead (McComb et al., 2012), and Sesbania drummondii was considered a hyperaccumulator of lead (Pb) under hydroponic culture in greenhouse conditions (Barlow et al., 2000). In another study, Sesbania cannabina showed a high accumulation of different HM while allowed to grow on various amounts of fly ash-containing soil, and the highest accumulation of Iron (Fe) was observed in plant tissue (Sinha and Gupta, 2005).

1.8 Summary and Gap of the chromium phytoremediation studies:

The plant toxicity of Cr(III) is very low compared to Cr(VI) (Sinha et al., 2018; Pradas del Real et al., 2020); however, some phytoremediation studies were conducted only on Cr(III) (Raimondi et al., 2020; Barbosa et al., 2007; Coelho et al., 2017; Mant et al., 2005) and authors incorrectly made a conclusion that these plants were able to remove chromium (Cr(III) and Cr(VI)) from contaminated land. It is crucial to understand the effect of Cr speciation (e,g. Cr(III) or Cr(VI)) on phytoremediation potential, but in some studies, a mix of Cr(III) and Cr(VI) contaminated soil or wastewater (mostly from tannery effluents) were used (Khilji and Firdaus-e-Bareen, 2008; Vymazal et al., 2007; Patra et al., 2020). Again, these studies incorrectly reported Cr accumulation in plant tissue, soil or wastewater. In other studies, researchers have applied an unrealistically low concentration of Cr(VI) (\leq 10 ppm) (Karimi, 2013; Kale et al., 2015; Vymazal et al., 2007; Choo et al., 2006).

Most of the phytoremediation research has been designed using hydroponic systems because hydroponic systems (rhizofiltration) are more controllable experiments than others (Augustynowicz et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2007; Uysal, 2013). However, results must be applied to the environment with caution; plants that demonstrate accumulation of Cr(VI) in hydroponic systems need to also be tested in contaminated soil. Some studies use a nutrient medium (agar-based), Murashige–skoog medium or inert substrate (pearlite) instead of soil or hydroponic systems (plant grown in water-based nutrient solution) in their research and present the plant as a potential hyperaccumulator, ignoring the effects of heterogenous growing medium (Buendía-González et al., 2010; Gardea-Torresdey et al., 2005; Redondo-Gómez et al., 2011).

It is well-established that pH and soil organic matter substantially affect chromium speciation (figure 1.5), but many Cr phytoremediation studies fail to mention the effects of pH and soil organic matter (Zhang et al., 2007; Patra et al., 2020). Sulfur (as sulfate) acts as a competitive nutrient, and the gene (SHST1) responsible of the uptake of S also competes with Cr. This competition is plant species and concentration-dependent and needs further investigation (Chotchutima et al., 2016; Alyazouri et al., 2020; Kulczycki and Sacała, 2020). In recent studies, chelating agents (e.g. EDTA) have been applied to increase the removal efficiency of chromium by plants, but this mechanism is restricted to the chelation of Cr(III) by EDTA (Adiloğlu and Göker, 2020; Jean et al., 2008; Revathi and Subhashree, 2019).

1.9 Aim and Objectives

This study aims to assess the phytoremediation potential of *Sesbania cannabina* for removing Cr(VI) from the soil with contamination typical for Bangladesh.

To achieve this aim the following objectives are made:

- To identify and assess the extent of Cr contamination in riverbank sediments of the Buriganga and Dhaleshwari river of Bangladesh.
- 2. To determine the effect of Cr(VI) on seed germination of S. cannabina.
- To observe the root growth while subjected to different concentrations of Cr(VI) in soil.
- To determine the effect of Cr(VI) concentration on the uptake of chromium by S. cannabina in soil and determine its potential as an accumulator or species capable of phyto-sequestration.

1.10 Outline of the Thesis

This thesis is divided into 7 chapters, a brief summary of each chapter is provided below :

Chapter 2

Subtitle : An assessment of distribution and concentrations of total chromium, chromium (VI) and lead (Pb) in river sediments during the dry season after the relocation of the tannery industries from the Buriganga to the Dhaleshwari Rivers in Bangladesh.

This section of the study aims to assess Cr (total), Cr(VI) and lead (Pb) concentration in the riverbank sediment of the Dhaleshwari with a comparison of the Buriganga river because the government are shifting the tannery industries from the bank of the Buriganga to the bank of the Dhaleshwari river. We collected sediment samples in the winter of 2019 and 2021.

Chapter 3

Subtitle: Optimisation of seed germination and seedling emergence of *Sesbania cannabina* (Retz.) Poir.

This study aims to optimise the condition for seed germination and seedling emergence of Sesbania cannabina for a phytoremediation study. In this experiment, seed germination was carried out using two growth media: Murashige and Skoog basal medium (MS); and Whatman Grad 1 filter paper (FP), using the top of media or top of the paper method under three different photoperiods.

Chapter 4

Subtitle: Effect of hexavalent chromium on seed germination and root development of *Sesbania cannabina* (Retz.) Poir. in two different growth media.

This study aims to determine whether S. cannabina can be grown from seed under hexavalent chromium-stressed conditions to establish this species as a tool for phytoremediation. In this experiment, toxicity testing of hexavalent chromium (K₂Cr₂O₇) on seed germination was carried out using two growth media: Murashige and Skoog basal medium (MS); and Whatman Grade 1 filter paper (FP) spiked with different concentration of Cr(VI), by the top of media or top of paper method respectively.

Chapter 5

Subtitle: Evaluation of the root system of *Sesbania cannabina* grown in hexavalent chromium contaminated soils by utilising modified rhizobox systems.

This study aimed to assess how the root system of Sesbania cannabina behaves under various concentrations of Cr(VI) and whether it could be a suitable species for the phytoremediation of Cr(VI) contaminated soils. The experiment was conducted in rhizoboxes under greenhouse conditions using a sandy loam soil dosed with potassium dichromate giving eight different Cr(VI) concentrations (0 ppm, 5 ppm, 10 ppm, 20 ppm, 40 ppm, 80 ppm, 160 ppm, and 360 ppm). Plant roots were photographed with a Canon 60D (18-megapixel) camera with a 50 mm prime lens and analysed with Image J image processing software.

Chapter 6

Subtitle: An assessment of the phytoremediation potential of *Sesbania cannabina* grown in hexavalent chromium contaminated soil.

In this study section, we have discussed about the Cr(VI) phytoremediation capacity *S. cannabina*. To assess the growth, tolerance, and phytoremediation ability of *S.*

Page 30

cannabina, a pot experiment was conducted under greenhouse conditions (simulated tropical conditions), and *S. cannabina was* grown in Cr(VI) spiked soil.

Chapter 7

Conclusion

This section summarises the main findings and recommends further study on

Sesbania cannabina for phytoremediation and other applications.

1.11 References

- Adiloğlu, S. and Göker, M. (2020) Phytoremediation: elimination of hexavalent chromium heavy metal using corn (Zea mays L.). *Cereal Research Communications*, (0123456789). doi:10.1007/s42976-020-00070-9.
- Ahemad, M. (2015) Enhancing phytoremediation of chromium-stressed soils through plant-growth-promoting bacteria. *Journal of Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology*, 13 (1): 51–58. doi:10.1016/j.jgeb.2015.02.001.
- Ahmad, A., Ghufran, R. and Zularisam, A.W. (2011) Phytosequestration of metals in selected plants growing on a contaminated Okhla Industrial Areas, Okhla, New Delhi, India. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution*, 217 (1–4): 255–266. doi:10.1007/s11270-010-0584-9.
- Ahmed, Z.U., Hassan, M.A., Begum, Z.N.T., et al. (2009) Angiosperms: Dicotyledons (Fabaceae–Lythraceae). *Encyclopedia of Flora and Fauna of Bangladesh, Vol. 8.* p. 1–474.
- Ali, H., Khan, E. and Sajad, M.A. (2013) Phytoremediation of heavy metals-Concepts and applications. *Chemosphere*, 91 (7): 869–881. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2013.01.075.
- ALS Environment (2009) *Heavy Metal Guidelines in Soil Assessment of Potentially Toxic Elements.*, p. 1. Available at: https://www.alsenvironmental.co.uk/media-uk/pdf/datasheets/contaminatedland/als_cl_heavy-metals-guidelines-in-soil_uk_feb_17_v2.pdf.
- Alyazouri, A., Jewsbury, R., Tayim, H., et al. (2020) Uptake of chromium by Portulaca Oleracea from soil: effects of organic Content, pH, and sulphate concentration. *Applied and Environmental Soil Science*, 2020 (Vi). doi:10.1155/2020/3620726.
- Anderson, R.A. (2003) Chromium and insulin resistance. *Nutrition Research Reviews*, 16 (2): 267–275. doi:10.1079/nrr200366.

- Appenroth, K.J., Luther, A., Jetschke, G., et al. (2008) Modification of chromate toxicity by sulphate in duckweeds (Lemnaceae). *Aquatic Toxicology*, 89 (3): 167–171. doi:10.1016/j.aquatox.2008.06.012.
- Ashraf, S., Ali, Q., Zahir, Z.A., et al. (2019) Phytoremediation: Environmentally sustainable way for reclamation of heavy metal polluted soils. *Ecotoxicology* and Environmental Safety, 174 (March): 714–727. doi:10.1016/j.ecoenv.2019.02.068.
- ATSDR (2012) Public Health Statement: Chromium. *Public Health Service*, (September): 1–9. Available at: www.atsdr.cdc.gov/.
- Augustynowicz, J., Grosicki, M., Hanus-Fajerska, E., et al. (2010) Chromium(VI) bioremediation by aquatic macrophyte Callitriche cophocarpa Sendtn. *Chemosphere*, 79 (11): 1077–1083. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2010.03.019.
- Azubuike, C.C., Chikere, C.B. and Okpokwasili, G.C. (2016) Bioremediation techniques–classification based on site of application: principles, advantages, limitations and prospects. *World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 32 (11): 1–18. doi:10.1007/s11274-016-2137-x.
- Bakiyaraj, R., Mahakavi, T. and Baskaran, L. (2014) Chromium toxicity in Sesbania sesban (L.) Merr. *International Letters of Natural Sciences*, 4: 66–75.
- Bandara, P.C., Peña-Bahamonde, J. and Rodrigues, D.F. (2020) Redox mechanisms of conversion of Cr(VI) to Cr(III) by graphene oxide-polymer composite. *Scientific Reports*, 10 (1): 1–8. doi:10.1038/s41598-020-65534-8.
- Barbosa, R.M.T., de Almeida, A.A.F., Mielke, M.S., et al. (2007) A physiological analysis of Genipa americana L.: A potential phytoremediator tree for chromium polluted watersheds. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, 61 (3): 264–271. doi:10.1016/j.envexpbot.2007.06.001.
- Barlow, R., Bryant, N., Andersland, J., et al. (2000) "Lead hyperaccumulation by Sesbania drummondii." In *Proceedings of the 2000 Conference on Hazardous Waste Research*. 2000. pp. 112–114.
- Becquer, T., Quantin, C., Sicot, M., et al. (2003) Chromium availability in ultramafic soils from New Caledonia. *Science of the Total Environment*, 301 (1–3): 251– 261. doi:10.1016/S0048-9697(02)00298-X.
- Behrouz, V., Dastkhosh, A. and Sohrab, G. (2020) Overview of dietary supplements on patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes and Metabolic Syndrome: Clinical Research and Reviews*, 14 (4): 325–334. doi:10.1016/j.dsx.2020.03.019.
- Bhuiyan, M.A.H., Dampare, S.B., Islam, M.A., et al. (2015) Source apportionment and pollution evaluation of heavy metals in water and sediments of Buriganga River, Bangladesh, using multivariate analysis and pollution evaluation indices. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 187 (1). doi:10.1007/s10661-014-4075-0.
- Braud, A., Jézéquel, K., Bazot, S., et al. (2009) Enhanced phytoextraction of an agricultural Cr- and Pb-contaminated soil by bioaugmentation with siderophore-producing bacteria. *Chemosphere*, 74 (2): 280–286. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2008.09.013.

- Brooks, R.R. and Wither, E.D. (1977) Nickel accumulation by Rinorea bengalensis (Wall.) O.K. *Journal of Geochemical Exploration*, 7 (C): 295–300. doi:10.1016/0375-6742(77)90085-1.
- Browning, C.L. and Wise, J.P. (2017) Prolonged exposure to particulate chromate inhibits RAD51 nuclear import mediator proteins. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 331: 101–107. doi:10.1016/j.taap.2017.05.030.
- Buendía-González, L., Orozco-Villafuerte, J., Cruz-Sosa, F., et al. (2010) Prosopis laevigata a potential chromium (VI) and cadmium (II) hyperaccumulator desert plant. *Bioresource Technology*, 101: 5862–5867. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2010.03.027.
- Cary, E.E., Allaway, W.H. and Olson, O.E. (1977) Control of Chromium Concentrations in Food Plants. 1. Absorption and Translocation of Chromium by Plants. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 25 (2): 300–304. doi:10.1021/jf60210a048.
- CCME (1999) Canadian Sediment Quality Guidelines for the Protection of Aquatic Life: Chromium. Available at: ceqg-rcqe.ccme.ca/download/en/226/.
- Chavan, D.P. and Karadge, B.A. (1986) Growth , mineral nutrition , organic constituents and rate of photosynthesis in Sesbania grandiflora L. grown under saline conditions. *Plant and Soil*, 93: 395–404.
- Chen, H., Arocena, J.M., Li, J., et al. (2014) Assessments of chromium (and other metals) in vegetables and potential bio-accumulations in humans living in areas affected by tannery wastes. *Chemosphere*, 112: 412–419. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2014.04.091.
- Chen, J.C., Wang, K.S., Chen, H., et al. (2010) Phytoremediation of Cr(III) by Ipomonea aquatica (water spinach) from water in the presence of EDTA and chloride: Effects of Cr speciation. *Bioresource Technology*, 101 (9): 3033– 3039. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2009.12.041.
- Chiu, C.C., Cheng, C.J., Lin, T.H., et al. (2009) The effectiveness of four organic matter amendments for decreasing resin-extractable Cr(VI) in Cr(VI)contaminated soils. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 161 (2–3): 1239–1244. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2008.04.081.
- Choo, T.P., Lee, C.K., Low, K.S., et al. (2006) Accumulation of chromium (VI) from aqueous solutions using water lilies (Nymphaea spontanea). *Chemosphere*, 62 (6): 961–967. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2005.05.052.
- Choppala, G., Kunhikrishnan, A., Seshadri, B., et al. (2018) Comparative sorption of chromium species as influenced by pH, surface charge and organic matter content in contaminated soils. *Journal of Geochemical Exploration*, 184: 255– 260. doi:10.1016/j.gexplo.2016.07.012.
- Chotchutima, S., Tudsri, S., Kangvansaichol, K., et al. (2016) Effects of sulfur and phosphorus application on the growth, biomass yield and fuel properties of leucaena (Leucaena leucocephala (Lam.) de Wit.) as bioenergy crop on sandy infertile soil. Agriculture and Natural Resources, 50 (1): 54–59. doi:10.1016/j.anres.2015.09.002.

Coelho, L.C., Bastos, A.R.R., Pinho, P.J., et al. (2017) Marigold (Tagetes erecta):

The Potential Value in the Phytoremediation of Chromium. *Pedosphere*, 27 (3): 559–568. doi:10.1016/S1002-0160(17)60351-5.

- Das, P.K., Das, B.P. and Dash, P. (2020) Chromite mining pollution, environmental impact, toxicity and phytoremediation: a review. *Environmental Chemistry Letters*, (Vi). doi:10.1007/s10311-020-01102-w.
- Degefu, T., Wolde-meskel, E. and Frostegård, Å. (2011) Multilocus sequence analyses reveal several unnamed Mesorhizobium genospecies nodulating Acacia species and Sesbania sesban trees in Southern regions of Ethiopia. *Systematic and Applied Microbiology*, 34 (3): 216–226. doi:10.1016/j.syapm.2010.09.006.
- Dias, J. and Ryder, E. (2011) World Vegetable Industry: Production, Breeding, Trends. *Horticultural reviews*, 38: 299–356.
- Dimkpa, C.O., Merten, D., Svatoš, A., et al. (2009) Metal-induced oxidative stress impacting plant growth in contaminated soil is alleviated by microbial siderophores. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 41 (1): 154–162. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2008.10.010.
- Din, B.U., Amna, Rafique, M., et al. (2020) Assisted phytoremediation of chromium spiked soils by Sesbania Sesban in association with Bacillus xiamenensis PM14: A biochemical analysis. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry*, 146 (June 2019): 249–258. doi:10.1016/j.plaphy.2019.11.010.
- DoE (2013) River Water Quality Report 2012. Dhaka.
- DoE (2014) River Water Quality Report 2013. Dhaka. Available at: http://doe.portal.gov.bd/sites/default/files/files/doe.portal.gov.bd/publications/ 03f7cbf4_caae_41ef_9014_5646cb2c66b4/River Water Quality Report 2013.pdf.
- DoE (2015) Water Quality Report 2014. Dhaka. Available at: http://doe.portal.gov.bd/sites/default/files/files/doe.portal.gov.bd/publications/ 53bdd241_6208_4848_95ff_4cca3e059033/Water Quality Report 2014 (3).pdf.
- DoE (2017) Surface and Ground Water Quality Report 2016. Dhaka. Available at: http://doe.portal.gov.bd/sites/default/files/files/doe.portal.gov.bd/publications/ d5bb5df3_3e3e_40f9_bdd3_9a72d29c16b5/Surface and Ground Water Quality Report 2016-.pdf.
- DoEC (2010) Assessment levels for Soil, Sediment and Water (A Contaminated Sites Management Series). Available at: www.dec.wa.gov.au/contaminatedsites.
- van der Ent, A., Baker, A.J.M., Reeves, R.D., et al. (2013) Hyperaccumulators of metal and metalloid trace elements: Facts and fiction. *Plant and Soil*, 362 (1–2): 319–334. doi:10.1007/s11104-012-1287-3.
- EPA, U. (2012) Water: Monitoring and Assessment, 5.9 Conductivity. Available at: https://archive.epa.gov/water/archive/web/html/vms59.html (Accessed: 29 November 2018).
- Ertani, A., Mietto, A., Borin, M., et al. (2017) Chromium in Agricultural Soils and

Crops: A Review. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution*, 228 (5). doi:10.1007/s11270-017-3356-y.

- Evangelou, M.W.H., Ebel, M. and Schaeffer, A. (2007) Chelate assisted phytoextraction of heavy metals from soil. Effect, mechanism, toxicity, and fate of chelating agents. *Chemosphere*, 68 (6): 989–1003. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2007.01.062.
- Fagorzi, C., Checcucci, A., Dicenzo, G.C., et al. (2018) Harnessing rhizobia to improve heavy-metal phytoremediation by legumes. *Genes*, 9 (11). doi:10.3390/genes9110542.
- Farid, M., Ali, S., Rizwan, M., et al. (2017) Citric acid assisted phytoextraction of chromium by sunflower; morpho-physiological and biochemical alterations in plants. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 145 (April): 90–102. doi:10.1016/j.ecoenv.2017.07.016.
- Fendorf, S., Wielinga, B.W. and Hansel, C.M. (2000) Chromium transformations in natural environments: The role of biological and abiological processes in chromium(vi) reduction. *International Geology Review*, 42 (8): 691–701. doi:10.1080/00206810009465107.
- Gardea-Torresdey, J.L., De La Rosa, G., Peralta-Videa, J.R., et al. (2005) Differential uptake and transport of trivalent and hexavalent chromium by tumbleweed (Salsola kali). *Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, 48 (2): 225–232. doi:10.1007/s00244-003-0162-x.
- Gardea-Torresdey, J.L., Peralta-Videa, J.R., Montes, M., et al. (2004)
 Bioaccumulation of cadmium, chromium and copper by Convolvulus arvensis
 L.: Impact on plant growth and uptake of nutritional elements. *Bioresource Technology*, 92 (3): 229–235. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2003.10.002.
- Gnanamani, A., Kavitha, V., Radhakrishnan, N., et al. (2010) Microbial products (biosurfactant and extracellular chromate reductase) of marine microorganism are the potential agents reduce the oxidative stress induced by toxic heavy metals. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces*, 79 (2): 334–339. doi:10.1016/j.colsurfb.2010.04.007.
- Grzegórska, A., Rybarczyk, P., Rogala, A., et al. (2020) Phytoremediation From Environment Cleaning to Energy Generation — Current Status and Future Perspectives. *Energies*, 13 (2905).
- Hawkesford, M.J. (2000) Plant responses to sulphur deficiency and the genetic manipulation of sulphate transporters to improve S-utilization efficiency. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 51 (342): 131–138. doi:10.1093/jxb/51.342.131.
- Hayat, S., Khalique, G., Irfan, M., et al. (2012) Physiological changes induced by chromium stress in plants: An overview. *Protoplasma*, 249 (3): 599–611. doi:10.1007/s00709-011-0331-0.
- He, Z., Shentu, Yang, X., et al. (2015) Heavy metal contamination of soils: sources, indicators, and assessment. *Journal of Environmental Indicators*, 9: 17–18.
- Holland, S.L. and Avery, S. V. (2011) Chromate toxicity and the role of sulfur. *Metallomics*, 3 (11): 1119–1123. doi:10.1039/c1mt00059d.

- Hsiao, K.H., Kao, P.H. and Hseu, Z.Y. (2007) Effects of chelators on chromium and nickel uptake by Brassica juncea on serpentine-mine tailings for phytoextraction. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 148 (1–2): 366–376. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2007.02.049.
- Hu, G., Li, P., Cui, X., et al. (2018) Cr(VI)-induced methylation and down-regulation of DNA repair genes and its association with markers of genetic damage in workers and 16HBE cells. *Environmental Pollution*, 238: 833–843. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2018.03.046.
- Hu, L., Cai, Y. and Jiang, G. (2016) Occurrence and speciation of polymeric chromium(III), monomeric chromium(III) and chromium(VI) in environmental samples. *Chemosphere*, 156: 14–20. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2016.04.100.
- Igiri, B.E., Okoduwa, S.I.R., Idoko, G.O., et al. (2018) Toxicity and Bioremediation of Heavy Metals Contaminated Ecosystem from Tannery Wastewater: A Review. *Journal of Toxicology*, 2018. doi:10.1155/2018/2568038.
- Ihsan, M.Z., Daur, I., Alghabari, F., et al. (2019) Heat stress and plant development: role of sulphur metabolites and management strategies. Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica Section B: Soil and Plant Science, 69 (4): 332–342. doi:10.1080/09064710.2019.1569715.
- Islam, M., Uddin, M., Tareq, S., et al. (2015) Alteration of water pollution level with the seasonal changes in mean daily discharge in three main rivers around Dhaka city, Bangladesh. *Environments*, 2 (3): 280–294. doi:10.3390/environments2030280.
- Islam, M.S., Han, S., Ahmed, M.K., et al. (2014) Assessment of Trace Metal Contamination in Water and Sediment of Some Rivers in Bangladesh. *Journal* of Water and Environment Technology, 12 (2): 109–121. doi:10.2965/jwet.2014.109.
- Islam, M.S., Hossain, M.B., Matin, A., et al. (2018a) Assessment of heavy metal pollution, distribution and source apportionment in the sediment from Feni River estuary, Bangladesh. *Chemosphere*, 202: 25–32. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2018.03.077.
- Islam, S., Proshad, R. and Ahmed, S. (2018b) Ecological risk of heavy metals in sediment of an urban river in Bangladesh. *Human and Ecological Risk Assessment: An International Journal*, 24 (3): 699–720. doi:10.1080/10807039.2017.1397499.
- Jean, L., Bordas, F., Gautier-Moussard, C., et al. (2008) Effect of citric acid and EDTA on chromium and nickel uptake and translocation by Datura innoxia. *Environmental Pollution*, 153 (3): 555–563. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2007.09.013.
- Jeřábková, J., Tejnecký, V., Borůvka, L., et al. (2018) Chromium in anthropogenically polluted and naturally enriched soils: A review. *Scientia Agriculturae Bohemica*, 49 (4): 297–312. doi:10.2478/sab-2018-0037.
- Jobby, R., Jha, P., Gupta, A., et al. (2019) Biotransformation of chromium by root nodule bacteria Sinorhizobium sp. SAR1. *PLoS ONE*, 14 (7): 1–16. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0219387.

- Jobby, R., Jha, P., Yadav, A.K., et al. (2018) Biosorption and biotransformation of hexavalent chromium [Cr(VI)]: A comprehensive review. *Chemosphere*, 207: 255–266. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2018.05.050.
- Kale, R.A., Lokhande, V.H. and Ade, A.B. (2015) Investigation of chromium phytoremediation and tolerance capacity of a weed, Portulaca oleraceaL. in a hydroponic system. *Water and Environment Journal*, 29 (2): 236–242. doi:10.1111/wej.12106.
- Kamal, A.K.I., Islam, M.R., Hassan, M., et al. (2016) Bioaccumulation of Trace Metals in Selected Plants within Amin Bazar Landfill Site, Dhaka, Bangladesh. *Environmental Processes*, 3 (1): 179–194. doi:10.1007/s40710-016-0123-9.
- Kamal, M.M., Malmgren-Hansen, A. and Badruzzaman, A.B.M. (1999) Assessment of pollution of the river Buriganga, Bangladesh, using water quality model. *Wat. Sci. Tech*, 40 (2): 129–136.
- Karimi, N. (2013) Comparative Phytoremediation of Chromium-contaminated soils by Alfalfa (Medicago sativa) and Sorghum bicolor (L) Moench. International Journal of Scientific Research in Environmental Sciences, 1 (3): 44–49. doi:10.12983/ijsres-2013-p044-049.
- Khan, A.S. (2004) "Augmentation of dry season flows in the peripheral rivers of Dhaka for improvement of water quality and round the year navigation." In *Dresdner Wasserbauliche Mitteilungen*. 2004. pp. 237–247.
- Khan, S., Aijun, L., Zhang, S., et al. (2008) Accumulation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and heavy metals in lettuce grown in the soils contaminated with long-term wastewater irrigation. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 152 (2): 506– 515. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2007.07.014.
- Khilji, S. and Firdaus-e-Bareen (2008) Rhizofiltration of heavy metals from the tannery sludge by the anchored hydrophyte, Hydrocotyle umbellata L. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 7 (20): 3714–3720. doi:10.5897/AJB08.608.
- Kim, J.G. and Dixon, J.B. (2002) Oxidation and fate of chromium in soils. Soil Science and Plant Nutrition, 48 (4): 483–490. doi:10.1080/00380768.2002.10409230.
- Kleiman, I.D. and Cogliatti, D.H. (1997) Uptake of chromate in sulfate deprived wheat plants. *Environmental Pollution*, 97 (1–2): 131–135. doi:10.1016/S0269-7491(97)00063-8.
- Kolås, Å., Barkved, L., Bhattacharjee, J., et al. (2013) *Water Scarcity in Bangladesh*. Hausmanns gate.
- Kulczycki, G. and Sacała, E. (2020) Sulfur application alleviates chromium stress in maize and wheat. Open Chemistry, 18 (1): 1093–1104. doi:10.1515/chem-2020-0155.
- Li, C., Zhou, K., Qin, W., et al. (2019) A review on heavy metals contamination in soil: effects, sources, and remediation techniques. *Soil and Sediment Contamination*, 28 (4): 380–394. doi:10.1080/15320383.2019.1592108.
- Lin, Z., Lin, H., Wang, Y., et al. (2018) Study on the potential of hyperaccumulator leersia hexandra swartz to repair chromium contamination of heavy metals.

MATEC Web of Conferences, 175. doi:10.1051/matecconf/201817504026.

- Lindblom, S.D., Abdel-Ghany, S., Hanson, B.R., et al. (2006) Constitutive Expression of a High-Affinity Sulfate Transporter in Indian Mustard Affects Metal Tolerance and Accumulation. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 35 (3): 726–733. doi:10.2134/jeq2005.0119.
- Liu, J., Duan, C., Zhang, X., et al. (2011) Potential of Leersia hexandra Swartz for phytoextraction of Cr from soil. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 188 (1–3): 85– 91. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2011.01.066.
- Liu, L., Li, W., Song, W., et al. (2018) Remediation techniques for heavy metalcontaminated soils: principles and applicability. *Science of the Total Environment*, 633: 206–219. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.03.161.
- Mahmood-ul-Hassan, M., Suthar, V., Ahmad, R., et al. (2017) Heavy metal phytoextraction—natural and EDTA-assisted remediation of contaminated calcareous soils by sorghum and oat. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 189 (11). doi:10.1007/s10661-017-6302-y.
- Malaviya, P. and Singh, A. (2011) Physicochemical technologies for remediation of chromium-containing waters and wastewaters. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology*, 41 (12): 1111–1172. doi:10.1080/10643380903392817.
- Mant, C., Costa, S., Williams, J., et al. (2005) Studies of removal of chromium by model constructed wetland. *Brazilian Journal of Chemical Engineering*, 22 (3): 381–387. doi:10.1590/S0104-66322005000300007.
- Marques, A.P.G.C., Rangel, A.O.S.S. and Castro, P.M.L. (2009) Remediation of heavy metal contaminated soils: Phytoremediation as a potentially promising clean-Up technology. doi:10.1080/10643380701798272.
- McComb, J., Hentz, S., Miller, G.S., et al. (2012) Effects of lead on plant growth, lead accumulation and phytochelatin contents of hydroponically-grown Sesbania exaltata. *World Environment*, 2 (3): 38–43. doi:10.5923/j.env.20120203.04.
- MEF (2007) Government Decree on the Assessment of Soil Contamination and Remediation Needs. *Ministry of the Environment Finland*, p. 6.
- Mishra, V.K. and Tripathi, B.D. (2009) Accumulation of chromium and zinc from aqueous solutions using water hyacinth (Eichhornia crassipes). *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 164 (2–3): 1059–1063. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2008.09.020.
- MoE (2004) Soil , Ground Water and Sediment Standards for Use Under Part XV . 1 of the Environmental Protection Act. Ontario.
- Nargis, A., Sultana, S., Raihan, M.J., et al. (2018) Multielement analysis in sediments of the River Buriganga (Bangladesh): potential ecological risk assessment. *International Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*, 16: 1663–1676. doi:10.1007/s13762-018-1822-8.
- NHS (2018) Why 5 A Day? Eat well. Available at: https://www.nhs.uk/live-well/eatwell/why-5-a-day/ (Accessed: 12 November 2020).

- NOAA (1999) Sediment Quality Guidelines developed for the National Status and Trends Program., pp. 1–12.
- Nur-E-Alam, M., Mia, M.A.S., Ahmad, F., et al. (2020) An overview of chromium removal techniques from tannery effluent. *Applied Water Science*, 10 (9): 1– 22. doi:10.1007/s13201-020-01286-0.
- de Oliveira, L.M., Gress, J., De, J., et al. (2016) Sulfate and chromate increased each other's uptake and translocation in As-hyperaccumulator Pteris vittata. *Chemosphere*, 147: 36–43. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2015.12.088.
- De Oliveira, L.M., Ma, L.Q., Santos, J.A.G., et al. (2014) Effects of arsenate, chromate, and sulfate on arsenic and chromium uptake and translocation by arsenic hyperaccumulator Pteris vittata L. *Environmental Pollution*, 184: 187– 192. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2013.08.025.
- Oves, M., Khan, M.S., Zaidi, A., et al. (2012) "Soil Contamination, Nutritive Value, and Human Health Risk Assessment of Heavy Metals: An Overview." In Almas Zaidi, Wani, P.A. and Khan, M.S. (eds.) *Toxicity of Heavy Metals to Legumes and Bioremediation*. Springer-Verlag Wien. pp. 1–28.
- Paiva, A.N., Lima, J.G. d., Medeiros, A.C.Q. d., et al. (2015) Beneficial effects of oral chromium picolinate supplementation on glycemic control in patients with type 2 diabetes: A randomized clinical study. *Journal of Trace Elements in Medicine and Biology*, 32: 66–72. doi:10.1016/j.jtemb.2015.05.006.
- Pakade, V.E., Tavengwa, N.T. and Madikizela, L.M. (2019) Recent advances in hexavalent chromium removal from aqueous solutions by adsorptive methods. *RSC Advances*, 9 (45): 26142–26164. doi:10.1039/c9ra05188k.
- Palmer, C.D. and Wittbrodt, P.R. (1991) Processes Affecting the Remediation of Chromium-Contaminated Sites. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 92 (6): 25. doi:10.2307/3431134.
- Panda, S.K. and Choudhury, S. (2005) Chromium stress in plants. *Brazilian Journal* of *Plant Physiology*, 17 (1): 95–102. doi:10.1590/s1677-04202005000100008.
- Patra, D.K., Pradhan, C., Kumar, J., et al. (2020) Assessment of chromium phytotoxicity, phytoremediation and tolerance potential of Sesbania sesban and Brachiaria mutica grown on chromite mine overburden dumps and garden soil. *Chemosphere*, 252: 126553. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2020.126553.
- Peng, H. and Guo, J. (2020) Removal of chromium from wastewater by membrane filtration, chemical precipitation, ion exchange, adsorption electrocoagulation, electrochemical reduction, electrodialysis, electrodeionization, photocatalysis and nanotechnology: a review. *Environmental Chemistry Letters*, 18 (6): 2055–2068. doi:10.1007/s10311-020-01058-x.
- Peralta-Videa, J.R., Lopez, M.L., Narayan, M., et al. (2009) The biochemistry of environmental heavy metal uptake by plants: Implications for the food chain. *International Journal of Biochemistry and Cell Biology*, 41 (8–9): 1665–1677. doi:10.1016/j.biocel.2009.03.005.
- Pradas del Real, A.E., Pérez-Sanz, A., García-Gonzalo, P., et al. (2020) Evaluating Cr behaviour in two different polluted soils: Mechanisms and implications for soil functionality. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 276 (March).

doi:10.1016/j.jenvman.2020.111073.

- Qadir, M., Wichelns, D., Raschid-Sally, L., et al. (2010) The challenges of wastewater irrigation in developing countries. *Agricultural Water Management*, 97 (4): 561–568. doi:10.1016/j.agwat.2008.11.004.
- Raimondi, G., Rodrigues, J., Maucieri, C., et al. (2020) Phytomanagement of chromium-contaminated soils using cannabis sativa (L.). Agronomy, 10 (9). doi:10.3390/agronomy10091223.
- Ram, B.K., Han, Y., Yang, G., et al. (2019) Effect of hexavalent chromium [Cr(VI)] on phytoremediation potential and biochemical response of hybrid napier grass with and without EDTA application. *Plants*, 8 (11). doi:10.3390/plants8110515.
- Ranieri, E., Moustakas, K., Barbafieri, M., et al. (2020) Phytoextraction technologies for mercury- and chromium-contaminated soil: a review. *Journal of Chemical Technology and Biotechnology*, 95 (2): 317–327. doi:10.1002/jctb.6008.
- Ray, R.R. (2016) Adverse hematological effects of hexavalent chromium: An overview. *Interdisciplinary Toxicology*, 9 (2): 55–65. doi:10.1515/intox-2016-0007.
- Redondo-Gómez, S., Mateos-Naranjo, E., Vecino-Bueno, I., et al. (2011) Accumulation and tolerance characteristics of chromium in a cordgrass Crhyperaccumulator, Spartina argentinensis. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 185 (2–3): 862–869. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2010.09.101.
- Resurreccion, A.P., Makino, A., Bennett, J., et al. (2001) Effects of sulfur nutrition on the growth and photosynthesis of rice. *Soil Science and Plant Nutrition*, 47 (3): 611–620. doi:10.1080/00380768.2001.10408424.
- Revathi, S. and Subhashree, V. (2019) Comparative study on the effect of nitric oxide. c hromium and EDTA on oxidative stress responses in Agathi (Sesbania grandiflora L. pers). *Applied Ecology and Environmental Research*, 17 (2): 3269–3291. doi:10.15666/aeer/1702_32693291.
- Rocchetta, I. and Küpper, H. (2009) Chromium- and copper-induced inhibition of photosynthesis in Euglena gracilis analysed on the single-cell level by fluorescence kinetic microscopy. *New Phytologist*, 182 (2): 405–420. doi:10.1111/j.1469-8137.2009.02768.x.
- Saifullah, A.S.M., Kabir, M.H., Khatun, A., et al. (2012) Investigation of Some Water Quality Parameters of the Buriganga River Discus. J. Environ. Sci. & Natural Resources, 5 (2): 47–52.
- Sardella, A., Marieschi, M., Mercatali, I., et al. (2019) The relationship between sulfur metabolism and tolerance of hexavalent chromium in Scenedesmus acutus (Spheropleales): Role of ATP sulfurylase. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 216 (July): 105320. doi:10.1016/j.aquatox.2019.105320.
- Sarwar, A.K.M.G., Islam, A. and Jahan, S. (2015) Characterization of dhaincha accessions based on morphological descriptors and biomass production. *Journal of Bangladesh Agricultural University*, 13 (1): 55–60.

Schiavon, M., Pilon-Smits, E.A.H., Wirtz, M., et al. (2008) Interactions between

Chromium and Sulfur Metabolism in Brassica juncea . *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 37 (4): 1536–1545. doi:10.2134/jeq2007.0032.

- Shahid, M., Shamshad, S., Rafiq, M., et al. (2017) Chromium speciation, bioavailability, uptake, toxicity and detoxification in soil-plant system: A review. *Chemosphere*, 178: 513–533. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2017.03.074.
- Shanker, A.K., Cervantes, C., Loza-Tavera, H., et al. (2005) Chromium toxicity in plants. *Environment International*, 31 (5): 739–753. doi:10.1016/j.envint.2005.02.003.
- Sheng, X., He, L., Wang, Q., et al. (2008) Effects of inoculation of biosurfactantproducing Bacillus sp. J119 on plant growth and cadmium uptake in a cadmium-amended soil. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 155 (1–2): 17–22. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2007.10.107.
- Shewary, P.R. and Peterson, P.J. (1976) Chromium uptake and transport in barley seedlings (Hordeum vulgare L.). *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 25 (87): 785–797. doi:10.1007/BF00399719.
- Siegel, K.R., Ali, M.K., Srinivasiah, A., et al. (2014) Do We Produce Enough Fruits and Vegetables to Meet Global Health Need? *PLoS ONE*, 9 (8). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0104059.
- Singh, H.P., Mahajan, P., Kaur, S., et al. (2013) Chromium toxicity and tolerance in plants. *Environmental Chemistry Letters*, 11 (3): 229–254. doi:10.1007/s10311-013-0407-5.
- Sinha, S. and Gupta, A.K. (2005) Translocation of metals from fly ash amended soil in the plant of Sesbania cannabina L. Ritz: Effect on antioxidants. *Chemosphere*, 61 (8): 1204–1214. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2005.02.063.
- Sinha, V., Pakshirajan, K. and Chaturvedi, R. (2018) Chromium tolerance, bioaccumulation and localization in plants: An overview. Journal of Environmental Management, 206: 715–730. doi:10.1016/j.jenvman.2017.10.033.
- Soundararajan, M. and Veeraiyan, G. (2014) Accumulation of Cadmium and its effect on growth of Sesbania Sesban (I.) merr. *International Journal of Modern Research and Reviews*, pp. 132–135.
- Srivastava, D., Tiwari, M., Dutta, P., et al. (2021) Chromium stress in plants: Toxicity, tolerance and phytoremediation. *Sustainability (Switzerland)*, 13 (9): 1–20. doi:10.3390/su13094629.
- Srivastava, S., Prakash, S. and Srivastava, M.M. (1999) Chromium mobilization and plant availability the impact of organic complexing ligands. *Plant and Soil*, 212 (2): 203–208.
- Stambulska, U.Y., Bayliak, M.M. and Lushchak, V.I. (2018) Chromium(VI) Toxicity in Legume Plants: Modulation Effects of Rhizobial Symbiosis. *BioMed Research International*, pp. 1–13. doi:10.1155/2018/8031213.
- Sueker, J.K. (2005) "Chromium." In Morrison, R.D. and Murphy, B.L. (eds.) *Environmental Forensics Contaminant Specific Guide*. Academic Press. pp. 81–95. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-012507751-4/50027-6.

- Sundaramoorthy, P., Chidambaram, A., Ganesh, K.S., et al. (2010) Chromium stress in paddy: (i) Nutrient status of paddy under chromium stress; (ii) Phytoremediation of chromium by aquatic and terrestrial weeds. *Comptes Rendus - Biologies*, 333 (8): 597–607. doi:10.1016/j.crvi.2010.03.002.
- Suñe, N., Sánchez, G., Caffaratti, S., et al. (2007) Cadmium and chromium removal kinetics from solution by two aquatic macrophytes. *Environmental Pollution*, 145 (2): 467–473. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2006.04.016.
- Tom, M., Fletcher, T.D. and McCarthy, D.T. (2014) Heavy metal contamination of vegetables irrigated by Urban stormwater: A matter of time? *PLoS ONE*, 9 (11): 1–21. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0112441.
- Tóth, G., Hermann, T., Da Silva, M.R., et al. (2016) Heavy metals in agricultural soils of the European Union with implications for food safety. *Environment International*, 88: 299–309. doi:10.1016/j.envint.2015.12.017.
- USEPA (2000) Introduction to Phytoremediation. EPA 600/R-99/107, U.S. Office of Research and Development, United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA), Cincinnati, OH, USA. doi:10.4018/978-1-5225-9016-3.ch001.
- USEPA (2004) Cleaning Up the Nation's Waste Sites: Markets and Technology Trends. Cincinnati. Available at: https://nepis.epa.gov/Exe/ZyNET.exe/30006II3.TXT?ZyActionD=ZyDocumen t&Client=EPA&Index=2000+Thru+2005&Docs=&Query=&Time=&EndTime= &SearchMethod=1&TocRestrict=n&Toc=&TocEntry=&QField=&QFieldYear= &QFieldMonth=&QFieldDay=&IntQFieldOp=0&ExtQFieldOp=0&XmlQuery=.
- USGS (2020) Chromium Statistics and Information. Available at: https://www.usgs.gov/centers/nmic/chromium-statistics-and-information (Accessed: 12 November 2020).
- Uysal, Y. (2013) Removal of chromium ions from wastewater by duckweed, Lemna minor L. by using a pilot system with continuous flow. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 263: 486–492. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2013.10.006.
- Vardhan, K.H., Kumar, P.S. and Panda, R.C. (2019) A review on heavy metal pollution, toxicity and remedial measures: Current trends and future perspectives. *Journal of Molecular Liquids*, 290: 111197. doi:10.1016/j.molliq.2019.111197.
- Varun, M., Ogunkunle, C.O., D'Souza, R., et al. (2017) Identification of Sesbania sesban (L.) Merr. as an efficient and well adapted phytoremediation tool for Cd polluted soils. *Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, 98 (6): 867–873. doi:10.1007/s00128-017-2094-6.
- Vymazal, J., Švehla, J., Kröpfelová, L., et al. (2007) Trace metals in Phragmites australis and Phalaris arundinacea growing in constructed and natural wetlands. Science of the Total Environment, 380 (1–3): 154–162. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2007.01.057.
- Wakeel, A. and Xu, M. (2020) Chromium Morpho-Phytotoxicity. *Plants*, 9 (5): 564. doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/plants9050564.
- Wilbur, S., Abadin, H., Fay, M., et al. (2012) *Toxicological Profile for Chromium*. Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR), US Atlanta.

doi:10.1201/9781420061888_ch63.

- World Bank (2020) *GDP growth (annual %) Bangladesh*. Available at: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.MKTP.KD.ZG?locations=BD (Accessed: 17 November 2020).
- WPR (2020) *Dhaka Population 2020*. Available at: https://worldpopulationreview.com/world-cities/dhaka-population (Accessed: 17 November 2020).
- Wu, G., Kang, H., Zhang, X., et al. (2010) A critical review on the bio-removal of hazardous heavy metals from contaminated soils: Issues, progress, ecoenvironmental concerns and opportunities. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 174 (1–3): 1–8. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2009.09.113.
- Xu, T., Nan, F., Jiang, X., et al. (2020) Effect of soil pH on the transport, fractionation, and oxidation of chromium(III). *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 195 (February): 110459. doi:10.1016/j.ecoenv.2020.110459.
- Yu, X.Z. and Gu, J.D. (2008) The role of EDTA in phytoextraction of hexavalent and trivalent chromium by two willow trees. *Ecotoxicology*, 17 (3): 143–152. doi:10.1007/s10646-007-0177-6.
- Zayed, A.M. and Terry, N. (2003) Chromium in the environment: Factors affecting biological remediation. *Plant and Soil*, 249 (1): 139–156. doi:10.1023/A:1022504826342.
- Zhang, X.H., Liu, J., Huang, H.T., et al. (2007) Chromium accumulation by the hyperaccumulator plant Leersia hexandra Swartz. *Chemosphere*, 67 (6): 1138–1143. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2006.11.014.
- Zwolak, A., Sarzyńska, M., Szpyrka, E., et al. (2019) Sources of soil pollution by heavy metals and their accumulation in vegetables: a review. *Water, Air, & Soil Pollution*, 230: 164. doi:10.1007/s11270-019-4221-y.

Chapter 2 :

An assessment of distribution and concentrations of total chromium, chromium (VI) and lead in river sediments during the dry season after the relocation of the tannery industries from the Buriganga to the Dhaleshwari Rivers in Bangladesh.

Abstract

Chromium (Cr (total) and Cr(VI), and lead (Pb) are the most toxic heavy metal (HM) known to humans. These HM are usually released into the environment from industries and transport systems. In Bangladesh, most of the urban river becomes polluted due to industrial activities. This study aims to assess Cr (total), Cr(VI) and lead (Pb) concentration in the riverbank sediment of the Dhaleshwari with a comparison of the Buriganga river because the government are shifting the tannery industries from the bank of the Buriganga to the bank of the Dhaleshwari river. We collected sediment samples in the winter of 2019 and 2021. The presence of Cr(VI) in the riverbank sediment of the Dhaleshwari river indicates active pollution from tanneries; however, Cr(VI) was observed at \leq 1 ppm in 2021 in the riverbank sediment of the Buriganga river, which was previously known to be the most toxic site for chromium. Lead (Pb) concentration did not vary between the year (2019 and 2021).

Keywords: Cr(total), Cr(VI); lead(Pb); Dhaleshwari river; Buriganga river; riverbank sediment.

2.1 Introduction

Bangladesh is a great delta formed by the alluvial deposits of the three mighty Himalayan Rivers: the Ganges (as the Padma in Bangladesh), the Brahmaputra (as the Jamuna in Bangladesh) and the Meghna; these river systems drain a total catchment area of about 1.72 million sq km through Bangladesh into the Bay of Bengal (Whitehead et al., 2015; Rasul, 2015; Kolås et al., 2013a). There are 170 million people that live beside the 405 rivers of Bangladesh, among which 57 are trans-boundary rivers. The life and livelihood of agriculture-based Bangladeshi people have been revolving around waters of these rivers over the ages (Whitehead et al., 2015; Rasul, 2015; Kolås et al., 2013a). After the industrial revolution in late 1990s in Bangladesh, wastewater from industries discharged into many rivers causing rapid, significant degradation of water and sediment quality. The extent of water pollution varies with season and during winter or dry seasons these rivers become more polluted than during the monsoon (Islam et al., 2015; Bhuiyan et al., 2015; Islam et al., 2014; Kolås et al., 2013b).

Dhaka is Bangladesh's capital, surrounded by three rivers, the Buriganga, Turag and Shitalakhya. Economic growth and rapid population growth in Dhaka, has caused an increase in various wastes (including wastewater from industries) polluting the surrounding rivers of the capital. Among these rivers, the Buriganga is one of the most polluted rivers in Bangladesh. Major polluting industries such as tanneries and textile industries are situated on the bank of the Buriganga River and discharge untreated or partially treated wastewater into the river (Islam et al., 2018a; Nargis et al., 2018; Islam et al., 2015). Tannery industries, located in Hazaribagh, Dhaka, are one of the major pollution sources of the Buriganga River (Asaduzzaman et al., 2016; Tamim et al., 2016). In the era of the fourth industrial revolution, the

Government of Bangladesh (GoB) planned to relocate these industries to a wellstructured tannery industrial park at the bank of the Dhaleshwari River (a tributary of the Buriganga) in Hemayetpur, Savar on the outskirts of Dhaka (NEWAGE, 2022; Islam et al., 2021; Roy and Akash, 2018). The important aims of this relocation was to reduce the pollution magnitude of the Buriganga River and to release the treated tannery wastewater from the central effluent treatment plant of newly developed tannery cluster into the Dhaleshwari River to avoid detrimental effects for the aquatic ecosystem because in the Hazaribag area tanneries were built unplanned way (NEWAGE, 2022; Islam et al., 2021; Roy and Akash, 2018) . The government of the People's Republic of Bangladesh started the relocation process in 2003, but it has yet to move the last remaining tanneries from Hazaribagh and so far (upto December 2019) 139 tanneries out of 154 (in Hazaribag) are now in operation in the industrial park (NEWAGE, 2019).

Chromium sulphate (Cr₂(SO₄)₃·x(H₂O), where x can range from 0 to 18) is used in the main process of tanning in leather processing industries, and around 10 kg of chromium sulphate has been used in the tanning processes for 100 kg of salted wet hide (Ludvík, 2000). Leather processing industries at Hazaribag and Kamrangir Char of Dhaka city (figure 2.1) were the main reason for the heavy metal (chromium) pollution in the Buriganga River as the industries discharge their untreated or partially treated effluents directly into the river (Islam et al., 2018b; Nargis et al., 2018; Bhuiyan et al., 2015; Saha and Hossain, 2011). Since Cr salt is an essential chemical for the tanning process, we can assume that the presence of excessive Cr in the environment might originate from the tannery industries.

Many studies have assessed the extent of river water pollution surrounding the capital Dhaka (mostly the rivers Buriganga, Turag and Shytalakhya), but very few

have investigated sediment quality (Nargis et al., 2018; Islam et al., 2018b, 2016; Sikder and Islam, 2016). More recently, researchers have been interested in assessing and monitoring the pollution status of the Dhaleshwari River with a concern that it has similar degraded conditions as the Buriganga River. However, most of the work in the Dhaleshwari River has focused on water quality (Islam et al., 2021; Hasan et al., 2020). In addition, all the past studies on both water and sediment quality only estimated total Cr and did not report the status of Cr(VI) or Cr(III) for the tannery-polluted rivers in Bangladesh. Beside Cr, it was reported that the wastewater from tannery industry also might contain other metals such as zinc, iron, cadmium, arsenic, lead, nickel and copper (Das et al., 2011). Sediment contamination is of importance as pollutants can be stored and then remobilised over time, particularly during periods of high flow, causing secondary pollutant effects (Yi et al., 2011; Islam et al., 2018b). The present study provides a determination of Cr(VI), total Cr and lead (Pb) contents in the riverbank sediment of the Dhaleshwari and the Buriganga Rivers. Here, beside Cr we selected Pb as a surrogate of other heavy metals as it was one of the most polluting metals in the rivers of Bangladesh. This allowed us to check whether the relocation of one type of industry would have an influence on Cr and Pb distribution in the two studied rivers. Therefore, the main objective of the study was, to assess the chromium (total and Cr (V)) and lead (Pb) loads in river sediments with temporal and spatial variations.

2.2 Methodology

2.2.1 Sediment sample collection

Sediment samples were collected from eight sites (figure 2.1) of the Dhaleshwari (L1 to L4) and the Buriganga Rivers (L5 to L8) (these sampling sites in Buriganga river have been selected after a literature review to compare with other research (varies around 50 meters from previous studies discussed in table 2.5) during the dry season of December 2019 and December 2021. Samples were collected within 1 m from the water line of the rivers using a hand augur. The top ~5 cm of collected sediment in the augur was rejected, and the next ~10 cm of sediment was collected. The samples were put in a pre-washed polyethene bag which was put in another polyethene bag with a label. The samples were kept in the icebox in the field and later preserved in the freezer at below – 4° C, and we transferred the samples from Bangladesh to the laboratory of the University of Birmingham (UK); the frozen samples were stored in the - 15°C until metal determination.



Figure 2.1: Sample collection location points in both rivers.

2.2.2 Sample preparation and Cr analysis

Sediment samples were dried at 65 °C for at least 48 hours to a constant weight and then ground using a mortar and pestle (Alyazouri et al., 2020).

2.2.2.1 Analysis of total chromium (Cr) and lead (Pb)

Samples were digested with acid [(Acid digestion: oven-dried samples were crushed, and 0.1 g of powdered (homogenised) samples were placed into a digestion tube with 23 ml of HCL (con.) and 7 ml of HNO₃ (con.). After 12 hours, the digestion tube was placed in a heating block at 80° C for reflux for 2 hours and then filtered with a wetted filter (Whatman 41) paper into a 25 ml volumetric flask. An ionisation suppressant KCl (0.5 ml of 10%) is added to the filtered materials, and finally, the tube and filter paper are repeatedly washed with ultra-pure water and made volume up to the mark of a volumetric flask)]; and the resulting solution analysed with ICP-OES (Inductively Coupled Plasma Optical Emission Spectroscopy; model: Agilent 7500ce, detection limit \geq 0.001 ppm). All chemicals were ICP grade.

2.2.2.2 Analysis of hexavalent chromium (Cr(VI)

Hexavalent chromium: samples were digested [(alkaline digestion: 2.5 ± 0.10 g of the sample were placed into a clean 250 mL digestion vessel and 50 mL \pm 1 mL (dissolved 20.0 ± 0.05 g NaOH and 30.0 ± 0.05 g Na₂CO₃ in reagent water in a onelitre volumetric flask and diluted with DI water and maintained the pH 11.5 or greater,)] of digestion solution were added to each digestion vessel. We also added approximately 400 mg of MgCI and 0.5 mL of 1.0 M phosphate buffer mixed for 5 min. After that, the digestion vessel containing the samples was heated to 90-95° C (for 60 min). After cooling, the contents (in a beaker) were transferred quantitatively to the filtration apparatus and filtered through a 0.45 μ m membrane filter. Slowly add 5.0 M nitric acid solution to the beaker dropwise and adjust the solution's pH to 7.5 \pm 0.5. Transferred the vessel's contents quantitatively to a 100 mL volumetric flask and adjusted the sample volume to 100 mL (to the mark for the volumetric flask) with reagent water and mixed well. The sample digestates are now ready to be analysed, and the resulting solutions were analysed using a JENWAY spectrophotometer 6505 following EPA method 3060A and method 7196 (USEPA, 1996; De Oliveira et al., 2014; Alyazouri et al., 2014).

2.2.3 Estimation of geo-accumulation index

Müller (1979) introduced the geo-accumulation index (*I*geo) to assess the anthropogenic impact of contaminants. It is estimated using the following equation:

$$I_{\text{geo}} = \log_2 \frac{Cn}{1.5Bn}$$

where Cn is the measured metal concentration in the sediment, Bn is the background concentration of the metal and 1.5 is the factor compensating background data (correction factor) due to the lithogenic effect (Taylor 1964). Here, average shale concentration was used as the background concentration of the metal given by Turekian and Wedepohl (1961).

The geo-accumulation index is composed of seven grades. Class 0 (uncontaminated): $I_{\text{geo}} \le 0$; Class 1 (uncontaminated to moderately contaminated): $0 < I_{\text{geo}} < 1$; Class 2 (moderately contaminated sediment): $1 < I_{\text{geo}} < 2$; Class 3 (moderately to strongly contaminated): $2 < I_{\text{geo}} < 3$; Class 4 (strongly contaminated): $3 < I_{\text{geo}} < 4$; Class 5 (strongly to extremely contaminated): $4 < I_{\text{geo}} < 5$; Class 6 (extremely contaminated): $5 \le I_{\text{geo}}$.

2.2.4 Estimation of contamination factor

The contamination factor (CF) is used as global standard reference for unpolluted sediment. It was calculated by comparing the mean of estimated metal concentration with average metal concentration in shale as given by Turekian and Wedepohl (1961). It was calculated by the following equation:

$$CF = \frac{Mean metal concentration at contaminated site}{Metal average shale concentration}$$

Hakanson (1980) classified CF values into four grades, i.e., CF < 1 in Class 1 with low CF, $1 \le CF < 3$ in Class 2 with moderate CF, $3 \le CF < 6$ under Class 3 with considerable CF and CF ≥ 6 kept in Class 4 with very high CF.

2.2.5 Statistical analyses

Generalised linear mixed models (GLMMs) were used to determine the difference in metal concentrations between the Buriganga River and the Dhaleshwari River. Here, the response variable was the metal concentration, the explanatory variable was river, the random effect was the sampling years, error distribution was Gaussian with an identity link function.

Likelihood-ratio test was performed to establish the influence of sampling years on metal concentrations according to the sampling site. A full model was developed with the response variable of metal concentration and the explanatory variables sampling year and sampling sites and their interaction. The reduced model was developed without the interaction term between the explanatory variables. Error distribution for all models was Gaussian with the identity link function. Full and reduced models were compared in likelihood-ratio test. If the result was significant, it suggested that sampling year have an influence on the sampling locations means tannery relocation has an impact on the concentration of chromium in the riverbank sediment. Multiple comparisons were done for each year to find out which sampling sites were specifically influenced. Here, in the developed GLMMs the response variable was metal concentration, the explanatory variable was sampling sites of the rivers and the error distribution was Gaussian with an identity link function.

The significance level (α) was set at p = 0.05. In multiple comparisons, α was adjusted using Bonferroni correction dividing by the number of sampling years (p = 0.025). All statistical analyses were performed using the "glmmADMB" and "multcomp" packages in R (Version 3.6.2; R Core Team, 2019).

2.3 Results

The Buriganga River had significantly higher Cr (total) and Pb concentrations in the sediments than the Dhaleshwari River (tables 2.1 and 2.2, figure 2.2). Year had a significant effect on metal concentrations in sediments of both rivers (table 2.3). For Cr (total) concentrations in the Dhaleshwari River L2 and L4 sites and in the Buriganga River L6 and L7 sites had significantly different concentrations between 2019 and 2021 whereas for Pb there was no significant difference between 2019 and 2021 for all sites in both rivers (figure 2.3).

In the Dhaleshwari River Cr (total) in L4 site had the highest concentrations for both sampling years and in the Buriganga River L6 and L7 had the highest concentrations in 2019 and 2021, respectively (table 2.1 and figure 2.3). For Pb, in the Dhaleshwari River L1 site had the highest concentrations for both sampling years and in the Buriganga River L7 site had the highest concentrations for both sampling years (table 2.1 and figure 2.3).

Chromium (VI) concentrations were below the detection level in most of the sampling sites of both rivers for both sampling years (table 2.1), hence no statistical analysis was performed for Cr(VI). In the Dhaleshwari River only L4 site had detectable Cr(VI) concentrations in 2019 and 2021, and in the Buriganga River only L6 site showed detectable Cr(VI) concentration in2019. This trend was similar with Cr (total) in L4 and L6 sites in 2019 and 2021. Therefore, it might be possible to assume that Cr(VI) concentrations would be high where Cr (total) concentrations were high and vice-versa.

Table 2.1. Chromium (total), Cr(VI) and Pb concentrations (ppm) in the sampling sites in the Dhaleshwari River (L1 to L4) and in the Buriganga River (L5 to L8) in 2019 and 2021 (mean \pm SD).

Locati	Dhaleshwari River				Buriganga River					
on	L1	L2	L3	L4	L5	L6	L7	L8		
2019										
Cr (total)	69.67±1. 69	94.67±1. 25	90.33±13 .02	125.33±3 .09	116.33±3 .39	331±6.1 6	304.33±4. 92	200.33±7 .13		
Cr(VI)	< 1	< 1	< 1	24.66±4. 18	< 1	47.66±4. 49	< 1	< 1		
Pb	34	27	19.67	17	14.33	27.33	221.67	201.67		
2021										
Cr (total)	85.66±5. 44	114.33+ 3.3	129+2.16	302.33±1 3.6	109.33±4 .99	129±2.4 5	233±8.64	212.33±4 .03		
Cr(VI)	< 1	< 1	< 1	31.67±2. 87	< 1	< 1	< 1	< 1		
Pb	35±2.16	19±1.63	21.67±2. 05	14.67±1. 7	12.68±1. 7	20±2.16	266.34±12 .26	192±5.89		

Table 2.2. Summary statistics of generalised linear mixed models (GLMMs) to determine difference in metal concentrations (ppm) in sediments between the Buriganga and Dhaleshwari Rivers (n indicates sample size).

Response variable	n	Explanatory variable	Coefficient	Standard Error (SE)	<i>p</i> - value
Cr (total), ppm	48	River	-78	21.4	<0.001
Pb, ppm	48	River	-96	21.1	<0.001

The models showed the Buriganga River had higher metal concentrations (also see, figure 2.1).



Figure 2.2. Total Cr and Pb concentrations (ppm) in the Buriganga and Dhaleshwari Rivers in 2019 and 2021. Boxplot legend: top (bottom) edges of box are 75th (25th) percentiles; center line in the box is median; the upper (lower) whisker extends from the box edge to the largest (smallest) value no further than $1.5 \times$ inter-quartile ranges of the edge; data beyond the end of the whiskers are outliers and are plotted individually)

Table 2.3. Summary statistics of the likelihood-ratio test to examine the effects of interaction between sampling year (Y) and sampling site (S) on the Cr (total) and Pb concentrations (ppm) in the Dhaleshwari and the Buriganga Rivers. (*df* indicates the degrees of freedom).

Response variable	Model type	Explanatory variables		Log- likelihood	Devian ce	<i>p</i> - value			
Dhaleshwari River									
Cr (total)	Full	Sampling year (Y) × Sampling site (S)	3	-81.4	74.59	<0.001			
	Reduced	Sampling year (Y), Sampling site (S)		-118.69					
Pb	Full	Sampling year (Y) × Sampling site (S)	3	-49.37	17.39	<0.001			
	Reduced	Sampling year (Y), Sampling site (S)		-58.07					
Buriganga River									
Cr (total)	Full	Sampling year (Y) × Sampling site (S)	3	-75.19	97.44	<0.001			
	Reduced	Sampling year (Y), Sampling site (S)		-123.91					
Pb	Full	Sampling year (Y) × Sampling site (S)	3	-76.46	36.66	<0.001			
	Reduced	Sampling year (Y), Sampling site (S)		-94.79					


Figure 2.3. The Cr (total) and Pb concentrations (ppm) in the sediments of the sampling sites in the Dhaleshwari and Buriganga Rivers for 2019 and 2021. Small letters indicate the difference in metal concentrations between years (corrected p = 0.0125); and capital letters and bold capital letters indicate the difference between sites in each river for 2019 and 2021, respectively (corrected p = 0.025)

Table 2.4. Summary of geo-accumulation index (Igeo) and contamination factor (CF) for Pb and total Cr in the Dhaleshwari and Buriganga rivers in 2019 and 2021 (see figure 2.1 for sample locations L1 to L8). L1 to L4 upstream and L5 to L8 downstream).

Year	Site	River	Geo-accumulation index				Contamination factor			
			Pb		Total Cr		Pb		Total Cr	
			mean	SD	mean	SD	mean	SD	mean	SD
2019	L1	Dhaleshwari	0.18†	0.08	-0.95*	0.04	1.70†	0.10	0.77*	0.02
2019	L2	Dhaleshwari	-0.16*	0.16	-0.51*	0.02	1.35†	0.15	1.05†	0.02
2019	L3	Dhaleshwari	-0.61*	0.15	-0.60*	0.27	0.98*	0.10	1.00†	0.18
2019	L4	Dhaleshwari	-0.83*	0.17	-0.11*	0.04	0.85*	0.10	1.39†	0.04
2019	L5	Buriganga	-1.08*	0.22	-0.22*	0.05	0.72*	0.10	1.29†	0.05
2019	L6	Buriganga	-0.14*	0.11	1.29‡	0.03	1.37†	0.10	3.68‡	0.08
2019	L7	Buriganga	2.88‡‡	0.07	1.17‡	0.03	11.08‡‡	0.51	3.38‡	0.07
2019	L8	Buriganga	2.75‡‡	0.02	0.57†	0.06	10.08‡‡	0.15	2.23†	0.10
2021	L1	Dhaleshwari	0.22†	0.11	-0.66*	0.11	1.75†	0.13	0.95*	0.07
2021	L2	Dhaleshwari	-0.66*	0.15	-0.24*	0.05	0.95*	0.10	1.27†	0.04
2021	L3	Dhaleshwari	-0.48*	0.17	-0.07*	0.03	1.08†	0.13	1.43†	0.03
2021	L4	Dhaleshwari	-1.04*	0.20	1.16‡	0.08	0.73*	0.10	3.36‡	0.19
2021	L5	Buriganga	-1.26*	0.23	-0.31*	0.08	0.63*	0.10	1.21†	0.07
2021	L6	Buriganga	-0.59*	0.19	-0.07*	0.03	1.00†	0.13	1.43†	0.03
2021	L7	Buriganga	3.15‡‡‡	0.08	0.79†	0.06	13.32‡‡	0.75	2.59†	0.12
2021	L8	Buriganga	2.68‡‡	0.05	0.65†	0.03	9.60‡‡	0.36	2.36†	0.05

Here, SD is the standard deviation; number of samplings in each site was three. For Igeo, * indicates uncontaminated sites with class 0, † indicates uncontaminated to moderately contaminated with class 1, ‡ indicates moderately to strongly contaminated with class 3, ‡‡ indicates strongly contaminated with class 4 and ‡‡‡ indicates strongly to extremely contaminated with class 5. For CF, * indicates class 1 with low CF, † indicates class 2 with moderate CF, ‡ indicates class 3 with considerable CF and ‡‡ indicates class 4 with high CF.

Geo-accumulation index and contamination factor (table 2.4) of total Cr in L6 and L7 sites showed the highest values for the Buriganga River in 2019, which decreased notably in 2021. In the site furthest downstream (L8), the differences of all indices between the two years were minimal for total Cr. In the Dhaleshwari River, all indices values increased between 2019 and 2020 from upstream to downstream sites (i.e., L1 to L4). However, in the L4 site, a notable increase occurred from 2019 to 2021 for all indices.

Geo-accumulation index and contamination factor of Pb showed the highest values in L7 site, followed by L8 site for the Buriganga River in 2019 and 2021. In 2021, the indices values of Pb in L7 site increased from 2019, whereas in the L8 site, it decreased. In the Dhaleshwari River, the most upstream site (L1) had the highest indices values for Pb in 2019 and 2021.

2.4 Discussion

The Buriganga River has been heavily polluted with total Cr and Pb for more than a decade and previous research has reported these two elements to be of major concern (Islam et al., 2018b; Nargis et al., 2018; Bhuiyan et al., 2015; Saha and Hossain, 2011). In 2009, Mohiuddin et al., (2011) observed 243 ppm Cr in monsoon and 109.0 ppm Cr in winter in sediment samples from the Buriganga River. These values were about 4 times higher than the study of 2015-2016 as reported by Nargis et al. (2018) (table 2.5). According to Bhuiyan et al., (2015) the concentrations were very high in the winter and the variation was between 1715 to 1019 ppm. In another study in 2013, the highest chromium concentration was 841 ppm (in L5 site) and the lowest value 22 ppm observed in downstream (in L7 site) during winter (Islam et al., 2018b).

Page 58

Location		Sampling time	2021	2019	2016	2015	2014 (Jan)	2013	2012	2010	2009
Bosila Bridge	L5	Feb –Mar			70.81			841	2471	1535±38	
		Aug-Sept				76.44		826	2039		
		December	109.33±4.99	116.33±3.39							
Badamtoli Ghat	L6	Feb- Mar			45.07		108.4	78	750	1715±31	149
		Aug-Sept				42.01		51	650		154
		December	129±2.45	331±6.16							
Near Pagla	L7	Feb- Mar			39.4		187.3	22		1019±25	243
		Aug-Sept				35.42		17			188
		December	233±8.64	304.33±4.92							
Fatullah	L8	Feb- Mar			33.57					1020±76	
		Aug-Sept				32.58					
		December	212.33±4.03	200.33±7.13							
		Source:	This study	This study	(Nargi s et al., 2018)	(Nargi s et al., 2018)	(Mohi uddin et al., 2015)	(Isla m et al., 2018 b)	(Isla m et al., 2014)	(Bhuiyan et al., 2015)	(Mohi uddin et al., 2011)
		Methods	ICP-OES	ICP-OES	ICP- MS	ICP- MS	AAS	ICP- MS	ICP- MS	EDXRF	ICP- MS

Table 2.5: Total chromium (ppm) contents in the sediments of Buriganga River (Sampling site varies around 50 meters for each researcher).

In the most recent study during 2015-2016 the mean concentrations of Cr varied from 39.70 ± 18.84 (monsoon) and 41.45 ± 15.88 ppm (winter) (Nargis et al., 2018). In comparison our present study showed mean concentrations of total Cr of 237.99 ± 85.54 and 179.91 ± 52.72 ppm in the winter of 2019 and 2021, respectively. There is no doubt that total Cr is still present in the riverbank sediment of the Buriganga river. However, the distribution pattern of total Cr concentrations showed a common trend in all studies, i.e., at downstream of the tannery industries, total Cr concentrations continuously decreased. For example, Nargis et al., (2018), Bhuiyan et al., (2015) and the current study found that total Cr concentrations continuously

decreased from L6 (the closest downstream site of the tannery industries; see figure 2.1) to L8 sites (table 2.5).

Total Cr concentration in the Buriganga River might decrease after shifting the tannery industries, as reported by several past workers (Correspondent, 2017; Roy, 2017) and the present study also supported this possibility. Total Cr concentration in L6 and L7 sites (i.e., the two consecutive closest downstream sites of the tannery industries; see figure 2.1) decreased from 2019 to 2021. Although past workers did not report Cr(VI) concentration in the sediment of the Buriganga River to our best knowledge, among all Cr species Cr(VI) has the most detrimental effects for living organisms (ADD REF). In 2019, we only observed mean (±SD) Cr(VI) concentration as 47.67 (±4.49) ppm in the closest downstream site of the tannery industries (i.e., L6 site; see figure 2.1), whereas in 2021 Cr(VI) concentration was <1 ppm. This may also suggest that moving the tanneries resulted in Cr(VI) pollution because more active tanneries were present in 2019 than in 2021 in the bank of Buriganga river. However, in the Dhalashwari river, we observed an elevated level of Cr(VI) in the riverbank sediment at point L4 (table 2.1).

The present findings are compared with previous studies in the same location (± 50 m) of the Buriganga river (table 2.5). In all locations in Buriganga river, total chromium varies between 331±6.1 ppm to 109.33±4.9. According to Canadian Sediment Quality Guidelines for the Protection of Aquatic Life, in all locations, total chromium is higher than the permissible limit; according to them, interim sediment quality guidelines (ISQGs) is 37.3 ppm and probable effect levels (PELs) for chromium 90 ppm (CCME, 1999a). Bangladesh has no standard for riverbank sediment or freshwater sediment quality guideline for chromium like many other countries.

Table 2.5 shows the summary results of the chromium concentration in the same sampling point (±50 m distance) between 2019 and 2021. Chromium concentration in the sediment of the Buriganga river decreases over time but in some places, the changes were negligible (L5 and L8) (Islam et al., 2018b; Nargis et al., 2018; Bhuiyan et al., 2015; Saha and Hossain, 2011).

In the Dhaleshwari River, the highest total Cr concentration was found in L4, the closest downstream site of the relocated tannery industries. Total Cr concentrations in the riverbank sediment of the Dhaleshwari River increased over time between 2019 and 2021, for example, at L4 Cr concentration was 125.33±3.09 ppm in 2019 compared to 302.33±13.6 ppm in 2021 (as shown as outliers in figure 2.2). It therefore seems possible that increased total Cr concentration are linked to the relocated tannery industries on the bank of the Dhaleshwari River. However, sites upstream of the tannery industries (L1, L2 and L3) also had elevated total Cr concentrations in 2021 compared to 2019. There was no geological changes occurred in the upstream of the sampling locations so the increasement might not be for geogenic reason. The possible anthropogenic reason might be increase in Cr-releasing chemical usages in agriculture and textile industries. The upstream of the Dhaleshwari River has agricultural land coverage and the river receives treated, untreated or partially treated wastewater from several textile industries. After the revocation of lock-down due to the Covid-19 pandemic situation, the acceleration in agricultural and textile industrial activities might be the cause of such enhanced total Cr concentrations in the upstream sites of the tannery industries.

Past workers observed lead (Pb) in the riverbank sediment of the Buriganga river above the permissible limit in most cases (Mohiuddin et al., 2011; Nargis et al., 2018). According to Canadian Sediment Quality Guidelines for the Protection of Aquatic Life (1999) in location L7 (221.67 ppm in 2019 and 266.34±12.26 ppm in 2021) and L8 (201.67 ppm in 2019 and 192±5.89 in 2021) lead concentration in sediment was higher than the permissible limit, according to them interim sediment quality guidelines (ISQGs) is 35 ppm and guideline also stats that probable effect levels (PELs) for lead is \geq 91.3 ppm (CCME, 1999b). In our study, Pb concentration was observed to be higher than these levels in location L7 (between Badamtali ghat and Pagla) and L8.

The Buriganga River had higher Pb concentrations than the Dhaleshwari River; however, Pb did not follow the same distribution among the sites like total Cr and Cr(VI), which is likely due to Pb being a minor contaminant from tannery industrial processes. Several past studies (Mohiuddin et al., 2011; Nargis et al., 2018) reported the presence of high Pb concentration in the Buriganga River due to the presence of surrounding unplanned battery, steel and lead pipe recycling factories that discharged Pb-rich wastewater in the river. Additionally, the Buriganga River is a major shipping route for transporting goods and passengers (Alam, 2008), and there are several small ship-making and repairing shipyards from where Pb can be released to the river from leaded paints, gasoline etc. During the field visit in the Dhaleshwari River, the authors observed a big municipal unsanitary waste disposal site containing e-waste and several textile, pharmaceutical, and ceramic tiles industries adjacent to the upstream sites river. Along with these point sources, it was possible to have other point sources, which might be the sources of Pb that caused high Pb concentration in the Dhaleshwari River. For example, lead-acid battery-driven three-wheeler vehicles are very common mode of transportation in the semi-urban areas in Bangladesh (Nargis et al., 2018; Alam, 2008) which was also observed in the surroundings of the sampling locations as well as the upstream

Page 62

localities of the two rivers. The unauthorised lead-acid battery recycling factories in those areas might be another possible source of Pb.

In this area (near L7) Mohiuddin et al., (2011) observed the highest concentration of Pb (474.85 in monsoon and 477.85 ppm in winter), Ahmad et al., (2010) reported only 67.45 ppm in the monsoon and 69.02 ppm in the winter and Nargis et al., (2018) recorded 45.22 ppm during the winter.

The Buriganga River is more polluted than the Dhaleshwari River. We found an unpleasant odour coming from the Buriganga River water during sampling and the chemical analyses also supported a higher pollution load than the Dhaleshwari River. One positive finding for the Buriganga River in this study would be the decrease of metal loads (i.e., total Cr and Cr(VI)) from 2019 to 2021, which were compulsorily used in the tannery industrial processes. On the contrary, total Cr loading in the sediment of the Dhaleshwari River increased from 2019 to 2021. In case of Cr(VI), we could not perform statistical analysis due to lower detection level for the most samples; however, we found a slight increase of mean (±SD) Cr(VI) concentration only in L4 site from 2019 (24.66±4.18 ppm) to 2021 (31.67±2.87 ppm). Although the relocated tannery industries have a common effluent treatment plant, the presence of Cr in the sediment suggests that these are not sufficient to remove the metal contaminants. As more and more tannery industries are relocated in the tannery industrial park, it is likely that Cr loading in the Dhaleshwari River sediment will increase without additional treatment measures. The shift in potential pollution could be understood more appropriately from the geo-accumulation index. In the Buriganga River the index was better graded for total Cr, whereas in the Dhaleshwari River it was worse graded from 2019 to 2021 at the closest downstream sites of the tannery industries (i.e., L6 and L4 sites, respectively).

This study did not determine the metal concentrations in the river water. The metal concentrations in water usually vary significantly in a short period due to seasonal effects, changes in release from the pollution sources, variations of chemical reaction rate factors amongst others (Nargis et al., 2018; Islam et al., 2018a, 2018b). The metal concentrations in sediment are generally more stable, which might provide a better indication of the long-term anthropogenic metal loads in the environment. For example, the higher concentration of chromium in sediment than in water is generally found due to the properties of insolubility, lower mobility and higher bonding capacity with organic matter in soil and sediment with the species of Cr^{3+} oxides, hydroxides, and sulphates (Becquer et al., 2003; Peralta-Videa et al., 2009).

There has been previous research on metal concentrations in the Buriganga River (table 2.5). However, it was difficult to directly compare the metal concentrations among various studies. Despite having a common pattern in metal distribution (see earlier discussion), the metal concentration varies from one study to another. The possible reasons might be due to (a) variation in the season which was clearly present in the data records of the workers (Islam et al., 2014; Islam et al., 2018b; Mohiuddin et al., 2011; Nargis et al., 2018) who analysed samples for two seasons; (b) variation in sampling locations, e.g., the distance the water line could influence the metal concentration in the sediment and (c) variation in analytical methods, e.g., various workers used different analytical instruments such as ICP-OES, ICP-MS, AAS and EDXRF (table 2.5).

Page 64

2.5 Conclusion

From this study, it has been confirmed that the Dhaleshwari river bank sediment is now being contaminated with chromium due to tannery effluent despite the central effluent treatment plant in tannery facilities. However, chromium pollution in the Buriganga river is declining (based on riverbank sediment data). On the other hand, lead (Pb) pollution was only observed in the riverbank sediment of the Buriganga river.

2.6 References

- Ahmad, M.K., Islam, S., Rahman, M.S., et al. (2010) Heavy metals in water, sediment and some fishes of Buriganga River, Bangladesh. *International Journal of Environmental Resarch*, 4 (2): 321–332.
- Alam, K. (2008) Cost-benefit analysis of restoring buriganga river, Bangladesh. International Journal of Water Resources Development, 24 (4): 593–607. doi:10.1080/07900620802224486.
- Alyazouri, A., Jewsbury, R., Tayim, H., et al. (2020) Uptake of Chromium by Portulaca Oleracea from Soil: Effects of Organic Content, pH, and Sulphate Concentration. *Applied and Environmental Soil Science*, 2020 (Vi). doi:10.1155/2020/3620726.
- Alyazouri, A.H., Jewsbury, R.A., Tayim, H.A., et al. (2014) Phytoextraction of Cr(VI) from soil using Portulaca oleracea. *Toxicological and Environmental Chemistry*, 95 (8): 1338–1347. doi:10.1080/02772248.2013.877463.
- Asaduzzaman, M., Hasan, I., Rajia, S., et al. (2016) Impact of tannery effluents on the aquatic environment of the Buriganga River in Dhaka, Bangladesh. *Toxicology and Industrial Health*, 32 (6): 1106–1113. doi:10.1177/0748233714548206.
- Becquer, T., Quantin, C., Sicot, M., et al. (2003) Chromium availability in ultramafic soils from New Caledonia. *Science of the Total Environment*, 301 (1–3): 251– 261. doi:10.1016/S0048-9697(02)00298-X.
- Bhuiyan, M.A.H., Dampare, S.B., Islam, M.A., et al. (2015) Source apportionment and pollution evaluation of heavy metals in water and sediments of Buriganga River, Bangladesh, using multivariate analysis and pollution evaluation indices. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 187 (1). doi:10.1007/s10661-014-4075-0.
- CCME (1999a) Canadian Sediment Quality Guidelines for the Protection of Aquatic Life: Chromium. Available at: ceqg-rcqe.ccme.ca/download/en/226/.

- CCME (1999b) Canadian Sediment Quality Guidelines for the Protection of Aquatic Life: LEAD. Available at: ceqg-rcqe.ccme.ca/download/en/226/.
- Correspondent, S. (2017) Water pollution: Buriganga shows signs of improvement. *the Daily Star*, 22 March, p. 1. Available at: https://www.thedailystar.net/frontpage/pollution-waste-buriganga-watershows-signs-improvement-1379428 (Accessed: 27 November 2018).
- Das, M., Ahmed, M.K., Islam, M.S., et al. (2011) Heavy metals in industrial effluents (Tannery and Textile) and adjacent rivers of Dhaka city, Bangladesh. *Terrestrial and Aquatic Environmental Toxicology*, 5 (1): 8–13.
- Hakanson, L. (1980) An ecological risk index for aquatic pollution control.a sedimentological approach. Water Research, 14 (8): 975–1001. doi:10.1016/0043-1354(80)90143-8.
- Hasan, M.M., Ahmed, M.S. and Adnan, R. (2020) Assessment of physico-chemical characteristics of river water emphasizing tannery industrial park: a case study of Dhaleshwari River, Bangladesh. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 192 (12). doi:10.1007/s10661-020-08750-z.
- Islam, M., Uddin, M., Tareq, S., et al. (2015) Alteration of water pollution level with the seasonal changes in mean daily discharge in three main rivers around Dhaka city, Bangladesh. *Environments*, 2 (3): 280–294. doi:10.3390/environments2030280.
- Islam, M.A.S., Hossain, M.E. and Majed, N. (2021) Assessment of Physicochemical Properties and Comparative Pollution Status of the Dhaleshwari River in Bangladesh. *Earth*, 2 (4): 696–714. doi:10.3390/earth2040041.
- Islam, M.S., Han, S., Ahmed, M.K., et al. (2014) Assessment of Trace Metal Contamination in Water and Sediment of Some Rivers in Bangladesh. *Journal* of Water and Environment Technology, 12 (2): 109–121. doi:10.2965/jwet.2014.109.
- Islam, M.S., Hossain, M.B., Matin, A., et al. (2018a) Assessment of heavy metal pollution, distribution and source apportionment in the sediment from Feni River estuary, Bangladesh. *Chemosphere*, 202: 25–32. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2018.03.077.
- Islam, S., Proshad, R. and Ahmed, S. (2018b) Ecological risk of heavy metals in sediment of an urban river in Bangladesh. *Human and Ecological Risk Assessment: An International Journal*, 24 (3): 699–720. doi:10.1080/10807039.2017.1397499.
- Islam, S.M.D., Bhuiyan, M.A.H., Rume, T., et al. (2016) Assessing Heavy Metal Contamination in the Bottom Sediments of Shitalakhya River, Bangladesh; Using Pollution Evaluation Indices and Geo-spatial Analysis. *Pollution*, 2 (3): 299–312. doi:10.7508/pj.2016.03.005.
- Kolås, Å., Barkved, L., Bhattacharjee, J., et al. (2013a) *Water Scarcity in Bangladesh*. Kolås, Å., Barkved, L., Bhattacharjee, J., et al. (eds.). Hausmanns gate: Peace Research Institute Oslo (PRIO).
- Kolås, Å., Barkved, L., Bhattacharjee, J., et al. (2013b) *Water Scarcity in Bangladesh*. Hausmanns gate.

- Ludvík, J. (2000) CHROME BALANCE IN LEATHER PROCESSING. Available at: https://leatherpanel.org/sites/default/files/publicationsattachments/chrome_balance_in_leather_processing.pdf (Accessed: 29 November 2018).
- Mohiuddin, K.M., Alam, M.M., Ahmed, I., et al. (2015) Heavy metal pollution load in sediment samples of the Buriganga river in Bangladesh. *Journal of the Bangladesh Agricultural University*, 13 (2): 229–238. Available at: http://ageconsearch.umn.edu/bitstream/235285/2/10. JBAU 756-15 final.pdf.
- Mohiuddin, K.M., Ogawa, Y., Zakir, H.M., et al. (2011) Heavy metals contamination in water and sediments of an urban river in a developing country. *International Journal of Environmental Science & Technology*, 8 (4): 723–736. doi:10.1007/BF03326257.
- Müller, G. (1979) Heavy Metals in the Sediment of the Rhine-Changes Seity. Umschau in Wissenschaft und Technik, 79, 778-783.
- Nargis, A., Sultana, S., Raihan, M.J., et al. (2018) Multielement analysis in sediments of the River Buriganga (Bangladesh): potential ecological risk assessment. *International Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*, 16: 1663–1676. doi:10.1007/s13762-018-1822-8.
- NEWAGE (2019) A shocking further delay in tannery relocation. NEWAGE, 26 December. Available at: https://www.newagebd.net/article/94630/a-shockingfurther-delay-intanneryrelocation?fbclid=IwAR2IuKp1Xm1stel4IMYRmWkqt1Sv3f0dGJOZjtU bvfcflrye8RGXVo6WVJk.
- NEWAGE (2022) Bangladesh Pollution from tanneries in Savar on rise. *NEWAGE*, 15 July. Available at: https://www.newagebd.net/article/175931/pollution-from-tanneries-in-savar-on-rise.
- de Oliveira, L.M., Gress, J., De, J., et al. (2016) Sulfate and chromate increased each other's uptake and translocation in As-hyperaccumulator Pteris vittata. *Chemosphere*, 147: 36–43. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2015.12.088.
- De Oliveira, L.M., Ma, L.Q., Santos, J.A.G., et al. (2014) Effects of arsenate, chromate, and sulfate on arsenic and chromium uptake and translocation by arsenic hyperaccumulator Pteris vittata L. *Environmental Pollution*, 184: 187– 192. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2013.08.025.
- Peralta-Videa, J.R., Lopez, M.L., Narayan, M., et al. (2009) The biochemistry of environmental heavy metal uptake by plants: Implications for the food chain. *International Journal of Biochemistry and Cell Biology*, 41 (8–9): 1665–1677. doi:10.1016/j.biocel.2009.03.005.
- R Core Team (2019) R A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.
- Rasul, G. (2015) Water for growth and development in the Ganges, Brahmaputra, and Meghna basins: an economic perspective. *International Journal of River Basin Management*, 13 (3): 387–400. doi:10.1080/15715124.2015.1012518.
- Roy, P. (2017) Tannery Relocation Impact: Situation getting better, slowly. The
Daily Star, 17 July, p. 1. Available at:

https://www.thedailystar.net/frontpage/dhaka-tannery-relocation-impactsituation-getting-better-slowly-1434166 (Accessed: 27 November 2018).

- Roy, P. and Akash, A.R. (2018) Water Pollution: Dhaleshwari River in danger. *The Daily Star*, 14 June, p. 1. Available at: https://www.thedailystar.net/frontpage/dhaleshwari-danger-1590847 (Accessed: 27 November 2018).
- Saha, P.K. and Hossain, M.D. (2011) "Assessment of Heavy Metal Contamination and Sediment Quality in the Buriganga River, Bangladesh." In 2nd International Conference on Environmental Science and Technology. 2011. pp. 384–388. doi:10.1016/j.aqpro.2013.07.003.
- Sikder, D. and Islam, M.S. (2016) Heavy Metal Contamination Assessment of the Buriganga River Bed Sediment. *Proceedings of 3rd International Conference on Advances in Civil Engineering*, (December): 21–23.
- Tamim, U., Khan, R., Jolly, Y.N., et al. (2016) Elemental distribution of metals in urban river sediments near an industrial effluent source. *Chemosphere*, 155: 509–518. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2016.04.099.
- Taylor S. R. (1964) Abundance of chemical elements in the continental crust: a new table. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, Vol.28, 1273–1285, 1964.
- Turekian, K. K. and Wedepohl, K. H. (1961) Distribution of elements in some major units of the Earth's crust, *Geological Society of America*, Bulletin 72, 175–192.
- USEPA (1996) Alkaline Digestion for Hexavalent Chromium. Method 3060A. Washington, DC: USEPA. (aliquot = a portion of a larger whole, especially a sample taken for chemical analysis or other treatment.). doi:10.24454/jps.19.0_81_3.
- Whitehead, P.G., Sarkar, S., Jin, L., et al. (2015) Dynamic modeling of the Ganga river system: Impacts of future climate and socio-economic change on flows and nitrogen fluxes in India and Bangladesh. *Environmental Sciences: Processes and Impacts*, 17 (6): 1082–1097. doi:10.1039/c4em00616j.
- Yi, Y., Yang, Z. and Zhang, S. (2011) Ecological risk assessment of heavy metals in sediment and human health risk assessment of heavy metals in fishes in the middle and lower reaches of the Yangtze River basin. *Environmental Pollution*, 159 (10): 2575–2585. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2011.06.011.

Optimisation of seed germination and seedling emergence of Sesbania cannabina (Retz.) Poir.

Abstract

Assessment of seed germination and seedling emergence are essential steps for toxicity testing and phytoremediation studies. The life cycle of a plant depends on seed germination and seedling emergence. *Sesbania cannabina,* a leguminous fodder crop with rapid growth and high biomass production, is naturally growing in many areas worldwide and may have phytoremediation potential. This study aims to optimise the condition for seed germination and seedling emergence of *Sesbania cannabina* for a phytoremediation study.

In this experiment, seed germination was carried out using two growth media: Murashige and Skoog basal medium (MS); and Whatman Grad 1 filter paper (FP), using the top of media or top of the paper method under three different photoperiods. Seeds were pretreated for different lengths of time with various concentrations of hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) (v/v) multiple hot water treatments. Only imbibed seeds were considered for the germination study in all pre-treatment conditions. In addition, seed emergence was determined within soil and compost. Results showed that seeds pre-treated with H₂O₂ (6% v/v) for 5 minutes and primed with 65°C water for 5 minutes were considered as the ideal pre-treatment condition. Different photoperiods and media used in germination in this experiment do not significantly affect seed germination. The optimum condition for seed germination at 27.5 °C ± 2.5°C and a relative humidity of ~ 75% for 5 days. Seed emergence in soil and compost was significantly affected by the burial depth and bulk density of the media, with the highest (98%±1) seed emergence observed at 1 cm depth for soil and compost, and decreasing with increased burial depth. This ideal condition will help in further studies related to plant growth and phytoremediation of S. *cannabina*.

Key Words: Sesbania cannabina, germination, seedling emergence, hydrogen peroxide.

3.1 Introduction

The accumulation of heavy metals (HM) in the biosphere due to anthropogenic activities has become a widespread problem (Zwolak et al., 2019; Awa and Hadibarata, 2020; Vardhan et al., 2019). To date, there has been substantial research in the field of soil pollution, its effect on plants and phytoremediation, including the effects on seed germination and early stages of plant growth (Kuriakose and Prasad, 2008; Munzuroglu and Geckil, 2002). Phenotypic and morphological changes occur in response to various biotic and abiotic stressors (e.g. heavy metals) during seed germination, which is very important for the plant life cycle (Wojtyla et al., 2016). The actual effect of contaminants on seed germination is difficult to assess until 100 %, or maximum seed germination, is achieved before toxicological studies. Some research has failed to state the maximum germination condition in their research, providing an important limitation to the interpretation of these studies (i.e Zhi et al., 2015; Guterresa et al., 2019; Sahoo et al., 2018).

Numerous environmental factors affect the germination of wetland species, including daytime temperature variations, water availability, oxygen, flooding and shallow sediment cover (Lorenzen et al., 2000; Webb et al., 2009). For some types of seeds, seed cover hinders water penetration and prevents the embryo from growing (Shreelalitha et al., 2015; Chanda et al., 2017). Many plant species have been studied for phytoremediation of heavy metals and it is crucial to understand the seed germination condition before phytoremediation studies. It has been reported that *Sesbania* (genus) seeds of Fabaceae or Leguminosae family have such a seed coat that prevents imbibition and thus hinders germination (Guppy, 1912). There are several ways to increase seed germination rate in the presence of

a seed coat and among the most important are a) temperature (e.g. hot water treatment) (e.g.Iqbal et al., 2019) b) pre-treatment with Polyethylene Glycol (PEG 6000) (e.g.Muscolo et al., 2014) c) use of beneficial fungi (e.g. *Trichoderma harzianum*) (Bharath et al., 2005) d) seed disinfection (e.g NaClO or H₂O₂) (Iqbal et al., 2019; Chigbo and Batty, 2013) and e) use of Gibralic Acid (GA3) (Kołodziejek et al., 2017; Lawes and Anderson, 1980). Several techniques have been applied to increase the germination rate of legume species seeds, such as hot water treatment and physical or acid scarification (Dan and Brix, 2007).

Sesbania cannabina, an annual shrub, is commonly found in China, the Indian subcontinent, southeast Asia, Papua New Guinea, Australia and the South Pacific Islands (Sarwar et al., 2015). Summer environments are suitable for rapid growth (up to 3.5 m) and development; however, the plant can grow in spring and autumn (Rao and Gill, 1995; Sarwar et al., 2015). Each mature plant can produce around 1,200 pods, which contain about 24 thousand more or less dark green to brown, rod-like seeds (Rao and Gill, 1995; Sarwar et al., 2015). The present study aimed to determine suitable conditions for maximum germination of the seeds of *Sesbania cannabina*. To achieve maximum germination and seedling emergence, we have considered the following experiment steps (1) identification of the appropriate dose of disinfectants (H_2O_2) for seed before germination, (2) ambient temperature for hot water treatment of seed, (3) suitable media for germination, (4) ambient air temperature for seed germination, (5) photoperiod for seed germination, and (6) seedling emergence from different burial depth of seeds.

Page 72

3.2 Methodology

It was essential to achieve maximum (99%±1%) germination under optimal conditions before studying the impact of abiotic stress on seed germination. During the germination study, radicle size \geq 2 mm represents the successful germination of the seed (Adhikari et al., 2022; Vidak et al., 2022). Seed germination percentages were assessed on day five after incubation based on a combined germination count of replicates (n=6).

3.2.1 Seed Collection and Storage

For use in all experiments, seeds of *S. cannabina* were collected in 2018 from Shobuz Biz Bhar, Bangladesh, a locally reputed seed-selling company and stored under dry conditions at 4°C temperature (Webb et al., 2009) for six months before use (figures 3.1 A).



Figure 3.1: Images of *S. cannabina* seed 1(A) healthy seeds before treatment, 1(B) after imbibition of seeds treated with hot water (65° C)

3.2.2 Seed selection and preparation for germination

Seed selection was performed by examination under a dissecting microscope (Stereo Microscope SZ61TR), and deteriorated seeds (e.g., dirty or void seeds)

were rejected. Initially, selected seeds were then surface sterilised and treated with hot water. After treatment, seeds that appeared to be fully imbibed (water uptake by the dry seed) (figure 1. B) were selected for the germination experiment.

3.2.3 Effect of disinfectant and hot water treatment on seed germination

To determine the effectiveness of disinfectant on seed germination, healthy seeds were surface sterilised (soaked) in an orbital shaker (200 RPM, 5 minutes) with different concentrations (1%, 2%, 3%, 4%, 5%, 6%, 7% and 8%) of hydrogen peroxide (v/v) (Chigbo and Batty, 2013; Wojtyla et al., 2016). Following treatment, seeds were rinsed with de-ionised water and transferred to a petri dish (9 cm diameter). Five replicates of each treatment were prepared with 10 seeds per dish. These were incubated for five days at an air temperature of 25 ° C. After five days, a spot check for microbial growth was performed under the dissecting microscope. If any microbial growth was evident, this was considered positive (+) and where there was no visible microbial growth, negative (-). Minimum concentrations that showed maximum germination with negative results were considered a suitable disinfectant dose.

After surface-sterilisation (at a concentration discussed in 3.3.1), seeds were primed with different temperatures of hot de-ionised water temperatures of 50°C, 55°C, 60 °C, 65°C, 70°C, 75°C, 80°C, 85°C, 90°C, 95°C and 100°C for 5 min. After treatment, seeds were placed on double-layer Whatman® 1 filter paper (FP). For each hot water treatment, 10 seeds were placed in each petri dish (9 cm diameter) on a growth medium (e.g., filter paper and MS media) with 6 replicates of each treatment.

3.2.4 Effect of growth media on seed germination

A wide variety of growth media have been used within germination experiments, including Murashige and Skoog basal medium (MS) (Siddiqui et al., 2014) and filter paper (moistened with 5 ml deionized water) (Chigbo and Batty, 2013) and Bacto agar (Bae et al., 2016). In this experiment, modified Murashige and Skoog basal medium (MS) and filter paper (FP) (Whatman Grad 1 filter) were compared for seed germination. Whatman Grade 1 filter paper (FP) meets the ISTA (International Seed Testing Association) requirement (Healthcare, n.d.). MS medium is also used in phytoremediation studies, especially for germination and seedling growth (Santiago-Cruz et al., 2014; Lusa et al., 2019). Both media did not contain any persistent, bio-cumulative or toxic compounds for plant growth (Buendía-González et al., 2010).

To determine how growth medium affects seed germination, 10 seeds were placed petri dish (in 9-cm-diameter, six replicates) on the growth medium (double layer of Whatman No. 1 filter paper (FP) and modified Murashige and Skoog basal medium (MS)). The growth media were then soaked with 5.0 ml of de-ionised water (Milli-Q® Gradient A10TM), the petri dishes were wrapped with para-film to avoid evaporation and placed in a vitopod® propagator (temperature controlled, fixed at 28°C±1°C). In this experiment, MS was modified by adding sucrose and agar, modified MS medium containing 4.4 g MS, 30 g sucrose and 8 g nutrient agar per litre of medium (Buendía-González et al., 2010).

3.2.5 Effect of Temperature and Photoperiod

To understand the effect of temperature and photoperiod on seed germination, seeds were incubated at seven different fixed temperatures (5°C, 10°C, 15°C, 20°C,

25°C, 30°C and 35°C) under three different light treatments, **1**. darkness (24 h), **2**. light (24 h) and **3**. photoperiod (12/12-h). Petri dishes were covered with carbon paper to create darkened conditions for germination. All seeds were pre-treated with H_2O_2 and hot water (65°C).

3.2.6 Effect of burial depth for different growth medium on seedling emergence

Borosilicate glass cylinders (42mm diameter x 310mm height) with no drainage holes were filled to approximately 280 mm depth with growth medium (soil (~360 g) or compost (~120 g) and covered with dark paper. Two growth media were used in this experiment. The first was a sandy loam soil (supplied by Singletons Nurseries, UK) with a pH of 7.3, containing 2.1% organic matter 62, 87, and 412 kg ha⁻¹ of N (nitrogen), P (phosphorus), and K (potassium) respectively. The second was compost (supplied by Singletons Nurseries, UK) with a pH of 5.3-5.8, containing \geq 57 \pm 2 % organic matter and 204, 104, and 339 kg ha⁻¹ N,P,), and K, respectively. Before use, the soil/compost was autoclaved (to avoid contamination) and sieved with a 2-mm mesh net. Two seeds were placed at different depths for each treatment (with three replicates) and then covered with soil/compost to form depths of 1.0, 2.0, 3.0, 4.0, 5.0, 6.0, 7.0, 8.0, 9.0 and 10.0 cm and irrigated with deionized water. A depth level of 0 cm (top of soil/compost) was excluded due to the risk of inadequate seed-soil/compost interaction and lower water uptake (Messersmith et al., 2000) and predation by pests (Chauhan et al., 2012). We consider seedling emergence while the shoots appear at the soil surface and were recorded every 24h from sowing up to 7 days.

3.2.7 Germination percentage

Germination percentage (TG_{hour})(at 12-hour intervals) was calculated using the formula (Bae et al., 2016):

$$TG_{hour} = \frac{\text{Number of germinated seeds at fixed hour}}{\text{Total number of seeds}} \times 100$$

3.2.8 Statistical analysis

Pearson Correlation (2-tailed) (correlation is significant at the 0.01 level) and Oneway Analysis of Variance was carried out with SPSS (v 25). We checked normality and homogeneity of variance assumptions before ANOVA. When a significant (p < 0.05) difference was observed between treatments, multiple comparisons were made using the Tukey post-hoc test.

3.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.3.1 Effect of disinfectant and hot water treatment on seed germination

The results showed that $\ge 6\%$ H₂O₂ (v/v) concentration was most suitable for the disinfection of *S. cannabina* seeds (table 3.1). A higher concentration ($\ge 30 \%$ v/v) of H₂O₂ has the capacity to damage tissues (Public Health England, 2009), and for that reason, 6% H₂O₂ is considered the most suitable concentration for seed disinfectants.

Hydrogen peroxide was previously recognised as a harmful chemical can damage cell or cell viability. Many studies have focused on the function of hydrogen peroxide in seed germination (Wojtyla et al., 2016; Barba-Espín et al., 2012); but the actual function of this molecule remains unknown. The main function of H₂O₂ in seed

germination is recognised as disinfection of the seed and as a signalling molecule for germination (Barba-Espín et al., 2012).

Table 3.1: Effect of different concentrations of H_2O_2 (where (+) means microbial growth and (–) is no microbial growth).

Dose (v/v)	Petri dish 1	Petri dish 2	Petri dish 3	Petri dish 4	Petri dish 5
1 %	+	+	+	+	+
2 %	+	+	+	+	+
3 %	+	+	+	+	+
4 %	+	+	-	+	-
5 %	-	-	+	-	-
6 %	-	-	-	-	-
7 %	-	-	-	-	-
8 %	-	-	-	-	-

In this section, after H_2O_2 (6%, v/v, 5 min) treatment, seeds were primed with different water temperatures and allowed to germinate in the germination chamber. Within 60 hours, the maximum germination was achieved under conditions of 65°C (98.2±1%) (pre-treatment for 5 min) (figure 3.2).



Figure 3.2: Effect of seed pre-treatment with hot water (for 5 min) on germination of *Sesbania cannabina* seeds at day 5. Error bars are standard error (n =5). Identical letters indicate no significant difference, as determined by Tukey's LSD ($p \le 0.001$).

Due to low water permeability, the hard seed coat of *S. cannabina* makes the seed physically dormant, and this morphological characteristic makes these seeds resilient to various stressors (Veasey et al., 2000). The low temperature of the water is inadequate to soften the seed coat, while high temperature has a lethal impact on seed germination (Tarrega et al. 1992). Dan and Brix (2007) showed that 70°C hot water pre-treatment produced a higher *S. sesban* seed germination rate than pre-treatment with 60°C water or 98% H₂SO₄. In another study, seeds of *S. sesban* were first soaked in water at 80°C for 8 min to achieve (92±1.1%) germination (Wang and Hanson, 2008).

lqbal et al., (2019) achieved 95 % \pm 1 seed germination for *S. cannabina* by soaking seeds with sodium hypochlorite (NaClO) (1% v/v) for 1 min, followed by pretreatment with boiling water (100 \pm 2 °C). In our experiment seeds treated with H₂O₂ (6%, v/v) showed higher germination percentages (99 \pm 1) than sodium hypochlorite (78 \pm 1) (lqbal et al., 2019). In addition to that, the concentration used in our experiment has been found in many domestic (chlorine-free) bleach products and is more environmentally friendly than sodium hypochlorite (Public Health England, 2009, 2015; SCHER, 2008). 65°C hot water (for 5 min) was found to be the best suitable pre-treatment temperature for seed germination (figure 3.2). In this experiment, we observed maximum germination (in 5 days) with a combination of pre-treated with H₂O₂ (6%, v/v) and 65°C hot water (for 5 min).

3.3.2 Effect of growth medium on seed germination

No significant difference (p > 0.05) was observed on seed germination rate between two different media (figure 3.3).



Figure 3.3: Seed germination on two different growth media. Error bars are standard deviation from the mean (n=5).

3.3.3 Effect of Temperature and Photoperiod

Seed germination at different temperatures (constant incubation temperatures) showed that temperature had a significant effect on germination ($p \le 0.005$), and we also observed no significant effect of photoperiod on germination (p > 0.05) in each constant incubation temperature. In addition, only 0-4 % germination percentages were observed in 12/12-h photoperiod compared to day and night photoperiod thus, we can conclude that the seeds demonstrated a neutral photoblastic response (figure 3.4) where seeds can germinate in with or without light. Research has previously shown that dark and light conditions do not affect germination for seeds of *S. sesban* (Dan and Brix, 2007; Graaff and Staden, 1984). This may allow germination from greater burial depths (see figure 3.5).





The highest germination was recorded at temperatures between 25° C and 30° C, and germination percentages declined slowly as temperatures increased (> 30° C) or decreased (< 25° C) (figure 3.4). However, we observed no germination below 10° C. Enzyme activity and hormone synthesis during seed germination was impacted by the growth chamber or room temperature (Baskin and Baskin 2014). Thus, temperature (germination chamber or air) has a very high impact on germination. Research on *S. sesban* showed that the highest germination was observed at temperatures between 30 and 37 °C, but germination stopped below 13 °C or above 45 °C (Dan and Brix, 2007). In a similar study, lqbal et al., (2019) observed the highest germination of *S. cannabina* seeds (87%) at 32° C. *S. cannabina* seeds exhibit germination capacity in a wide range of temperatures, indicating that they have high adaptability and can germinate throughout the year in tropical countries. Hence, *S. cannabina* becomes more adaptive in diverse climates (15°C to 37°C).

3.3.4 Effect of burial depth within different growth media on seedling emergence

We observed a significant impact of varying burial depths on the seedling emergence of *S. cannabina* (p< 0.001) (figure 3.5), and the result showed that with an increase in burial depth, the seedling emergence rate declined. Comparing the two-growth media, the seed grown in compost exhibited more potential towards germination through different burial depths and recorded 9% higher germination than the seed germinated in soil. For both compost and soil, we observed maximum emergence (98±1%) for seeds buried under 1 cm depth, but with an increase in burial depth, seed germination and seedling emergence varied between the two media.



Figure 3.5: Seed emergence results of *S. cannabina* grown on soil and compost in a glasshouse at different depths, 28 C for 7 d. Error bars are standard deviation from the mean (n=5).

In this experiment, seeds buried \geq 10 cm could not emerge within 7 days. We also observed that *S. cannabina* had the capacity to emerge from soil (\leq 7 cm) and compost (\leq 8 cm) within 7 days. Similar studies related to seedling emergence also show that seedling emergence had a negative correlation with seed burial depth

(Mennan and Ngouajio, 2006; Önen et al., 2018; Zhao et al., 2018). Stored food (carbohydrate reserve) within the seeds allows seeds to grow in dark conditions (Mennan and Ngouajio, 2006), but *S. cannabina* seeds have a moderate reserve compared to other plant species (Chanda et al., 2017), thus allowing the plant to grow from the deep burial (\leq 9cm).

3.4 Conclusion

Identifying viable seeds for assessing the phototoxicity of contaminants for germination studies is crucial. In summary, the results of this study demonstrate that *S. cannabina* can germinate and emerge within diverse environmental conditions. Treatment with 6% (v/v) H₂O₂ (5min) and 65°C hot water (5min), allowed seeds of *S. cannabina* to germinate rapidly under growth conditions of 25°C to 30°C. *S. cannabina* seed can emerge from burial depth in the soil (up to 8 cm) and compost (upto 9 cm) indicates that these seeds did not require any unique technique for cultivation.

3.5 References

- Adhikari, B., Olorunwa, O.J. and Barickman, T.C. (2022) Seed Priming Enhances Seed Germination and Morphological Traits of Lactuca sativa L. under Salt Stress. Seeds, 1 (2): 74–86. doi:10.3390/seeds1020007.
- Awa, S.H. and Hadibarata, T. (2020) Removal of Heavy Metals in Contaminated Soil by Phytoremediation Mechanism: a Review. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution*, 231 (2). doi:10.1007/s11270-020-4426-0.
- Bae, J., Benoit, D.L. and Watson, A.K. (2016) Effect of heavy metals on seed germination and seedling growth of common ragweed and roadside ground cover legumes. *Environmental Pollution*, 213: 112–118. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2015.11.041.
- Barba-Espín, G., Hernández, J.A. and Diaz-Vivancos, P. (2012) Role of H2O2 in pea seed germination. *Plant Signaling & Behavior*, 7 (2): 193–195. doi:10.4161/psb.18881.
- Bharath, B.G., Lokesh, S. and Shetty, H.S. (2005) Effects of fungicides and

bioagents on seed Mycoflora, growth and yield of watermelon. *Integrative Biosciences*, 9 (2): 75–78. doi:10.1080/17386357.2005.9647254.

- Buendía-González, L., Orozco-Villafuerte, J., Cruz-Sosa, F., et al. (2010) Prosopis laevigata a potential chromium (VI) and cadmium (II) hyperaccumulator desert plant. *Bioresource Technology*, 101: 5862–5867. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2010.03.027.
- Chanda, S., Mridul, A., Sagar, A., et al. (2017) Germination and seedling growth of Sesbania species as influenced by seed size. *Progressive Agriculture*, 28 (4): 316–322. doi:10.3329/pa.v28i4.36371.
- Chauhan, B.S., Singh, R.G. and Mahajan, G. (2012) Ecology and management of weeds under conservation agriculture: A review. *Crop Protection*, 38: 57–65. doi:10.1016/j.cropro.2012.03.010.
- Chigbo, C. and Batty, L. (2013) Effect of combined pollution of chromium and benzo (a) pyrene on seed growth of Lolium perenne. *Chemosphere*, 90 (2): 164–169. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2012.06.021.
- Dan, T.H. and Brix, H. (2007) The influence of temperature, light, salinity and seed pre-treatment on the germination of Sesbania sesban seeds. *African Journal* of *Biotechnology*, 6 (19): 2231–2235.
- Graaff, J.L. and Staden, J. van (1984) The germination characteristics of two Sesbania species. *South African Journal of Botany*, 3 (1): 59–62. doi:10.1016/S0022-4618(16)30082-1.
- Guppy, H.B. (1912) Studies in seeds and fruits. London: Williams and Norgate.
- Guterresa, J., Rossatoa, L., Doleyb, D., et al. (2019) Assessing germination characteristics of Australian native plant species in metal/metalloid solution. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 364: 173–181. doi:10.1016/j.envexpbot.2010.05.005.
- Healthcare, G.E. (n.d.) Performance evaluation of Whatman [™] germination paper., pp. 2–5.
- Iqbal, N., Manalil, S., Chauhan, B.S., et al. (2019) Germination biology of sesbania (Sesbania cannabina): An emerging weed in the australian cotton agroenvironment. *Weed Science*, 67 (1): 68–76. doi:10.1017/wsc.2018.62.
- Kołodziejek, J., Patykowski, J. and Wala, M. (2017) Effect of light, gibberellic acid and nitrogen source on germination of eight taxa from dissapearing European temperate forest, Potentillo albae-Quercetum. *Scientific Reports*, 7 (1): 1–9. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-13101-z.
- Kuriakose, S. V. and Prasad, M.N. V (2008) Cadmium stress affects seed germination and seedling growth in Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench by changing the activities of hydrolyzing enzymes. *Plant Growth Regulation*, 54: 143–156. doi:10.1007/s10725-007-9237-4.
- Lawes, G.S. and Anderson, D.R. (1980) Influence of temperature and gibberellic acid on kiwifruit (Actinidia chinensis) seed germination. *New Zealand Journal* of *Experimental Agriculture*, 8 (3–4): 277–280. doi:10.1080/03015521.1980.10426272.

- Lorenzen, B., Brix, H., McKee, K.L., et al. (2000) Seed germination of two Everglades species, Cladium jamaicense and Typha domingensis. *Aquatic Botany*, 66 (3): 169–180. doi:10.1016/S0304-3770(99)00076-5.
- Lusa, M., Help, H., Honkanen, A.P., et al. (2019) The reduction of selenium(IV) by boreal Pseudomonas sp. strain T5-6-I Effects on selenium(IV) uptake in Brassica oleracea. *Environmental Research*, 177 (June): 108642. doi:10.1016/j.envres.2019.108642.
- Mennan, H. and Ngouajio, M. (2006) Seasonal cycles in germination and seedling emergence of summer and winter populations of catchweed bedstraw (Galium aparine) and wild mustard (Brassica kaber). Weed Science, 54 (1): 114– 120. doi:10.1614/ws-05-107r1.1.
- Messersmith, D.T., Curran, W.S., Roth, G.W., et al. (2000) Tillage and herbicides affect burcucumber management in corn. *Agronomy Journal*, 92 (1): 181–185. doi:10.2134/agronj2000.921181x.
- Munzuroglu, O. and Geckil, H. (2002) Effects of metals on seed germination, root elongation, and coleoptile and hypocotyl growth in Triticum aestivum and Cucumis sativus. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, 43 (2): 203–213. doi:10.1007/s00244-002-1116-4.
- Muscolo, A., Sidari, M., Anastasi, U., et al. (2014) Effect of PEG-induced drought stress on seed germination of four lentil genotypes. *Journal of Plant Interactions*, 9 (1): 354–363. doi:10.1080/17429145.2013.835880.
- Önen, H., Farooq, S., Tad, S., et al. (2018) The influence of environmental factors on germination of burcucumber (Sicyos angulatus) seeds: Implications for range expansion and management. *Weed Science*, 66 (4): 494–501. doi:10.1017/wsc.2018.20.
- Peralta, J.R., Gardea-Torresdey, L., Tiemann, K.J., et al. (2001) The effects of heavy metals on seed germination and plant growth on alfalfa plant (Medicago sativa). *Bulletin of Environmental contamination and toxicology*, 66 (4): 727– 734. doi:10.1007/s00128-001-0069-z.
- Public Health England (2009) Hydrogen Peroxide -Toxicological Overview. *PHE Centre for Radiation, Chemical and Environmental Hazards*. p. 8. Available at: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads /attachment_data/file/337708/Hydrogen_Peroxide_Toxicological_Overview_ phe_v1.pdf.
- Public Health England (2015) Sodium Hypochlorite Toxicological Overview. *Reactions Weekly.* 1608 (1) pp. 257–257. doi:10.1007/s40278-016-19269-1.
- Rao, D.L.N. and Gill, H.S. (1995) Biomass and biofertilizer production by Sesbania cannabina in alkaline soil. *Bioresource Technology*, 53 (2): 169–172. doi:10.1016/0960-8524(95)00080-X.
- Sahoo, P., Satapathy, K. and Panda, C.R. (2018) Physiological and biochemical changes induced by hexavalent chromium in Sesbania cannabina L. *Research Journal of Chemical and Environmental Sciences*, 6 (5): 10–15.
- Santiago-Cruz, M.A., Villagrán-Vargas, E., Velázquez-Rodríguez, A.S., et al. (2014) Exploring the Cr(VI) phytoremediation potential of Cosmos bipinnatus. *Water,*

Air, and Soil Pollution, 225: 2166. doi:10.1007/s11270-014-2166-8.

- Sarwar, A.K.M.G., Islam, A. and Jahan, S. (2015) Characterization of dhaincha accessions based on morphological descriptors and biomass production. *Journal of Bangladesh Agricultural University*, 13 (1): 55–60.
- SCHER (2008) Scientific opinion on the risk assessment report on sodium hypochlorite.
- Shreelalitha, S.J., Sridhar, K.R. and Sukesh, S. (2015) Seed dormancy and germination in two wild genotypes of Sesbania of the southwest mangroves in India. *Journal of Agricultural Technology*, 11 (4): 895–902.
- Siddiqui, M.M., Abbasi, B.H., Ahmad, N., et al. (2014) Toxic effects of heavy metals (Cd, Cr and Pb) on seed germination and growth and DPPH-scavenging activity in Brassica rapa var. turnip. *Toxicology and Industrial Health*, 30 (3): 238–249. doi:10.1177/0748233712452605.
- Vardhan, K.H., Kumar, P.S. and Panda, R.C. (2019) A review on heavy metal pollution, toxicity and remedial measures: Current trends and future perspectives. *Journal of Molecular Liquids*, 290: 111197. doi:10.1016/j.molliq.2019.111197.
- Veasey, E.A., De Freitas, J.C.T. and Schammass, E.A. (2000) Seed dormance variability among and within species of sesbania. *Scientia Agricola*, 57 (2): 299–304. doi:10.1590/S0103-9016200000200017.
- Vidak, M., Lazarević, B., Javornik, T., et al. (2022) Seed water absorption, germination, emergence and seedling phenotypic characterization of the common bean Landraces differing in Seed Size and Color. Seeds, 1 (4): 324– 339. doi:10.3390/seeds1040027.
- Wang, Y.R. and Hanson, J. (2008) An improved method for breaking dormancy in seeds of Sesbania sesban. *Experimental Agriculture*, 44 (2): 185–195. doi:10.1017/S0014479708006327.
- Webb, J., Miao, S. and Zhang, X.H. (2009) Factors and mechanisms influencing seed germination in a wetland plant sawgrass. *Plant Growth Regulation*, 57 (3): 243–250. doi:10.1007/s10725-008-9341-0.
- Wojtyla, Ł., Lechowska, K., Kubala, S., et al. (2016) Different modes of hydrogen peroxide action during seed germination. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 7 (FEB2016): 1–16. doi:10.3389/fpls.2016.00066.
- Zhao, N., Li, Q., Guo, W., et al. (2018) Effect of environmental factors on germination and emergence of Shortawn Foxtail (Alopecurus aequalis). Weed Science, 66 (1): 47–56. doi:10.1017/wsc.2017.42.
- Zhi, Y., Deng, Z., Luo, M., et al. (2015) Influence of Heavy Metals on Seed Germination and Early Seedling Growth in Eruca sativa Mill. American Journal of Plant Sciences, 06 (05): 582–590. doi:10.4236/ajps.2015.65063.
- Zwolak, A., Sarzyńska, M., Szpyrka, E., et al. (2019) Sources of soil pollution by heavy metals and their accumulation in vegetables: a review. *Water, Air, & Soil Pollution*, 230: 164. doi:10.1007/s11270-019-4221-y.

Chapter 4 :

Effect of chromium on seed germination and root development of *Sesbania cannabina* (Retz.) Poir. in two different growth media.

Abstract

Sediments of the Buriganga Riverbanks in Bangladesh are contaminated with heavy metals from industrial activity, especially chromium (Cr). Sesbania cannabina, a leguminous fodder crop with rapid growth and high biomass production, is found to be naturally growing in these areas and may have phytoremediation potential. This study aims to determine whether S. cannabina can be grown from seed under hexavalent chromium-stressed conditions to establish this species as a tool for phytoremediation. In this experiment, toxicity testing of hexavalent chromium ($K_2Cr_2O_7$) on seed germination was carried out using two growth media: Murashige and Skoog basal medium (MS); and Whatman Grade 1 filter paper (FP), by the top of media or top of paper method respectively. Under low Cr concentrations (\leq 50 ppm), no significant effect was observed in germination or root length. Under high Cr concentrations (increments ranging from 50 to 1000 ppm), 98-100% of seeds germinated in both growth media, but root length decreased to less than half the length of controls in \geq 250 ppm Cr, and root elongation was negligible or stopped in \geq 500 ppm Cr after 96h. Confocal micrographs (stained with propidium iodide) further indicate that damage to the cell wall of lateral root tips of germinated seeds increased with the concentration of Cr(VI), visible from \geq 175 ppm. There was no significant difference observed between the two-growth media. Thus, it can be concluded from this study that S. cannabina can tolerate Cr contamination and can germinate and grow in concentrations of up to 175 ppm Cr(VI).

Keyword: hexavalent chromium; Sesbania cannabina; germination; root elongation.

4.1 Introduction

Many plant species can survive and even thrive in heavy metal-contaminated soil and may have phytoextraction capability depending on the element, metal speciation and plant species (Peralta-Videa et al., 2009; Xiong and Wang, 2005). These plant species may be exploited for decontaminating heavy metal-polluted soils as a low-cost and efficient alternative to existing physical or chemical decontamination processes that may damage the surrounding environment (Malik et al., 2010; Munir et al., 2010; Bah et al., 2010). Seed sprouting and root growth assays have been used to evaluate the heavy metal phyto-toxicity of hazardous waste sites (Salvatore et al., 2008; Kuriakose and Prasad, 2008) and help to understand the phytoremediation capability of the plants (Siddiqui et al., 2014). Seed germination is hindered or stopped due to HM in media (e.g. soil) (Ashraf et al., 2019; Shrestha et al., 2019), but the degrees of influence of heavy metal on germination depends upon plant species and metal types (Kranner and Colville, 2011). Response to HM during germination is one of the potential parameters for selecting the plant for phytoremediation studies. In contrast to research on the phytoremediation of different HM, studies on chromium phytoremediation have got less attention from plant scientists (Hayat et al., 2012; Srivastava et al., 2021). Many plants show wide tolerance to Cr-contaminated environments (López-Luna et al., 2009). Chromium toxicity to seed germination is the first physiological effect of Cr on plants (Singh et al., 2013). Seed germination in a Cr-enriched environment depends on the plant's ability to withstand Cr toxicity. For example, seeds of Avena sativa showed 84% germination inhibition while grown in 4000 ppm Cr(III) (López-Luna et al., 2009), *Hibiscus esculentus* seeds showed 90% germination inhibition

89

for 100 ppm Cr(VI) (Amin et al., 2013) and *Medicago sativa* seeds showed 23% germination inhibition only for 40 ppm Cr(VI) (Peralta et al., 2001).

Scientists worldwide are continuously trying to find a suitable plant for phytoremediation of Cr(VI) contaminated soil and sediment. *Sesbania cannabina,* a fast-growing leguminous plant, might be an appropriate candidate as a tool for phytoremediation for Cr(VI) contaminated soil or sediment (Sarwar et al., 2015; lqbal et al., 2019; Ali et al., 2013). However, knowledge gaps exist in the response of *Sesbania cannabina* to the toxicity of hexavalent chromium. The aim of this study was to determine whether Cr(VI) contamination affects *S. cannabina* germination and root growth as an indicator of suitability for use in a phytoremediation study.

4.2 Methods

For use in all experiments, seeds of *S. cannabina* were collected from Shobuz Biz Bhar, Bangladesh, a locally reputed seed-selling company and stored under dry conditions at room temperature until use.

4.2.1 Experimental design

Assessment of toxicity of chromium (K₂Cr₂O₇, ICP grade) on seed germination of *S. cannabina* was carried out using the top of the paper (Whatman® 1 filter paper (FP)) and top of media method (modified Murashige and Skoog basal medium (MS)) (Siddiqui et al., 2014; Healthcare, n.d.). In all cases, seeds of *S. cannabina* were pre-treated with H₂O₂ (6% v/v) for 5 minutes and primed with 65°C water for 5 minutes before adding Cr(VI) in Petri dishes. Germination chamber conditions were 12 h full spectrum light at temperature 28°C± 1°C and relative humidity of ~

75% for 5 days. This experiment recorded \geq 2mm radicle protuberance from the seed's testa as evidence of germination (Adhikari et al., 2022; Vidak et al., 2022). Seed germination percentages were measured based on the total germination count of each replicate 5 days after incubation. A range of concentrations of Cr(VI) (as K₂Cr₂O₇) (0, 5, 10, 25, 50, 100, 175, 250, 500, 750 and 1000 ppm) was added to the two different types of media in Petri dishes to observe the effect of Cr(VI) on seed germination. Each petri dish contained 10 sterilised (pre-treated) seeds, and six replicates were prepared for each treatment medium.

4.2.2 Seed selection, preparation and growth media for germination

Seed selection was performed by examination under a dissecting microscope, and deteriorated seeds (e.g., dirty or void seeds) were rejected. Healthy seeds were soaked and sterilized (orbital shaker, 200 RPM, 5 minutes) with hydrogen peroxide (6% v/v) and rinsed with running deionized water for 5 min to avoid microbial contamination. This was followed by 65°C±1°C hot water treatment for 5 min to achieve 99±1% germination. After treatment, seeds which appeared to be fully imbibed were selected for investigation.

In this experiment, six replicates of each dose containing 10 seeds were evenly placed in a 9-cm-diameter petri dish on growth medium (double layer of Whatman No. 1 filter paper (FP) and Murashige and Skoog basal medium (MS)). The growth media were then moistened with 5.0 ml of Cr(VI) solution, the Petri dishes were wrapped with para-film to avoid evaporation and placed in a vitopod propagator (temperature controlled, fixed at 28°C±1°C) under full spectrum light.

91
4.2.3 Germination percentage

Germination percentage (at 12-hour intervals) was calculated using the formula (Bae et al 2016):

Germination percentage, TG_{hour}

$$= \frac{\text{Number of germinated seeds at fixed hour}}{\text{Total number of seeds}} \times 100$$

4.2.4 Germination Rate (T₅₀)

The number of germinated seeds was recorded every 12 h for 5 days. Germination rate (T_{50}) refers to the time (hours) to reach 50% of final germination over the 5 days trial and was calculated using the formula (Farooq et al., 2005):

$$T_{50} = \frac{\{(N/2) - ni\}(ti - tj)}{(ni - nj)}$$

Where N is the final number of seed germination at 5 days time (or 120 h) and ni, nj is the cumulative number of seeds germinated by consecutive counts at times ti and tj measured in hours when ni < N/2 < nj.

4.2.5 Radicle (RTI) tolerance indices

The radicle length of germinated seeds was measured from the radicle shoot junction to the tip of the longest radicles after 5 days or at 120 h and expressed as RTI using the formula (Guterresa et al., 2019; Shafiq and Iqbal, 2006):

$$RTI = \frac{\text{Length of the longest radicle in metal treatment}}{\text{Length of the longest radicle in sterilized deionized water}} \times 100$$

4.2.6 Confocal microscopy

To observe the effect of Cr(VI) on *S. cannabina* cell structure of the seed radicle, segments of roots 1.5-2 mm in size were taken and stained with 1 μ g/ml Propidium

lodide (PI) after 120 h. Red fluorescence was then observed under the confocal microscope in the cell wall to determine cell damage (Shi et al., 2016). In healthy cells, the stain remains at the perimeter of the cell. In disrupted cells, the dye enters the cell, giving a red cell body and nucleus. PI was excited at 488 nm, and fluorescence was detected at \geq 585 nm (red channel) (Coskun et al., 2012) using a Zeiss LSM710 ConcoCor3 confocal microscope (Carl Zeiss, Jena, Germany).

4.2.7 Statistical analysis

The One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was carried out with SPSS (v 25) to determine significant differences among treatments and we checked normality and homogeneity of variance assumptions before ANOVA. When a significant (($p \le 0.001$)) difference was observed between treatments, multiple comparisons were made by the Tukey test. A Pearson's correlation analysis was carried out to establish the relationships between phytotoxicity and Cr(VI) dose.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Seed germination

In this study, during exposure to different concentrations of Cr(VI) (0, 5, 10, 25, 50, 100, 175, 250, 500, 750 and 1000 ppm), concentrations \leq 100 ppm were observed to have no significant effect (p >0.05) on final seed germination percentage for both growth media (figure 4.1) at \geq 72 hours, but germination significantly decreased at concentrations \geq 175 ppm (p \leq 0.001). Indeed, in increasing Cr concentrations up to 100 ppm in both growth media (MS and FP), the seed germination percentage was almost constant (98±2 %, Figure 4.2) at 72 hours.



Figure 4.1: Germination percentage of *S. cannabina* recorded at 12-hour intervals during exposure to different concentrations of Cr(VI), shown in 4.1 (A) with MS0, 4.1 (B) with FP (n=60). MS refers to germination on modified Murashige and Skoog basal medium, and FP refers to germination on Whatman No 1 Filter paper.

In addition, there was no statistically significant difference observed among the germination percentages of the controls (0 ppm) and Cr-treated seeds at 48 hours up to 175 ppm, but there was some delay in germination percentage observed with increasing Cr concentration at 36 h compared to seed germination at 5 ppm (figure 4.1(A) and 1(B)). However, some stimulation was observed at 5 ppm for both MS

and FP medium (figure 4.1 (A) and 4.1 (B)). A significant difference in germination percentage at 36 hours was also found for seeds exposed to 100 to 1000 ppm Cr(VI). However, seed germination percentages were not significantly different from each other as detected by Tukey's LSD ($p \le 0.001$) for 0 ppm, 10 ppm, 25ppm, 50 ppm and 100 ppm, but germination percentages at 5 ppm showed a significant difference ($p \le 0.001$) with all other treatments.

For concentrations of Cr \geq 175 ppm seed germination percentage decreased over time. After the seed imbibition, 95±5 % germination was observed at various times for each treatment; 96h for 250 ppm, 108 h for 500 ppm and unable to germinate 100 % at 750 ppm and 1000 ppm within 120h for both media (figure 1(A) and (B)). Compared to the control, germination percentage decreased (except 5 ppm) with increased Cr concentration at all sample times. A strong negative correlation (r=-0.994, p < 0.05) has been recorded for the final germination percentage (for 175, 250, 500, 750 and 1000 ppm at 120 h) with chromium concentration.



Figure 4.2: Germination Rate (T_{50}) of *S. cannabina* at different concentrations of Cr. Error bars are standard deviation from the mean (n=60). MS refers to germination on modified Murashige, and Skoog basal medium and FP refers to germination on the Whatman No 1 Filter paper.

In this experiment, the germination rate (T_{50}) increased ($p \le 0.01$) as the concentration increased from ≥ 100 ppm (figure 4.2). ANOVA results showed that there were no significant changes in seed germination rate (T_{50}) at 0ppm, 10 ppm, 25ppm, and 50 ppm, but T50 at 5 ppm showed a significant difference ($p \le 0.001$) in germination rate (T_{50}) and also showed a substantial increase in T_{50} with an increase of Cr(VI) concentration ≥ 100 ppm dose (figure 4.2).

4.3.2 Maximum Root elongation

A one-way ANOVA was conducted to compare the effect of Cr(VI) concentration on root elongation for different Cr(VI) concentrations at 120h. There is an apparent decrease ($p \le 0.001$) in average root length with an increase in Cr(VI) over time (figure 4.3); however, this was due to delayed seed germination or destruction of root cells with increasing Cr concentration. On the contrary, stimulation of germination was observed at 5 ppm Cr(VI) (figure 4.3(H)) with a higher root length relative to controls for both mediums (p < 0.001 for MS0 and p < 0.001 for FP). Changes in root growth over time were not significantly different from each other as detected by Tukey's LSD ($p \le 0.001$) for 0 ppm, 10 ppm 25 ppm and 50 ppm concentrations at 120h. However, there was a significant negative effect (p<0.05) (at 120 h) of Cr(VI) concentration on root elongation for 100 ppm, 250 ppm, 500 ppm, 750 ppm, and 1000 ppm. Root length decreased with an increase in Cr concentration \geq 100 ppm in both media (figure 4.3, 4.3(C) and 4.3(D)). Root length at 250 ppm was less than half (32.15 % for MS0 and 31.59 % FP) and at 500 ppm was less than a guarter (21.48 % for MS0 and 31.59 % FP) compared to controls at 120 h. At higher concentrations \geq 750 ppm, root elongation was less than 5 mm for both media at 120h.



Figure 4.3: Effect of Chromium on early seedling root length (mm) of *S. cannabina* recorded at 12-hour intervals during exposure to Cr(VI) in both mediums. 4.3 (A) 36h, 4.3 4. (B) 48h, 4.3 (C) 60h, 4.3 (D) 72h, 4.3 (E) 84h, 4.3 (F) 96h, 4.3 (G) 108h and 4.3 (H) 120 h shows *S. cannabina* grown in different concentration of Cr(VI) in both medium. Error bars are standard deviation from mean (n=6). MS0 = Murashige and Skoog basal medium and FP = Whatman No 1 Filter paper (average of highest root length of each treatment calculated and plotted against concentration over time).

A strong negative correlation was observed between Cr(VI) concentration and radicle (RTI) tolerance indices (table 1) (r = -0.942, n = 66, p = < 0.001 for MS0 and r = -0.948, n = 66, p = < 0.001 for FP) for both MS and FP. From the correlation results, it is clear that root length decreases as Cr(VI) increases, and there was no significant difference observed between the two different germination media.

Table 4.1: Radicle (RTI) tolerance indices (%) after 5 day or 120h for different Cr(VI) concentrations (0 to 1000 ppm).

	MS0	FP			
0 ppm	100± 0ª	100.00±0 ^a			
5 ppm	102.65± 0.58 ^b	102.34±0.77 ^b			
10 ppm	97.05± 3.82 ^a	96.92±3.73 °			
25 ppm	97.36± 2.69 ^a	96.09±3.55 °			
50 ppm	95.18± 4.00 ^a	93.93±5.72 °			
100 ppm	85.85± 1.56 ^c	83.57±2.42 ^c			
175 ppm	59.88± 1.02 ^d	57.63±2.02 ^d			
250 ppm	33.00± 0.42 ^e	32.33±2.56 ^e			
500 ppm	22.05± 0.40 ^f	23.17±3.42 ^f			
750 ppm	9.24± 0.10 ^g	9.24±2.18 ^g			
1000 ppm	5.91±0.09 ^h	5.79±1.07 ^h			

**Results are given as the mean and standard error of six. Treatments with the same letter in same column shows no significant difference (P > 0.05) from the control (0 ppm).

There was no significant difference between RTI up to 50 ppm concentration. As the chromium concentration increased \geq 100 ppm , the RTI decreased significantly (p \leq 0.001) and reached 5.76% for MS0 and 5.66% for FP compared to the control value at 1000 ppm (table 4.1).

4.3.3 Effect of Cr(VI) on root structure

Figure 4.4 shows confocal micrographs of PI staining of the cell walls. In the controls (Cr = 0 ppm), fluorescence was localised to the cell wall, as cell walls are not weakened, and the PI cannot enter the cell (figure 4.4, A1 and A2). The cell wall remained intact up to 50 ppm Cr(VI) (not shown in the figure) but started to disrupt at \geq 100 ppm. At 100 ppm concentration, \leq 2 % cells were disrupted (figure 4.4 (B1) and 4.4 (B2).



Figure 4.4: Confocal micrographs (stained with propidium iodide) of the cell wall and damaged cell nuclei (lateral root tips) of *Sesbania cannabina* after 5 day or 120 hours in (A1, A2) 0 ppm (control), (B1, B2) 100 ppm, (C1, C2) 175 ppm; (D1, D2) 250 ppm; (E1, E2) 500 ppm, (F1, F2) 750 ppm and. Scale bars represent 50 μ m ± 1 μ m. MS0 = Murashige and Skoog basal medium and FP = Whatman No 1 Filter paper.

At 175 ppm cell damage started and fluorescence intensity increased. As the concentration of Cr in the media increased (\geq 250 ppm), more cells with stains internal to the cell were observed, and red nuclei showed that increased Cr increased damage to the cells of root tips (figure 4.4, D1 and 4. D2). Cell shape also gives an indicator as to the effects of Cr on root cell growth. Compared to the control, the samples at 250 ppm Cr concentration showed a higher number of damaged cells, but the shape of cell wall remained the same. More damaged cells were observed for \geq 500 ppm concentration (figure 4.5 (E1) and (E2)). Complete cell damage, shape distortion and shrinkage of the cell wall was observed for root cells grown in \geq 750 ppm (figure 4.4 (F1) and (F2)) and 1000 ppm (figure 4.4 (G1) and (G2)).



Figure 4.5: Propidium iodide fluorescence density in the roots grown in different concentration of Cr(VI) (0, 5, 10, 25, 50, 175, 250, 500, 750 and 1000 ppm) after 120 h . MS0 = Murashige and Skoog basal medium and FP = Whatman No 1 Filter paper. Error bars are standard deviation from the mean (n=3).

To quantify cell damage, Image J® (fluorescence density analysis) suggests that fluorescence intensity increases with the increase of hexavalent chromium in the medium (Shi et al., 2016; Ortega-Villasante et al., 2005). The fluorescence intensity (dead cells or cell wall) in the elongation zone of roots (exposed to different concentrations of Cr(VI) from the beginning of the germination) after 120 h was assessed and found not significantly different from each other as detected by Tukey's LSD ($p \le 0.001$) for 0 ppm, 5 ppm, 10 ppm, 25 ppm and 50 ppm but significantly increases in fluorescent intensity \ge 100 ppm at 120h ($p \le 0.001$). The present study strongly suggests that with the increase of chromium concentration, cell shape changes by shrinking, distortion and cell wall rupturing, shown by stronger fluorescence inside the cell body as Cr concentration increases from 100 ppm to 1000 ppm.

4.4 Discussion

Hexavalent chromium (as K₂Cr₂O₇) tolerances were tested by allowing seeds to be germinated in a metal-containing medium because germination is the initial physiological development process altered by the metal (Peralta et al., 2001). Metal toxicity assessment in plants has been assessed by seed germination and root elongation (Salvatore et al., 2008; Cheng and Zhou, 2002). In the present study, the two parameters (seed germination and root elongation), along with the fluorescence confocal micrograph, were measured and calculated in response to Cr(VI) for two separate media.

At 5 ppm concentration, we observed a stimulation effect on seed germination percentage (and root length with time) compared to control (0 ppm) in both media, and the T_{50} (figure 4.2) germination rate also indicated the lowest time required for

T₅₀ (30.05 h for MS0 and 30.001 h for FP). This result is supported by the work carried out by Dixit et al., (2002), who observed low concentration of $Cr(VI) \le 2.5$ ppm increases germination (and root growth) in *Pisum sativum* L. cv. Azad (Pea plant) compare to control. Again, Peralta et al., (2001) also reported a stimulating effect on root elongation compared to the control for Medicago sativa L. (Alfalfa) at 5 ppm Cr(VI) treatment. Some other work has found low concentrations of heavy metals (cadmium, arsenic and copper) to have a minor stimulation effect on seed germination percentage (Lefèvre et al., 2009; Kjær et al., 1998; Chun-xi et al., 2007). It has been well-studied that chromium is a non-essential element for plant growth and development (Hayat et al., 2012; Wakeel and Xu, 2020), but according to Lefèvre et al., (2009), this slight stimulation in germination percentage is due to a low concentration of HM because HM causes oxidative stress (Vardhan et al., 2019), which encounters the reactive oxygen species (ROS) and reactive nitrogen species (RNS) (Tsukagoshi, 2016). In this study, we observed the highest root elongation for 5 ppm treatment at any time, and RTI results (table 4.1) also suggest this.

Notwithstanding the enhanced seed germination at 5 ppm Cr, chromium doses up to 100 ppm had no measurable effect on seed germination percentage \leq 100 ppm Cr(VI) at \geq 72h. This may be because seed coats create a barrier between the embryo and the surrounding environment during and after the imbibition and absorb low amounts of Cr(VI) at a low level of contamination (below 100 ppm), thus preventing harmful effects of contaminants on embryonic root growth (Araújo and Monteiro, 2005; Akinci and Akinci, 2010). T₅₀ results (figure 4.2) suggest that no significant changes were observed in T₅₀ at \leq 50 ppm, but significant differences were observed in T50 results at \geq 100 ppm. The root elongation result (figure 4.3)

suggests that for 100 ppm treatment, there was a significant delay in root elongation compared to control and RTI at 120 h (83.64 % for MS0 and 81.66 % for FP) also shows decrease in RTI. Dixit et al., (2002) reported in *Pisum sativum* L. cv Azad (pea) approximately 15± 2% reduction in root length (at 20.7 ppm Cr(VI)) compared to control because Cr(VI) induced oxidative stress disrupted mitochondrial electron transport. The study of root elongation is considered more insightful and more responsive than germination studies for understanding the toxicity of heavy metals (Hou et al., 2014; Araújo and Monteiro, 2005). This is because, compared to other plant tissues, roots are directly exposed to heavy metals, and it is the initial organ that absorbs the nutrients from the soil (Hou et al., 2014).

At Cr(VI) concentration \geq 175 ppm, strong negative correlations have been observed between chromium concentration and germination percentages because during the imbibition, seed cover softens and becomes more vulnerable (permeable) to numerous stresses (Kranner and Colville, 2011; Wierzbicka and Obidzińska, 1998). This has been suggested to be linked to disruption in oxygen utilization and utilisation or mobilisation of the reserve food stored in seed (Seneviratne et al., 2017). High fluorescence density was observed in the confocal micrograph (at 175 ppm) compared to the control, and greater cell damage was observed (figure 4.4 C (1) and 4.4(C2)). Despite the cell damage and decrease in root length, the *S. cannabina* seeds can germinate, and root length continuously increases over time, thus indicating the capability of the seeds are able to germinate.

In a similar study, Sahoo et al., (2018) examined the effect of hexavalent chromium (up to 80 ppm) on germination and growth of *Sesbania cannabina*,. They reported germination percentages for 80 ppm is about 27.5±1.5%, but germination at 0 ppm

was only 57.5± 0.5 % because they did not follow seed selection protocol (health seed) or prime the seeds with hot water (or other treatment) to achieve 99±1 %. Most importantly, they observed radicle lengths of 41 mm at 20 ppm and 19.5 mm at 80 ppm, but they did not consider the standard size for radicles. For example, the standard growth of seed radical size is ≥ 2 mm considered as germinated (Liu et al., 2003, 1994). It is therefore, essential to select and prime seed to ensure the maximum germination at control for the credibility of the seeds for germination study. Indeed, to observe the detrimental effects of contaminants (heavy metal), researchers should use a higher concentration of contaminants to study seed germination percentages because the study will give a clear insight of the heavy metal effect on seed germination to understand their capability to grow in wide concentration of contaminant (Peralta et al., 2001; Munzuroglu and Geckil, 2002). In this study, after 120 hours at \geq 250 ppm (250 ppm, 500ppm, 750 ppm and 1000 ppm) concentration, \geq 95% (for both mediums) germination was observed for both media, but a significant reduction in root length was observed for 250 ppm, and 500 ppm Cr(VI) concentration and root elongation stopped \geq 750 ppm (figure 4.3). Heavy cell damage was observed with the confocal microscope (figure 4 E (1) and E(2)) at 500 ppm. We considered the germination standard in this experiment when the root length (cell division) through the seed coat was \geq 2mm. However, root length is not always represented by cell division (Liu et al., 2003, 1994) but may be due to cell elongation (Chon et al., 2004; Haber and Luippold, 1960). It has been reported that chromium (VI) accumulates in root cells resulting in the hinderance of plants' radicle growth (Hou et al., 2014). Chromium immobilises in vacuoles of the root cell, helping Cr accumulate in the root, causing wilting and plasmolysis in root cells (Shanker et al., 2005). Figure 4.4 shows almost all outer cells of the root were destroyed at \geq

250 ppm of Cr(VI), and fluorescent density (figure 4.5) results also indicate the findings. This suggests that \geq 250 ppm Cr(VI) concentration severely hindered germination in both media, and thus *S.cannabina* is unable to grow \geq 250 ppm Cr(VI) contaminated soil. Indeed, our confocal microscope images (figure 4.4B (1) and 4B (2)) detected disruption of root cells from 175 ppm. The seeds radicle of *S. cannabina* are able to grow upto 2 mm (indicates germination) up to 1000 ppm Cr but unable to grow (root elongation) \geq 250 ppm Cr(VI), thus indicating that the plant might be used as a phytoremediator in conditions of \leq 175 ppm Cr(VI).

4.5 Conclusion

The toxicity of hexavalent chromium depends on various factors. In this study, we assessed the Cr(VI) concentration in which seeds of *S.cannabina* can germinate and grow to provide an indication of the potential for the plant's phyto-management capability for Cr(VI) contaminated land or sediment. Considering the germination percentage results, root elongation study and confocal images, *S. cannabina* seeds can grow up to 175 ppm of Cr(VI) concentration and root growth stopped \geq 250 ppm. Germination and root growth results suggest the species is a good candidate for the phytoremediation of Cr(VI) concentrations up to 175 ppm Cr(VI).

4.6 References

- Adhikari, B., Olorunwa, O.J. and Barickman, T.C. (2022) Seed Priming Enhances Seed Germination and Morphological Traits of Lactuca sativa L. under Salt Stress. Seeds, 1 (2): 74–86. doi:10.3390/seeds1020007.
- Agarwala, S.C., Kumar, A. and Sharma, C.P. (1961) Effects of excess supply of heavy metals on barley during germination, with special reference to Catalase and Peroxidase. *Nature*, 191: 726–727.
- Akinci, I.E. and Akinci, S. (2010) Effect of chromium toxicity on germination and early seedling growth in melon (Cucumis melo L.). *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 9 (29): 4589–4594.

- Ali, H., Khan, E. and Sajad, M.A. (2013) Phytoremediation of heavy metals-Concepts and applications. *Chemosphere*, 91 (7): 869–881. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2013.01.075.
- Amin, H., Arain, B.A., Amin, F., et al. (2013) Phytotoxicity of Chromium on Germination, Growth and Biochemical Attributes of Hibiscus esculentus L. *American Journal of Plant Sciences*, 04 (12): 2431–2439. doi:10.4236/ajps.2013.412302.
- Araújo, A.S.F. and Monteiro, R.T.R. (2005) Plant bioassays to assess toxicity of textile sludge compost. *Scientia Agricola*, 62 (3): 286–290. doi:10.1590/s0103-90162005000300013.
- Ashraf, S., Ali, Q., Zahir, Z.A., et al. (2019) Phytoremediation: Environmentally sustainable way for reclamation of heavy metal polluted soils. *Ecotoxicology* and Environmental Safety, 174 (March): 714–727. doi:10.1016/j.ecoenv.2019.02.068.
- Bah, A.M., Sun, H., Chen, F., et al. (2010) Comparative proteomic analysis of Typha angustifolia leaf under chromium, cadmium and lead stress. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 184 (1–3): 191–203. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2010.08.023.
- Cheng, Y. and Zhou, Q.X. (2002) Ecological toxicity of reactive X-3B red dye and cadmium acting on wheat (Triticum aestivum). *Journal of Environmental Sciences*. 14 (1) pp. 136–140.
- Chon, S.U., Nelson, C.J. and Coutts, J.H. (2004) Osmotic and autotoxic effects of leaf extracts on germination and seedling growth of alfalfa. *Agronomy Journal*, 96 (6): 1673–1679. doi:10.2134/agronj2004.1673.
- Chun-xi, L., Shu-li, F., Yun, S., et al. (2007) Effects of arsenic on seed germination and physiological activities of wheat seedlings. *Journal of Environmental Sciences*, 19: 725–732.
- Coskun, D., Britto, D.T., Jean, Y.-K., et al. (2012) Silver ions disrupt K + homeostasis and cellular integrity in intact barley (Hordeum vulgare L.) roots. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 63 (1): 151–162. doi:10.1093/jxb/err267.
- Dixit, V., Pandey, V. and Shyam, R. (2002) Chromium ions inactivate electron transport and enhance superoxide generation in vivo in pea (Pisum sativum L. cv. Azad) root mitochondria. *Plant, Cell and Environment*, 25 (5): 687–693. doi:10.1046/j.1365-3040.2002.00843.x.
- Farooq, M., Basra, S.M.A., Ahmad, N., et al. (2005) Thermal hardening: A new seed vigor enhancement tool in rice. *Journal of Integrative Plant Biology*, 47 (2): 187–193. doi:10.1111/j.1744-7909.2005.00031.x.
- Guterresa, J., Rossatoa, L., Doleyb, D., et al. (2019) Assessing germination characteristics of Australian native plant species in metal/metalloid solution. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 364: 173–181. doi:10.1016/j.envexpbot.2010.05.005.
- Haber, A.H. and Luippold, H.J. (1960) Separation of mechanisms initiating cell division and cell expansion in Lettuce seed germination. *Plant Physiology*, 35 (2): 168–173. doi:10.1104/pp.35.2.168.

- Hayat, S., Khalique, G., Irfan, M., et al. (2012) Physiological changes induced by chromium stress in plants: An overview. *Protoplasma*, 249 (3): 599–611. doi:10.1007/s00709-011-0331-0.
- Healthcare, G.E. (n.d.) *Performance evaluation of Whatman*[™] germination paper., pp. 2–5.
- Hou, J., Liu, G.N., Xue, W., et al. (2014) Seed germination, root elongation, root-tip mitosis, and micronucleus induction of five crop plants exposed to chromium in fluvo-aquic soil. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 33 (3): 671–676. doi:10.1002/etc.2489.
- Iqbal, N., Manalil, S., Chauhan, B.S., et al. (2019) Germination biology of sesbania (Sesbania cannabina): An emerging weed in the australian cotton agroenvironment. *Weed Science*, 67 (1): 68–76. doi:10.1017/wsc.2018.62.
- Kjær, C., Pedersen, M.B. and Elmegaard, N. (1998) Effects of soil copper on black bindweed (Fallopia convolvulus) in the laboratory and in the field. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, 35 (1): 14–19. doi:10.1007/s002449900342.
- Kranner, I. and Colville, L. (2011) Metals and seeds: Biochemical and molecular implications and their significance for seed germination. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, 72 (1): 93–105. doi:10.1016/j.envexpbot.2010.05.005.
- Kuriakose, S. V. and Prasad, M.N. V (2008) Cadmium stress affects seed germination and seedling growth in Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench by changing the activities of hydrolyzing enzymes. *Plant Growth Regulation*, 54: 143–156. doi:10.1007/s10725-007-9237-4.
- Lefèvre, I., Marchal, G., Corréal, E., et al. (2009) Variation in response to heavy metals during vegetative growth in Dorycnium pentaphyllum Scop. *Plant Growth Regulation*, 59 (1): 1–11. doi:10.1007/s10725-009-9382-z.
- Liu, D., Jiang, W. and Gao, X. (2003) Effects of cadmium on root growth, cell division and nucleoli in root tip cells of garlic. *Biologia Plantarum*. 47 (1) pp. 79–83. doi:10.1023/A:1027384932338.
- Liu, D., Jiang, W., Wang, W., et al. (1994) Effects of Lead on root growth, cell division, and nucleolus of Allium Cepa. *Environmental Pollution*, 86: 1–4.
- López-Luna, J., González-Chávez, M.C., Esparza-García, F.J., et al. (2009) Toxicity assessment of soil amended with tannery sludge, trivalent chromium and hexavalent chromium, using wheat, oat and sorghum plants. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 163 (2–3): 829–834. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2008.07.034.
- Malik, R.N., Jadoon, W.A. and Husain, S.Z. (2010) Metal contamination of surface soils of industrial city Sialkot, Pakistan: a multivariate and GIS approach. *Environmental Geochemistry and Health*, 32 (3): 179–191. doi:10.1007/s10653-009-9274-1.
- Munir, K., Yusuf, M., Noreen, Z., et al. (2010) Isotherm studies for determination of removal capacity of bi-metal (Ni and Cr) ions by Aspergillus niger. *Pakistan Journal of Botany*, 42 (1): 593–604.

- Munzuroglu, O. and Geckil, H. (2002) Effects of metals on seed germination, root elongation, and coleoptile and hypocotyl growth in Triticum aestivum and Cucumis sativus. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, 43 (2): 203–213. doi:10.1007/s00244-002-1116-4.
- Ortega-Villasante, C., Rellán-Álvarez, R., Del Campo, F.F., et al. (2005) Cellular damage induced by cadmium and mercury in Medicago sativa. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 56 (418): 2239–2251. doi:10.1093/jxb/eri223.
- Peralta-Videa, J.R., Lopez, M.L., Narayan, M., et al. (2009) The biochemistry of environmental heavy metal uptake by plants: Implications for the food chain. *International Journal of Biochemistry and Cell Biology*, 41 (8–9): 1665–1677. doi:10.1016/j.biocel.2009.03.005.
- Peralta, J.R., Gardea-Torresdey, L., Tiemann, K.J., et al. (2001) The effects of heavy metals on seed germination and plant growth on alfalfa plant (Medicago sativa). *Bulletin of Environmental contamination and toxicology*, 66 (4): 727– 734. doi:10.1007/s00128-001-0069-z.
- Sahoo, P., Satapathy, K. and Panda, C.R. (2018) Physiological and biochemical changes induced by hexavalent chromium in Sesbania cannabina L. *Research Journal of Chemical and Environmental Sciences*, 6 (5): 10–15.
- Salvatore, M. Di, Carafa, A.M. and Carratù, G. (2008) Assessment of heavy metals phytotoxicity using seed germination and root elongation tests : A comparison of two growth substrates. *Chemosphere*, 73 (9): 1461–1464. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2008.07.061.
- Sarwar, A.K.M.G., Islam, A. and Jahan, S. (2015) Characterization of dhaincha accessions based on morphological descriptors and biomass production. *Journal of Bangladesh Agricultural University*, 13 (1): 55–60.
- Seneviratne, M., Rajakaruna, N., Rizwan, M., et al. (2017) Heavy metal-induced oxidative stress on seed germination and seedling development: a critical review. *Environmental Geochemistry and Health*, 41: 1813. doi:10.1007/s10653-017-0005-8.
- Shafiq, M. and Iqbal, M.Z. (2006) The Toxicity Effects of Heavy Metals on Germination and Seedling Growth of Cassia siamea Lamk . *Journal of New Seeds*, 7 (4): 95–105. doi:10.1300/j153v07n04_07.
- Shanker, A.K., Cervantes, C., Loza-Tavera, H., et al. (2005) Chromium toxicity in plants. *Environment International*, 31 (5): 739–753. doi:10.1016/j.envint.2005.02.003.
- Shi, Q., Wang, J., Zou, J., et al. (2016) Cadmium localization and its toxic effects on root tips of barleyKadmio lokalizacija ir toksinis poveikis miežių šaknų augimo zonoje. *Zemdirbyste-Agriculture*, 103 (2): 151–158. doi:10.13080/za.2016.103.020.
- Shrestha, P., Bellitürk, K. and Görres, J.H. (2019) Phytoremediation of heavy metalcontaminated soil by switchgrass: A comparative study utilizing different composts and coir fiber on pollution remediation, plant productivity, and nutrient leaching. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 16 (7). doi:10.3390/ijerph16071261.

- Siddiqui, M.M., Abbasi, B.H., Ahmad, N., et al. (2014) Toxic effects of heavy metals (Cd, Cr and Pb) on seed germination and growth and DPPH-scavenging activity in Brassica rapa var. turnip. *Toxicology and Industrial Health*, 30 (3): 238–249. doi:10.1177/0748233712452605.
- Singh, H.P., Mahajan, P., Kaur, S., et al. (2013) Chromium toxicity and tolerance in plants. *Environmental Chemistry Letters*, 11 (3): 229–254. doi:10.1007/s10311-013-0407-5.
- Srivastava, D., Tiwari, M., Dutta, P., et al. (2021) Chromium stress in plants: Toxicity, tolerance and phytoremediation. *Sustainability (Switzerland)*, 13 (9): 1–20. doi:10.3390/su13094629.
- Tsukagoshi, H. (2016) Control of root growth and development by reactive oxygen species. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*, 29: 57–63. doi:10.1016/j.pbi.2015.10.012.
- Vardhan, K.H., Kumar, P.S. and Panda, R.C. (2019) A review on heavy metal pollution, toxicity and remedial measures: Current trends and future perspectives. *Journal of Molecular Liquids*, 290: 111197. doi:10.1016/j.molliq.2019.111197.
- Vidak, M., Lazarević, B., Javornik, T., et al. (2022) Seed Water Absorption, Germination, Emergence and Seedling Phenotypic Characterization of the Common Bean Landraces Differing in Seed Size and Color. *Seeds*, 1 (4): 324– 339. doi:10.3390/seeds1040027.
- Wakeel, A. and Xu, M. (2020) Chromium Morpho-Phytotoxicity. *Plants*, 9 (5): 564. doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/plants9050564.
- Wierzbicka, M.S. and Obidzińska, J. (1998) The effect of lead on seed imbibition and germination in different plant species. *Plant Science*, 137 (2): 155–171. doi:10.1016/S0168-9452(98)00138-1.
- Xiong, Z.-T. and Wang, H. (2005) Copper toxicity and bioaccumulation in Chinese cabbage (Brassica pekinensis Rupr.). *Environmental Toxicology*, 20 (2): 188– 194. doi:10.1002/tox.20094.

Chapter 5 :

Evaluation of the root system of Sesbania cannabina (Retz.) Poir. grown in hexavalent chromium contaminated soils by utilising modified rhizobox systems.

Abstract

Hexavalent chromium is one of the most toxic heavy metals for plants and animals. This poisonous metal contaminates the soil via anthropogenic activities. This study aimed to assess how the root system of Sesbania cannabina behaves under various concentrations of Cr(VI) and whether it could be a suitable species for the phytoremediation of Cr(VI) contaminated soils. The experiment was conducted in rhizoboxes under greenhouse conditions using a sandy loam soil dosed with potassium dichromate giving eight different Cr(VI) concentrations (0 ppm, 5 ppm, 10 ppm, 20 ppm, 40 ppm, 80 ppm, 160 ppm, and 360 ppm). Plant roots were photographed with a Canon 60D (18-megapixel) camera with a 50 mm prime lens and analysed with Image J image processing software. Cr(VI) in samples were prepared by alkaline digestion method and analysed with a UV-visible spectrometer at a wavelength of 540 nm. At 360 ppm concentration, seeds of S. cannabina germinated but were unable to grow further. However, under 0-80 ppm concentrations, no significant change was observed in the root growth (length). At 160 ppm, root growth was reduced by about 55±0.65% at 25 days and 35±0.25 % at 45 days compared to plants grown at 0 ppm. After 45 days, no chromium (VI) was detected in the soil for (0 to 160 ppm); however, for the controls (0 to 160 ppm) with no plants), we observed no changes in Cr(VI). The absence of Cr(VI) in the soil after 45 days suggests that S. cannabina can be considered a candidate for phytoremediation of soils containing up to 160 ppm Cr(VI).

Keywords: Sesbania cannabina, hexavalent chromium, rhizobox, root.

5.1 Introduction

Anthropogenic activities that increase heavy metal pollution in soil and water have become a major environmental and health problem worldwide (Fu and Wang, 2011; Li et al., 2019; Vardhan et al., 2019). Soil fertility and crop production decrease due to heavy metal deposition in soil, whilst heavy metals may also accumulate in crops and enter the food chain (Grant, 2011; Zwolak et al., 2019). Hexavalent chromium [(Cr(VI)] is one of the most carcinogenic heavy metals which contaminates the environment mostly (especially soil) through anthropogenic activities such as mining, tanning and other industrial activities (Li et al., 2019; Zwolak et al., 2019). Several methods have been established for the remediation of contaminated soil (Liu et al., 2012; Molina et al., 2013; Yi et al., 2011). Biological remediation methods are more eco-friendly and less expensive than chemical and physical remediation methods for contaminated soil treatment (Ashraf et al., 2019; Grzegórska et al., 2020). Researchers worldwide are trying to find a suitable species for the phytoremediation of different pollutants because these methods are considered the cheapest and more environmentally friendly than conventional methods (Ashraf et al., 2019; Grzegórska et al., 2020).

In the phytoremediation technique (especially for soil), roots first come into contact with contaminants in the rhizosphere; a complex zone where roots and microorganisms interact with soil and interstitial water. The roots release hydrogen ions and metabolites (exudates) into the soil, thus changing the soil pH and altering nutrient uptake capacity (Marschner and Römheld, 1983; Lin et al., 2004). Root exudates are low molecular weight organics of the root that play a vital role in nutrient uptake and detoxification of hazardous substances (Jones, 1998; Ryan and Delhaize, 2001). Root exudates and microbes in the rhizosphere can alter the

speciation of heavy metals before they interact with the plant root system (Lynch and Leij, 2012; Pinel et al., 2003; Waldrip et al., 2011). In addition to that, root exudates change the dissolved organic carbon (DOC) in soil (Villarino et al., 2021; Ma et al., 2022).

Plants have the capacity to modify root structure to increase the nutrient uptake capacity in stressed conditions (Funakoshi et al., 2018). The study of RSA (root system architecture) has become a promising tool for determining the changes in root structure in response to variations in nutrients and contaminant soil concentration (Giehl and von Wirén, 2014; Voss-Fels et al., 2018). A rhizobox (microcosm) study, an easy, fast and non-destructive method, is widely used by plant scientists to uncover and visualise the active root zone (Neumann et al., 2009; Jia et al., 2019; Corzo Remigio et al., 2021). This rhizobox consists of one observation window made with a transparent polymer sheet (PVC, polyvinyl chloride) panel for root imaging (figure: 2.1) (Lesmes-Vesga et al., 2022; Corzo Remigio et al., 2021; Soledad Graziani et al., 2016). The rhizoboxes do not affect root growth and nutrient uptake; thus, plants grown in rhizoboxes can be compared with naturally growing plants (comparisons among species) (Mašková and Klimeš, 2020).

In this experiment, we have selected a high-yield leguminous fodder crop, *Sesbania cannabina,* to observe the effect of Cr(VI) in the root system (Sarwar et al., 2015). This plant can be found in semi-arid to sub-humid climates and can tolerate various environmental conditions, including seasonally submerged soils, and is common in Bangladesh, where Cr(VI) contamination is a problem (Ren et al., 2019; Sarwar et al., 2015). The study's main objective is to assess the changes in root system

architecture (RSA) under different concentrations of Cr(VI) of the S. cannabina using rhizoboxes.

5.2 Methodology

5.2.1 Soil Preparation

The soil used in the experiments was a sandy loam from Woburn[®] (UK national grid reference SP9736), which is described in Table 1. Air-dried soil was passed through a 2 mm sieve to maintain the homogeneity of the soil. The air-dry soil was subsequently enriched with Potassium-di-chromate (K₂Cr₂O₇) (ICP grade, Mark). Eight (including control) Chromium-containing soil concentrations were prepared (0 ppm, 5 ppm, 10 ppm, 20 ppm, 40 ppm, 80 ppm, 160 ppm and 360 ppm) and transferred to rhizobox.

Table 5.1: Parameters of soil used in this experiment (average values \pm SD (n=3).

Hq	N (kg ha ⁻¹)	P (kg ha⁻¹)	K (kg ha ⁻¹)	OM (%)	Sand (%)	Zn (ppm)	Cu (ppm)	Ni (ppm)	Cr (total) (ppm)	Cr(VI) (ppm)	Pb (ppm)
6.7- 7	62± 2	87± 3	412± 8	3.1 to 3.3	60 to 61%	110± 2.4	36±1 .2	20 ± 1.1	9± 1.2	< 0.1	5±0.2 1

5.2.2 Seed germination, transfer to rhizobox and experiment design:

Seeds were germinated under controlled conditions; 12 h full spectrum light at temperature $28^{\circ}C \pm 1^{\circ}C$ and relative humidity of ~ 75% for 3 days. Seeds were pretreated with H₂O₂ (6% v/v) for 5 minutes and primed with 65°C water for 5 minutes. After 72 hours, three seeds with radicle sizes between 2mm - 4mm were transferred to the top of the soil and covered with 5mm of soil. The experiment design is discussed below

- Step 1 Pre-treated seeds (see chapter 3) were allowed to germinate for 72 hours.
- Step 2 Seeds with 2-5 mm roots radical were transferred to the rhizobox.
- Step 3 Rhizobox photographed every 5 days (from the day of seed transfer).
- Step 4 Plant (root, shoot and leaves) and soil samples collected after 45 days.
- Step 5 Root wet weight and dry weight (dried at 80 °C to constant dry mass) determined.

Step 6 Plant and soil samples analysed for chromium (VI) (see section 5.2.6).

5.2.3 Rhizobox design and development

The design of the box is shown in figure 5.1 [.A Rhizobox; a transparent front plate (Acrylic Sheet, 3mm thickness) and a non-transparent back plate (Foamax® hard, 3mm thickness)].Figure 5.1B rhizobox in a laboratory growth chamber under artificial light (1000W LED Grow Light, MIVARRS® 2x2 ft Plant Grow Lights Full Spectrum) with temperature and humidity controls. The boxes were placed inclined at 45° because root can grow over the transparent surface. Figure 5.1C shows the above and below ground plant biomass visible through rhizobox window to enable monitoring of growth and RSA; figure 5.1D shows processed root images showing full RSA detail. The plant shown is grown in 160ppm Cr(VI) 45 days after germination.

Figure 5.1 shows a detailed experimental setup.



Figure 5.1: Rhizobox set-up.

5.2.4 Laboratory growth chamber

The experiment was conducted in 2021 in a growth chamber set at 27 \pm 0.5 °C temperature and 12 h/12 h day/night photoperiod with 300 mmol m⁻² s⁻¹ photon flux intensity (1000W LED Grow Light, MIVARRS[®] 2x2 ft Plant Grow Lights Full Spectrum) at the plant level with humidity control (75 to 85 %). As the plant can grow in water logged condition, we alaways saturated the soil and as the pots were selled no leachet were drained from the pots.

5.2.5 Root system analysis (RSA)

Plant roots were photographed with a Canon 60D® (18-megapixel) camera with a 50 mm prime lens at 5-day intervals through the transparent window of the rhizobox. As the roots of *S. cannabina* present different colours and some sections resembled that of the soil (figure 5.1), it was necessary to remove the background image interference using image processing software Adobe Photoshop and Image-J program (Corzo Remigio et al., 2021)

5.2.6 Soil sample preparation and Cr(VI) analysis

After considerable plant growth (45 days), the plants were detached from the soil and soil samples were dried at 80°C for 48 hours to a constant weight. Alkaline digestion method (EPA method 3060A) (Alyazouri et al., 2014) was used to determine Cr(VI). The extracted Cr(VI) was reacted with 1,5-diphenylcarbazide (ACS Reagent, Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, UK) in the presence of sulphuric acid and analysed using a UV-visible spectrometer (model: JENWAY spectrophotometer 6505) at a wavelength of 540 nm (de Oliveira et al., 2016; De Oliveira et al., 2014; Alyazouri et al., 2014, 2020).

5.2.7 Dissolved Organic Carbon (DOC) in soil

At the end of the experiment (after 45 days), rhizobox soils were air-dried and passed through a 0.25-mm sieve. 5g of soil was transferred into 50 mL centrifuge tubes, and 30 mL of de-ionised water was added (soil :water ratio of 1:6) (Gao et al., 2017; Zhu et al., 2018). After shaking the tubes for 24 h at room temperature, the samples were centrifuged at a speed of 4000 r min⁻¹ for 20 min and then filtered through 0.45-mm filters. The liquid suspension, i.e., the extracted DOM solution, was preserved in the dark at -20°C until further use. DOM concentration was represented as dissolved organic carbon (DOC), which was measured with a total organic carbon analyser (Shimadzu, TOC-L, Japan).

5.2.8 Evaluation of root growth and Cr(VI) tolerance

Root growth was measured using tap root length, area of root coverage (from the processed photograph taken for RSA) and final root dry weight. We measured the dry weight of the root by rinsing (several times) the harvested root (after 45 days) with de-ionised water, and samples were dried at 80 °C for at least 48 hours to a constant weight. Growth measurements were used for evaluating the weight-to-length ratio (WLR) at day 45, heavy metal HM tolerance index (TI), and root growth ratio (RGR) resistance indicators, which are defined as follows (Baker 1987):

weight to length ratio, WLR (mg
$$cm^{-1}$$
) = $\frac{\text{root biomass (DW, mg)}}{\text{root length (mm)}}$

HM tolerance index, $TI = \frac{\text{root length with Cr(VI)}}{\text{root length without Cr(VI) (control)}}$

Root growth ratio, RGR (%) =
$$\frac{\text{plant biomass with Cr(VI)} (DW, mg)}{\text{plant biomass without Cr(VI)} (DW, mg)(\text{control})} \times 100$$

5.2.9 Statistical analysis

The experiment used a randomized design with 8 different doses of Cr(VI) and 3 replications per dose. Each rhizobox was an experimental unit. Statistical analysis including calculation of average values and standard deviation (S.D.) were calculated by the Microsoft office Excel 2013. The data collected from the different parameters were compared among different doses of Cr(VI) by analysis of variance (ANOVA). The data were processed using SPSS (2025), and a Tukey (LSD) significance difference test was used to compare the means when the differences between treatments were significant ($p \le 0.05$).

5.3 Results and Discussion

We observed no root growth (by visual inspection) during the 360 ppm Cr(VI) treatment experiment. Roots could only grow in \leq 160 ppm Cr(VI) treatment. However, within the 0-160 Cr(VI) range, root growth decreased with increased Cr(VI) treatment (p < 0.05) (figure 5.2). Figure 5.3 shows the root distribution system for the seven different concentrations at eight consecutive times (one randomly selected replicate). It is clear that root growth is severely hindered by over 80 ppm Cr(VI) (figures 5.2 and 5.3). It has been well documented that root growth decreases with the increase of Cr(VI) because metals ion primarily targets the root rather than arial part (Srivastava et al., 2021; Adiloğlu and Göker, 2020; Patra et al., 2020) . Cr(VI) have a high effect on the root length and growth rather than other HM , possibly due to root surface damage, causing leakage of cell content and collapse of root hairs and epidermal cells (Srivastava et al., 2021; Adiloğlu and Göker, 2020; Patra)

Patra et al., 2020). Interestingly, we observed a slight increase in root length for 5 ppm Cr(VI) concentration (figure 5.2), and this enhanced growth under low HM concentrations has been documented elsewhere. Dixit et al., (2002) observed a minor enhancement in the root length of *Pisum sativum* 2 ppm Cr(VI), but a decline in root length by 18% at 20.7 ppm Cr(VI).



Figure 5.2: Average root area coverage (%) over time under increasing concentrations (ppm) of Cr(VI). Bars indicate standard error (n=3)



Figure 5.3: Root coverage over time (up to 210 mm) under increasing concentrations of Cr(VI).

As well as hindered root growth at 160 ppm Cr(VI), we also observed damage to the tip of the root after 20 days with subsequent regrowth and new root development after 25 days (figure 5.4); there was no visible root damage in treatments \leq 80 ppm Cr(VI). Despite root tip damage (death) in the 160 ppm treatment, regrowth and new growth after 25 days suggests Cr(VI) had been effectively lowered, either by absorption by antecedent roots (since persished), and/or conversion (reduction) of Cr(VI) to less harmful Cr(III) by root exudates (Sinha et al., 2018; Sahoo et al., 2018; Wakeel and Xu, 2020).





Figure 5.4: RSA images showing root damage and regrowth in 160 ppm Cr(VI) sample. A. Root death is visible, having occurred between day 15 and day 20. B. Root regrowth observed on day 25 (yellow circle) and new growth has established (blue oval). C. Root growth continued vigorously by day 30.

Scanning electron microscope studies of roots affected by Cr show an increase in the growth of root hairs, and the relative proportion of pith and cortical tissue layers due to changes in speciation and mobility of Cr ions in the presence of DOC (Suseela et al., 2002). During plant growth, organic acids are released, decreasing soil pH (Alyazouri et al., 2020); decomposition of organic compounds releases DOC, and plant roots release exudates, including oxidised chelating ligands (eg carboxylic acids), with potential to alter the form, availability and toxicity of chromium. Chromate efflux mechanisms have also been observed in some plants, which helps them survive Cr pollution in soil (Srivastava et al., 2021; Ranieri et al., 2020; Wakeel and Xu, 2020; Sinha et al., 2018). Overall, root growth decreased with an increase in Cr(VI) concentration (figure 5.5); and a strong negative correlation (r = -0.98) was observed between DOC content (figure 5.6) and Cr(VI) (figures 5 and 6).



Figure 5.5: Changes in DOC during theFigure 5.6: Soil-Cr(VI) during theexperiment (initial concentration wasexperiment as a % of initial Cr(VI) 38.25 ± 0.15), n=3dose, n=3.

Although a decrease of root length with increasing Cr(VI) dose in soil was observed, these differences were not significant in treatments up to 80 ppm, indicating the plants were tolerant up to 80 ppm Cr(VI) (figure 5.4).



Figure 5.7: Average root length over time (up to 20 cm) under different concentrations (in ppm) of Cr(VI), n=9.

The weight-to-length ratio (WLR) and HM tolerance index (TI) are parameters used to characterize the effect of HM stress on root tissue as the first point of contact between plant and pollutant (Santiago-Cruz et al., 2014). The WLR for roots of plants grown in \leq 80 ppm Cr(VI) was not significantly affected (85.7± 2 mg cm⁻¹) for plant roots grown in \geq 160 ppm Cr(VI), WLR was significantly reduced (53.3 mg cm⁻¹), and this consequently diminished the production of plant biomass of roots. Researchers have identified that Cr(VI) can stop the cell growth in roots and thus decrease root growth and length; in addition to that, it also hinders nutrient transport and root hydration (Sahoo et al., 2018; Wakeel and Xu, 2020; Ertani et al., 2017). These observations can be related to WLR of *S. cannabina*. Alternative HM resistance indicators demonstrate an increase in plant stress up to 80 ppm Cr(VI) treatment, with plant RGR and TI values significantly decreasing as Cr(VI) concentrations increased (figure 5.8),.



Figure 5.8: Root growth rate (RGR) and tolerance index (TI) after 45 days grown in different Cr(VI) in ppm dosed soil concentrations.

Figure 5.8 shows a U-shaped dose response curve for RGR during Cr(VI) exposure of *S. cannabina.* This shows growth stimulation at low concentrations (5 ppm Cr(VI)) and inhibition at higher doses (10-160 ppm Cr(VI)), in accordance with hormesis described by Poschenrieder et al. (2013). Although chromium is considered as a non-essential element for plant growth and development (Hayat et al., 2012; Wakeel and Xu, 2020), our study supports Dixit et al., (2002), where low concentration (\leq 2.5 ppm Cr(VI)) increases germination (and root growth) in *Pisum sativum* L. cv. Azad (Pea plant) compared to controls. Peralta et al., (2001) also reported a stimulating effect on root elongation compared to the control for *Medicago sativa* L. (Alfalfa) at 5 ppm Cr(VI) treatment. Other work has also found low concentrations of heavy metals (cadmium, arsenic and copper) to have a minor stimulation effects on seed germination percentage (Lefèvre et al., 2009; Kjær et al., 1998; Chun-xi et al., 2007).

In this study, the decrease in root growth a more discrete while Cr(VI) dose increased from 80 to 160 ppm (Figure5.7). In hydroponic culture *Leersia hexandra* grown in 60 ppm (~1.15mM) Cr(III) showed no effect on the shoot and root biomass (Liu et al., 2011), but *Typha angustifolia* while grown 1.0 mM Cr(VI) dosed soil recorded high decrease of dry weight tissue of shoot (30 %) and root (43 %) tissue after 30 days of culture (Bah et al., 2010).

5.4 Conclusion

S. cannabina root survived Cr(VI) dose as high as 160 ppm showed. Upto 80 ppm concentration both tap root and secondary root showed no damage but at 160 ppm less growth in secondary root was observed.

5.5 Reference

- Adiloğlu, S. and Göker, M. (2020) Phytoremediation: elimination of hexavalent chromium heavy metal using corn (Zea mays L.). *Cereal Research Communications*, (0123456789). doi:10.1007/s42976-020-00070-9.
- Alyazouri, A., Jewsbury, R., Tayim, H., et al. (2020) Uptake of Chromium by Portulaca Oleracea from Soil: Effects of Organic Content, pH, and Sulphate Concentration. *Applied and Environmental Soil Science*, 2020 (Vi). doi:10.1155/2020/3620726.
- Alyazouri, A.H., Jewsbury, R.A., Tayim, H.A., et al. (2014) Phytoextraction of Cr(VI) from soil using Portulaca oleracea. *Toxicological and Environmental Chemistry*, 95 (8): 1338–1347. doi:10.1080/02772248.2013.877463.
- Ashraf, S., Ali, Q., Zahir, Z.A., et al. (2019) Phytoremediation: Environmentally sustainable way for reclamation of heavy metal polluted soils. *Ecotoxicology*

and Environmental Safety, 174 (March): 714–727. doi:10.1016/j.ecoenv.2019.02.068.

- Bah, A.M., Sun, H., Chen, F., et al. (2010) Comparative proteomic analysis of Typha angustifolia leaf under chromium, cadmium and lead stress. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 184 (1–3): 191–203. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2010.08.023.
- Chun-xi, L., Shu-li, F., Yun, S., et al. (2007) Effects of arsenic on seed germination and physiological activities of wheat seedlings. *Journal of Environmental Sciences*, 19: 725–732.
- Corzo Remigio, A., Edraki, M., Baker, A.J.M., et al. (2021) Root responses to localised soil arsenic enrichment in the fern Pityrogramma calomelanos var. austroamericana grown in rhizoboxes. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry*, 164 (April): 147–159. doi:10.1016/j.plaphy.2021.04.025.
- Dixit, V., Pandey, V. and Shyam, R. (2002) Chromium ions inactivate electron transport and enhance superoxide generation in vivo in pea (Pisum sativum L. cv. Azad) root mitochondria. *Plant, Cell and Environment*, 25 (5): 687–693. doi:10.1046/j.1365-3040.2002.00843.x.
- Ertani, A., Mietto, A., Borin, M., et al. (2017) Chromium in Agricultural Soils and Crops: A Review. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution*, 228 (5). doi:10.1007/s11270-017-3356-y.
- Fu, F. and Wang, Q. (2011) Removal of heavy metal ions from wastewaters: A review. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 92 (3): 407–418. doi:10.1016/j.jenvman.2010.11.011.
- Funakoshi, Y., Daimon, H. and Matsumura, A. (2018) Morphological and physiological studies on densely branched lateral roots triggered by localized phosphate in Sesbania cannabina. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science*, 181 (3): 336–344. doi:10.1002/jpln.201700228.
- Gao, J., Liang, C., Shen, G., et al. (2017) Spectral characteristics of dissolved organic matter in various agricultural soils throughout China. *Chemosphere*, 176: 108–116. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2017.02.104.
- Giehl, R.F.H. and von Wirén, N. (2014) Root nutrient foraging. *Plant Physiology*, 166 (2): 509–517. doi:10.1104/pp.114.245225.
- Grant, C.A. (2011) Influence of Phosphate Fertilizer on Cadmium in Agricultural Soils and Crops. *Pedologist*, 54 (3): 143–155. doi:10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004.
- Grzegórska, A., Rybarczyk, P., Rogala, A., et al. (2020) Phytoremediation From Environment Cleaning to Energy Generation — Current Status and Future Perspectives. *Energies*, 13 (2905).
- Hayat, S., Khalique, G., Irfan, M., et al. (2012) Physiological changes induced by chromium stress in plants: An overview. *Protoplasma*, 249 (3): 599–611. doi:10.1007/s00709-011-0331-0.
- Jia, Z., Liu, Y., Gruber, B.D., et al. (2019) Genetic dissection of root system architectural traits in spring barley. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 10 (April): 1–14. doi:10.3389/fpls.2019.00400.
- Jones, D.L. (1998) Organic acids in the rhizosphere a critical review. *Plant and Soil*, 205: 25–44.
- Kjær, C., Pedersen, M.B. and Elmegaard, N. (1998) Effects of soil copper on black bindweed (Fallopia convolvulus) in the laboratory and in the field. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, 35 (1): 14–19. doi:10.1007/s002449900342.
- Lefèvre, I., Marchal, G., Corréal, E., et al. (2009) Variation in response to heavy metals during vegetative growth in Dorycnium pentaphyllum Scop. *Plant Growth Regulation*, 59 (1): 1–11. doi:10.1007/s10725-009-9382-z.
- Lesmes-Vesga, R.A., Cano, L.M., Ritenour, M.A., et al. (2022) Rhizoboxes as Rapid Tools for the Study of Root Systems of Prunus Seedlings. *Plants*, 11 (16): 2081. doi:10.3390/plants11162081.
- Li, C., Zhou, K., Qin, W., et al. (2019) A review on heavy metals contamination in soil: effects, sources, and remediation techniques. *Soil and Sediment Contamination*, 28 (4): 380–394. doi:10.1080/15320383.2019.1592108.
- Lin, Q., Chen, Y.X., He, Y.F., et al. (2004) Root-induced changes of lead availability in the rhizosphere of Oryza sativa L. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, 104 (3): 605–613. doi:10.1016/j.agee.2004.01.001.
- Liu, J., Duan, C., Zhang, X., et al. (2011) Potential of Leersia hexandra Swartz for phytoextraction of Cr from soil. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 188 (1–3): 85– 91. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2011.01.066.
- Liu, L., Zhang, Q., Hu, L., et al. (2012) Legumes can increase cadmium contamination in neighboring crops. *PLoS ONE*, 7 (8): 1–7. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0042944.
- Lynch, J.M. and Leij, F. de (2012) Rhizosphere. *In: eLS. John Wiley and Sons, Ltd: Chichester.*, (2002). doi:10.1002/9780470015902.a0000403.pub2.
- Ma, W., Tang, S., Dengzeng, Z., et al. (2022) Root exudates contribute to belowground ecosystem hotspots: A review. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 13 (October): 1–19. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2022.937940.
- Marschner, H. and Römheld, V. (1983) In vivo Measurement of Root-induced pH Changes at the Soil-Root Interface: Effect of Plant Species and Nitrogen Source. *Zeitschrift für Pflanzenphysiologie*, 111 (3): 241–251. doi:10.1016/s0044-328x(83)80083-x.
- Mašková, T. and Klimeš, A. (2020) The Effect of Rhizoboxes on Plant Growth and Root: Shoot Biomass Partitioning. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 10 (January): 1– 5. doi:10.3389/fpls.2019.01693.
- Molina, M., Escudey, M., Chang, A.C., et al. (2013) Trace element uptake dynamics for maize (Zea mays L.) grown under field conditions. *Plant and Soil*, 370 (1– 2): 471–483. doi:10.1007/s11104-013-1628-x.

- Neumann, G., George, T.S. and Plassard, C. (2009) Strategies and methods for studying the rhizosphere-the plant science toolbox. *Plant and Soil*, 321 (1–2): 431–456. doi:10.1007/s11104-009-9953-9.
- de Oliveira, L.M., Gress, J., De, J., et al. (2016) Sulfate and chromate increased each other's uptake and translocation in As-hyperaccumulator Pteris vittata. *Chemosphere*, 147: 36–43. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2015.12.088.
- De Oliveira, L.M., Ma, L.Q., Santos, J.A.G., et al. (2014) Effects of arsenate, chromate, and sulfate on arsenic and chromium uptake and translocation by arsenic hyperaccumulator Pteris vittata L. *Environmental Pollution*, 184: 187–192. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2013.08.025.
- Patra, D.K., Pradhan, C., Kumar, J., et al. (2020) Assessment of chromium phytotoxicity, phytoremediation and tolerance potential of Sesbania sesban and Brachiaria mutica grown on chromite mine overburden dumps and garden soil. *Chemosphere*, 252: 126553. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2020.126553.
- Peralta, J.R., Gardea-Torresdey, L., Tiemann, K.J., et al. (2001) The effects of heavy metals on seed germination and plant growth on alfalfa plant (Medicago sativa). *Bulletin of Environmental contamination and toxicology*, 66 (4): 727– 734. doi:10.1007/s00128-001-0069-z.
- Pinel, F., Leclerc-Cessac, E. and Staunton, S. (2003) Relative contributions of soil chemistry, plant physiology and rhizosphere induced changes in speciation on Ni accumulation in plant shoots. *Plant and Soil*, 255 (2): 619–629. doi:10.1023/A:1026052228609.
- Ranieri, E., Moustakas, K., Barbafieri, M., et al. (2020) Phytoextraction technologies for mercury- and chromium-contaminated soil: a review. *Journal of Chemical Technology and Biotechnology*, 95 (2): 317–327. doi:10.1002/jctb.6008.
- Ren, C.G., Kong, C.C., Yan, K., et al. (2019) Transcriptome analysis reveals the impact of arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis on Sesbania cannabina expose to high salinity. *Scientific Reports*, 9 (1): 1–9. doi:10.1038/s41598-019-39463-0.
- Ryan, P. and Delhaize, E. (2001) Function and mechanism of organic anion exudation from plant roots. *Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol.*, 52: 527– 560.
- Sahoo, P., Satapathy, K. and Panda, C.R. (2018) Physiological and biochemical changes induced by hexavalent chromium in Sesbania cannabina L. *Research Journal of Chemical and Environmental Sciences*, 6 (5): 10–15.
- Santiago-Cruz, M.A., Villagrán-Vargas, E., Velázquez-Rodríguez, A.S., et al. (2014) Exploring the Cr(VI) phytoremediation potential of cosmos bipinnatus. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution*, 225 (11). doi:10.1007/s11270-014-2166-8.
- Sarwar, A.K.M.G., Islam, A. and Jahan, S. (2015) Characterization of dhaincha accessions based on morphological descriptors and biomass production. *Journal of Bangladesh Agricultural University*, 13 (1): 55–60.
- Sinha, V., Pakshirajan, K. and Chaturvedi, R. (2018) Chromium tolerance, bioaccumulation and localization in plants: An overview. Journal of Environmental Management, 206: 715–730. doi:10.1016/j.jenvman.2017.10.033.

- Soledad Graziani, N., Salazar, M.J., Pignata, M.L., et al. (2016) Assessment of the root system of Brassica juncea (L.) czern. and Bidens pilosa L. exposed to lead polluted soils using rhizobox systems. *International Journal of Phytoremediation*, 18 (3): 235–244. doi:10.1080/15226514.2015.1078770.
- Srivastava, D., Tiwari, M., Dutta, P., et al. (2021) Chromium stress in plants: Toxicity, tolerance and phytoremediation. *Sustainability (Switzerland)*, 13 (9): 1–20. doi:10.3390/su13094629.
- Suseela, M.R., Sinha, S., Singh, S., et al. (2002) Accumulation of chromium and scanning electron microscopic studies in Scirpus lacustris L. treated with metal and tannery effluent. *Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, 68 (4): 540–548. doi:10.1007/s001280288.
- Vardhan, K.H., Kumar, P.S. and Panda, R.C. (2019) A review on heavy metal pollution, toxicity and remedial measures: Current trends and future perspectives. *Journal of Molecular Liquids*, 290: 111197. doi:10.1016/j.molliq.2019.111197.
- Villarino, S.H., Pinto, P., Jackson, R.B., et al. (2021) Plant rhizodeposition: A key factor for soil organic matter formation in stable fractions. *Science Advances*, 7 (16): 1–13. doi:10.1126/sciadv.abd3176.
- Voss-Fels, K.P., Snowdon, R.J. and Hickey, L.T. (2018) Designer Roots for Future Crops. *Trends in Plant Science*, 23 (11): 957–960. doi:10.1016/j.tplants.2018.08.004.
- Wakeel, A. and Xu, M. (2020) Chromium Morpho-Phytotoxicity. *Plants*, 9 (5): 564. doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/plants9050564.
- Waldrip, H.M., He, Z. and Erich, M.S. (2011) Effects of poultry manure amendment on phosphorus uptake by ryegrass, soil phosphorus fractions and phosphatase activity. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 47 (4): 407–418. doi:10.1007/s00374-011-0546-4.
- Yi, Y., Yang, Z. and Zhang, S. (2011) Ecological risk assessment of heavy metals in sediment and human health risk assessment of heavy metals in fishes in the middle and lower reaches of the Yangtze River basin. *Environmental Pollution*, 159 (10): 2575–2585. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2011.06.011.
- Zhu, L.J., Zhao, Y., Chen, Y.N., et al. (2018) Characterization of atrazine binding to dissolved organic matter of soil under different types of land use. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 147 (November 2016): 1065–1072. doi:10.1016/j.ecoenv.2016.11.008.
- Zwolak, A., Sarzyńska, M., Szpyrka, E., et al. (2019) Sources of soil pollution by heavy metals and their accumulation in vegetables: a review. *Water, Air, & Soil Pollution*, 230: 164. doi:10.1007/s11270-019-4221-y.

Chapter 6 :

An assessment of the phytoremediation potential of *Sesbania cannabina* (Retz.) Poir. grown in hexavalent chromium contaminated soil.

Abstract

Hexavalent chromium is one of the most toxic heavy metals (HM) and it is harmful to living organisms but still its widely used in industrial activities. In this study, a legume plant, *Sesbania cannabina*, was considered for phytoremediation study of chromium (VI) contaminated soil. To assess the growth, tolerance, and phytoremediation ability of *S. cannabina*, a pot experiment was conducted under greenhouse conditions (simulated tropical conditions). The results showed that *S. cannabina* could tolerate and grow within concentrations of up to 175 ppm of Cr(VI) and was able to convert all Cr(VI) to the less toxic Cr(III). *S. cannabina* had bioabsorption coefficient (BAC) and translocation factor (TF) values <1 and root concentration factor (RCF) above 1. Thus, *S. cannabina* can be categorized exclusively as a phytosequestration species for Cr(VI). Pot experiments confirm that *S. cannabina* offers an alternate method for phytoremediation of Cr(VI) contaminated soil.

Keywords: Sesbania cannabina; phytoremediation; hexavalent chromium.

6.1 Introduction

The industrial revolution caused a substantial increase in the production of industrial waste and this, combined with globalisation, has resulted in the modern world facing serious environmental problems (Li et al., 2019; Yang et al., 2018). Production industries, agricultural and mining activities generate numerous toxic materials such as insecticides, organo-chloride pesticides, greases and oils, and heavy metals (HM), which are directly or indirectly released into the environment and contaminate the water and soil (Vardhan et al., 2019; Zwolak et al., 2019). HM severely threatens most living organisms, and contaminated agricultural soil disrupts crop yield and threatens human well-being (Stambulska et al., 2018; McComb et al., 2012a). Worldwide, researchers identified 5 million sites (500 million ha of land) as contaminated because the concentrations of HMs or metalloids are above permissible limits (Liu et al., 2018). In addition to health and environmental issues, HM contamination greatly impacts the global economy, and the estimated total loss in the global economy is more than 10 billion US dollar per annum (He et al., 2015). By definition, HMs are metals or metalloids with a density of over 5 g/cm³ (Oves et al., 2012). Lead (Pb), chromium (Cr), mercury (Hg), cadmium (Cd), and arsenic (As) are HM known to be very noxious to human health even at a low dose (Yang et al., 2018; Zwolak et al., 2019). Other HMs (Fe, Mn, Cu, Zn, and Mo) are micronutrients, and the excessive amount of these metals in soil may not be harmful to humans or animals but can be very dangerous for plant growth and development (Zwolak et al., 2019).

Following the discovery of chromium from Crocoite (PbCrO₄, Siberian red ore) by Vauquelin in 1798, various industries use this chromium salt for different processes

(Shanker et al., 2005; Hayat et al., 2012b). These industries include metallurgy, rawhide tanning in leather processing, chrome plating, steel production, metal finishing, catalyst production (synthetic rubies), pigment manufacturing, and metal corrosion inhibitors (Hingston et al., 2001; Jeřábková et al., 2018; Kotas and Stasicka, 2000). The by-products cause extensive environmental pollution due to unregulated disposal in water bodies (Shanker et al., 2005; Hayat et al., 2012b). Naturally, chromium (as total chromium) can be abundant in soil with an average of 1 to 100 ppm, but its distribution is variable around the world (US :25 to 85 ppm; Japan: mean 87 ppm; Sweden: 74 ppm) (Zayed and Terry, 2003; Shanker et al., 2005). However, the permissible limit set by the different authorities for Cr(VI) in the soil is between 1 ppm to 21 ppm for residential, garden, or agricultural land and \geq 41 ppm for commercial or industrial sites (CCME, 1999; DoEC, 2010; MEF, 2007; Tóth et al., 2016).

Chromium is a transition element with stable and unstable valence states (Cr(I) to Cr(VI)). Trivalent chromium Cr(III) and hexavalent chromium Cr(VI) are stable (Oliveira, 2012) but have different mobility, bioavailability, and toxicity. The solubility of Cr(VI) in water is very high and more toxic to living organisms than to Cr(III) (Hu et al., 2016; Kotas and Stasicka, 2000). The toxicity mechanism of chromium in plants is complex because plant uptake, translocation, and accumulation depend upon metal speciation and electrochemistry (Shanker et al., 2005; Hayat et al., 2012b). It has been reported for many plant species that chromium affects germination, root growth, and stem/leaf development (Zayed and Terry, 2003; Hayat et al., 2012b). Depletion in plant photosynthetic, antioxidant enzymes, nutrient imbalance, and oxidative stress in plants have also been recorded in plants

in response to increased concentrations of Cr in soil (Seneviratne et al., 2017; Samantaray et al., 1998).

Researchers worldwide have been looking for remediation options for this toxic Cr(VI) metal from the soil and have suggested several processes; among them, phytoremediation is considered less expensive and can be performed in situ (Peng and Guo, 2020; Srivastava et al., 2021). Many plants from different families have been studied, but very few species have been considered hyperaccumulators (Srivastava et al., 2021; Sinha et al., 2018). Zhang et al., (2007) introduced Leersia hexandra as a potential Cr hyper-accumulator. In their study, Cr(VI) reduction and sequestration were observed in hydroponic (batch) culture, and the highest bioaccumulation coefficients were found on the leaves: 72.1 after 45 days of treatment at 10 ppm Cr(VI). Chromium (total) accumulated in foliage was 597 ppm for Cr(VI) treatment (Zhang et al., 2007). However, while grown in \ge 20 ppm of Cr(VI), a substantial decrease in foliage biomass has been observed (Zhang et al., 2007). L. hexandra swartz was therefore considered a potential plant for phytoextraction, especially in large-area of (low-concentration) contaminated environments (Lin et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2007).

Gardea-Torresdey et al., (2004) identified *Convolvulus arvensis* (Bindweed), a herbaceous perennial plant of the Convolvulaceae family, as a promising hyperaccumulator for Cr(VI). In this experiment, *C. arvensis was germinated* in different concentrations of Cr(VI) spiked (up to 80 ppm of Cr(VI)) agar-based nutrient mediums. The accumulated Cr in roots was about 20,000 ppm (DW) Cr(VI) and 2100 ppm (DW) Cr(VI) in foliage when the plant was allowed to grow in an agar-based nutrient medium spiked with 20 ppm Cr(VI) for two weeks. *Prosopis laevigata* (smooth mesquite) also showed a high accumulation of Cr(VI) while seeds were

germinated in tissue (batch) culture condition in modified Murashige–Skoog medium added with $K_2Cr_2O_7$ (0 - 353.6 ppm) at pH of 5.8 (Buendía-González et al., 2010). After 50 days, accumulation in roots reported 8090 ppm Cr(VI) (DW) and shoots contained 5461 ppm (DW) Cr(VI). According to the researcher, the translocation factor was recorded below 0.7 but due to high accumulation in roots the author suggested *P. laevigata* as a hyper-accumulator (Buendía-González et al., 2010). In all the studies, plants were grown in hydroponics or in an artificial substrate and low concentrations of Cr(VI). However, the search for plant species which able to germinate in Cr(VI) contaminated soil and have the potential to phytoremediate Cr(VI) contaminated soil at higher concentrations (> 20 ppm) is still ongoing.

Sesbania cannabina is a leguminous high-yield fodder crop (Sarwar et al., 2015) that has not been studied yet for Cr(VI) tolerance and uptake. It can grow in a wide range of climatic conditions (semi-arid to sub-humid), grows well even in marginal lands, tolerates a range of environmental conditions, including seasonally submerged soils, and is common in Bangladesh (Ren et al., 2019; Sarwar et al., 2015). The riverbank sediment of the Buriganga River (in Bangladesh) is contaminated with HMs (especially Cr) due to industrial activities (Nargis et al., 2018; Islam et al., 2015). Due to favourable climatic conditions, *S. cannabina* can grow naturally in these areas (Sarwar et al., 2015). Therefore, these attributes make it a viable candidate for phytoremediation of Cr(VI). The aims of this work were to (a) determine the effect of Cr(VI) on the growth and physiology of *S. cannabina* and b) assess the phytoremediation capacity of *S. cannabina* for Cr(VI) contaminated soil.

6.2 Materials and Methods

6.2.1 Soil preparation

Soil (sandy loam) was collected from a reputable supplier (Singletons Nurseries, Worcestershire, United Kingdom) meeting British standards for topsoil (BS 3882:2007). Characteristics of the soil are provided in table 6.1.

Table 6.1: Important parameters of soil used in this experiment (average values \pm SD (n=3).

Hq	N (kg ha ⁻¹)	P (kg ha ⁻¹)	K (kg ha ⁻¹)	OM (%)	Sandy soil content (%)	Zn (ppm)	Cu (ppm)	Ni (ppm)	Cr (total) (ppm)	Cr(VI) (ppm)	Pb (ppm)
6.7 -7	62± 2	87± 3	412 ± 8	3.1 to 3.3	60 to 61%	110± 2.4	36± 1.2	20 ± 1.1	9± 1.2	< 0.1	5±0. 21

6.2.2 Experimental Procedure

A germinated seed of *Sesbania cannabina* was planted (1 cm depth) in each of 48 plastic pots (height 315 mm, volume 250 ml) containing 350 g (±0.5) uncontaminated soil. The bottom part of the pots was sealed to prevent contaminant loss by leaching because the solubility of Cr(VI) in water is very high (Hu et al., 2016; Kotas and Stasicka, 2000). There were six replicates for each treatment and one control (with no plants), including the control. The soil was dosed with Cr(VI) (as aqueous analytical grade (Merck) K₂Cr₂O₇) and mixed separately in each pot (before planting), giving a range of concentrations (0 (control), 25, 50, 75, 100, 125, 150, 175, and 200 ppm). The experiment was conducted under controlled conditions using vitopod® for 45 days in a 12/12h photoperiod (full spectrum light) and humidity of 75 to 85 % at 28°C constant temperature.



Figure 6.1: Plant growth after 15 days in a closed vitopod® growth chamber.

Plant growth after 45 days was recorded as shoot height, root length and biomass. At 45 days (after planting) plant (root, stem, and leaf) was harvested and prepared for Cr(VI) and total Cr (with ICP OES model: Agilent 7500ce) analysis along with proline and chlorophyll. Soil samples were also taken for Cr analysis.

6.2.3 Chlorophyll content

Fresh leaves were harvested 45 days after germination to determine photosynthetic pigments (Chlorophyll a, b, and total), according to Arnon, (1949). 40 mg of leaves were preserved in a sealed bottle (wrapped with dark paper) with 10ml (80%) acetone for 5 days in the refrigerator (at 4° C). After five days, the extract was centrifuged (5000 rpm for 10 min) and a spectrophotometer (model: JENWAY spectrophotometer 6505) was used to determine the optical density of the blank and the supernatant of the samples at wavelengths of 646 nm and 663 nm. According to Lichtenthaler and Wellburn, (1983), the following equations were used for the determination of chlorophyll content

Ca= 12.21 A₆₆₃ _ 2.81A₆₄₆ Cb=20.13 A₆₄₆ _ 5.03 A₆₆₃

$C_{total} = C_a + C_b$

Where C_a is chlorophyll a, C_b is chlorophyll b, C_{total} is total chlorophyll in μg (ml of plant extract ⁻¹), and A is the measured absorbance values at different wavelengths.

6.2.4 Proline content

Proline content was determined according to the protocol of Bates et al., (1973). Fresh leaves (500 mg) were crushed with 10 mL of 3% sulphosalicylic acid and centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 8 min. Two mL of supernatant were combined with 2 mL of acidic ninhydrin in a test tube. Acidic ninhydrin was prepared by 1.25 g ninhydrin (1,2,3-indantrione monohydrate), 30 mL glacial acetic acid, 20 mL of 6 M orthophosphoric acid, dissolved by vortexing and gentle warming and glacial acetic acid (99.9% acetic acid). The solution was incubated at 96° C for 60 minutes, and the reaction terminated in ice. After half an hour, we added 4 mL toluene to the test spectrophotometer tube and shook vigorously. А (model: JENWAY spectrophotometer 6505) was used to measure the optical density of the top red layer at 520 nm for proline content. In this experiment, we consider toluene a reference material.

6.2.5 Sample Preparation for Cr analysis

Plant and soil sample preparation for total Cr analysis

After 45 days from germination, the plants were harvested, and soil adhered to the roots was removed and preserved with pot soil using a deionized water (DI water) stream. The plants were split into leaves, stems, and roots, and all samples,

including soil, were dried (65°C for 72 hours) and grounded by a mortar and pestle (Alyazouri et al., 2020).

6.2.6 Analysis of chromium species

The following methods were used in chromium analysis:

- (i) Total chromium: samples were acid digested [Acid digestion: oven-dried samples were crushed, and 0.1 g of powdered (homogenised) samples were placed into a digestion tube with 23 ml of HCl (con.) and 7 ml of HNO₃ (con.). After 12 hours, the digestion tube was placed in a heating block at 80° C for reflux for 2 hours and then filtered with a wetted filter (Whatman 41) paper into a 25 ml volumetric flask. An ionisation suppressant KCl (0.5 ml of 10%) is added to the filtered materials, and finally, the tube and filter paper are repeatedly washed with ultra-pure water and made volume up to the mark of a volumetric flask]; and the resulting solution analysed with ICP-OES (Inductively Coupled Plasma Optical Emission Spectroscopy; model: Agilent 7500ce) (All chemicals were ICP grade).
- (ii) Hexavalent chromium: samples were digested by alkaline digestion method [alkaline digestion: 2.5 ± 0.10 g of the sample were placed into a clean 250 mL digestion vessel and 50 mL \pm 1 mL (dissolve 20.0 ± 0.05 g NaOH and 30.0 ± 0.05 g Na₂CO₃ in reagent water in a one-litre volumetric flask and diluted with DI water and maintained the pH 11.5 or greater,) of digestion solution were added to each digestion vessel. We also added approximately 400 mg of MgCl and 0.5 mL of 1.0 M phosphate buffer mixed for 5 min. After that, the digestion vessel containing the samples was heated to 90-95° C (for 60 min). After cooling, the contents (in beaker) were transferred quantitatively

to the filtration apparatus and filtered through a 0.45μ m membrane filter. Slowly add 5.0 M nitric acid solution to the beaker dropwise and adjust the solution's pH to 7.5 ± 0.5. Transferred the vessel's contents quantitatively to a 100 mL volumetric flask and adjusted the sample volume to 100 mL (to the mark for the volumetric flask) with reagent water. Mix well. The sample digestates are now ready to be analysed] and the resulting solutions were analysed using a JENWAY spectrophotometer 6505 following EPA method 3060A and method 7196 (USEPA, 1996; Alyazouri et al., 2014; de Oliveira et al., 2014).

(iii) Trivalent chromium (Cr(III)): we calculate Cr(III) by subtraction of Cr(VI) from total Cr (de Oliveira et al., 2016; De Oliveira et al., 2014; Alyazouri et al., 2014).

6.2.7 Phytoremediation potential

The phytoremediation potential of *S. cannabina* was calculated by using the following equation;

$$Bio - absorption \ Coefficient \ [BAC] = \frac{Metal \ concentration \ in \ shoot}{Metal \ concentration \ in \ soil}$$
$$Translocation \ Factor \ [TF] = \frac{Metal \ concentration \ in \ shoot}{Metal \ concentration \ in \ root}$$
$$Root \ Concentration \ Factor \ [RCF] = \frac{Metal \ concentration \ in \ root}{Metal \ concentration \ in \ root}$$

6.2.8 Statistical tests

Chromium content in plant tissues (roots, stem, and leaves), were analysed and compared using one-way ANOVA and post-hoc Tukey's test ($p \le 0.001$) to determine differences between treatments. Pearson's coefficient for correlation

was determined at a significance level of p < 0.05 to determine by using SPSS 25 software.

6.3 Results and Discussion

6.3.1 Status of Cr(VI) in soil and S. cannabina

S. cannabina was shown not to grow (died) at ≥ 200 ppm of Cr(VI); therefore, no accumulation data were obtained for that treatment. After 45 days, no Cr(VI) was detected in soil or in plant samples in all treatments (≤ 175 ppm). It was assumed that all Cr(VI) had been transformed to Cr(III) and Cr(VI) concentration in the pot containing Cr(VI) without plant and water remained unchanged. In all treatments (except ≥ 200 ppm), Chromium concentrations in the soil after harvesting showed a significant correlation (P ≤ 0.05) with Cr concentration in *S. cannabina* root (r = 0.910), stem (r = 0.732), and leaf (r = 0.789) which means Cr accumulation increases with the increase of Cr(VI) concentration in soil (table 6.2).

Table 6.2: Mean \pm SD (n=6) chromium (Cr, total) concentrations in *Sesbania* cannabina plant parts and soil (ppm). Values followed by the identical letter for each parameter show no significant difference from one another, as identified by Tukey's LSD (p ≤ 0.001).

Dose	Root	Stem	Leaf	Soil
25 ppm	22.05ª ± 0.91	2.07 ^a ±0.08	0.50 ^ª ±0.06	19.99ª±0.55
50 ppm	29.97 ^b ±1.29	2.81 ^b ±0.10	0.83 ^b ±0.04	29.15 ^b ±0.73
75 ppm	38.30°±0.40	3.43°±0.14	1.15°±0.06	35.75°±0.32
100 ppm	64.22 ^d ±0.69	3.81 ^d ±0.09	1.28 ^d ±0.26	57.92 ^d ±0.76
125 ppm	96.37 ^e ±1.29	4.38 ^e ±0.16	1.46 ^e ±0.03	82.22 ^e ±0.66
150 ppm	145.29 ^f ±2.97	5.24 ^f +0.09	1.60 ^f +0.03	113.95 ^f ±1.91
175 ppm	163.68 ^g ±0.63	5.46 ⁹ ±0.17	1.84 ⁹ ±0.04	123.98 ^g ±0.55

Maximum accumulation of Cr was detected (163.68±0.63 ppm) in the roots for 175 ppm treatment, but translocation of Cr from root to above surface biomass (stem and leaves) was negligible (9.4 to 3.2 %), and percentages of translocation (table 6.3) decreased with increased concentration of Cr in soil. Several studies of phytoremediation of Cr for different plant species show similar results; the root accumulates a major portion of total accumulated chromium and translocates a small portion to the stem (Liu et al., 2008; Vernay et al., 2007; Raimondi et al., 2020). Liu et al., (2008) showed that *Amaranthus viridis* L. (in hydroponic culture) accumulation of Cr was greater in the root (2624.39 ± 9.75 ppm) than in the stem (1626.04 ppm) for 10 ppm treatment concentration. Vernay et al., (2007) also recorded that Lolium perenne grown in Cr(VI) accumulated ten-fold higher Cr content in roots than leaves. Prosopis laevigata (smooth mesquite), a potential hyperaccumulator, also showed higher chromium accumulation in roots [8090 ppm] Cr(VI) (DW)] than stems [(5461 ppm (DW) Cr(VI)] (Buendía-González et al., 2010). Studies on Sesbania spp. shows similar findings for different types of metal [e.g., S. virgata (for As, Cu, Zn, Cr) (Branzini et al., 2012), S. grandiflora (for Pb, Hg) (Malar et al., 2014), S. exaltata (for Pb) (McComb et al., 2012b)] where plant accumulated higher concentration of metal in roots compared to stems.

In this experiment, Cr(VI) accumulation in the different parts of the plant was root > stem > leaf, and root accumulated 10.6 to 31.27 times higher Cr than stem. Overall, Cr removal percentages from soil were observed as follows 25ppm (20 ± 1.2 %), 50ppm (41.7 ± 1.4 %), 75ppm (52 ± 2.1 %), 100ppm (42.1 ± 3 %), 125ppm (34.2 ± 3.2 %), 150ppm (24 ± 3 %) and 175ppm (29.2 ± 2.15 %). Percentages of Cr removal slowly increase up to 75 ppm and then decreases with the increase in concentration.

Roots first come into contact with contaminants when grown in polluted soil (Shahid et al., 2017; Ertani et al., 2017), and root vacuoles play a vital role among the plant's several Cr(VI) uptake mechanisms. It has been shown that the root vacuole is the plant's largest organelle, and it has various significant and diverse functions, including cellular waste degradation and the storage of ions (Kaiser and Scheuring, 2020). Shanker et al., (2005) state that as a part of the natural toxicity response of plants, accumulated Cr is immobilized in the root cell vacuoles and converts the Cr(VI) into a less toxic form. Therefore, a high level of Cr in the root is probably linked to detoxification (or stabilization) of the Cr in the roots and also prevents translocation of Cr to the more sensitive parts of the plant (e.g., stem and leaf).

6.3.2 Cr(VI) effect on S. cannabina growth

Plant growth and biomass are key parameters for evaluating tolerance and adaptation to external stress (Shanker et al., 2005; Ertani et al., 2017). In this study, added Cr(VI) inhibited biomass production and growth of *S. cannabina* (figure 6.2) with an increased stress response with an increase in Cr(VI) concentration. No significant reduction of plant biomass (above the soil biomass) was observed up to 50 ppm Cr(VI) (dose), but \geq 75 ppm plant biomass decreases with the increase of Cr(VI) concentration in the soil (figure 6.2. A). On the other hand, dry root biomass shows a more consistent decrease with increased Cr(VI) concentration in soil. In addition, less significant changes were observed in plant length (shoot length) and root length (tap root) up to 50 ppm Cr(VI), and in both cases, length reduction was observed with an increase of concentration \geq 75 ppm of Cr(VI) in soil.



Figure 6.2: 6.2.A. Above ground (leaves and stems) and root biomass (dry weight in g) for each Cr(VI) treatment in *S. cannabina* after 45 d of growth and 6.2.B. Plant length (shoot length) and root length (tap root) for each Cr(VI) treatment in *S. cannabina* after 45 d of growth. Error bars are standard error (n =6). Identical letters in the same colour bar show no significant difference, as detected by Tukey's LSD ($p \le 0.001$).

In a similar study, Saravanan et al., (2019) observed the phytoremediation capability of *Vigna mungo* (black gram) at various concentrations of Cr(VI) (5, 25, 50, 75, 100 ppm) in soil and observed a decrease in root length (from 22.01 ± 1.56 cm at five ppm to 1.46 ± 0.11 cm at 100ppm) and shoot length (from 39.05 ± 0.85 cm at 5 ppm to 12.36 ± 0.88 cm at 100ppm). Ramana et al., (2017) studied *Agave americana* (Century Plant) for Cr(VI) phytoremediation (0 to 200 ppm) and observed a reduction of root biomass (from 3.75 g plant ⁻¹ to 0.89 g plant ⁻¹) and leaves (from 16.88 g plant ⁻¹ to 2.27 g plant ⁻¹). Cr(VI) does not play any role in plant growth at high concentrations (varies from species to species), and inhibits plant growth (Shanker et al., 2005). A study conducted by Vajpayee et al., (2001) to assess the toxicity and chromium accumulation of Cr(VI) on *Vallisneria spiralis* reported biomass (dry) production in the nutrient medium was heavily hindered by $Cr(VI) \ge$ 2.5 ppm. Hydroponically cultivated cabbage plants grown in \ge 10 ppm Cr(VI) shows a decrease in the whole plant's dry weight from 88.4 g/plant in control to 28.4 g/plant (Hara and Sonoda, 1979).

In this experiment, we observed no effect in plant growth \leq 50 ppm of Cr(VI) (figure 6.2); however, \geq 75 ppm showed a gradual decrease in biomass, root, and plant growth with an increasing Cr(VI) in soil and unable to grow \geq 200 ppm Cr(VI). The highest dry weight value was recorded for root and above soil plant biomass among treatments at \leq 50 ppm concentrations (figure 6.2) of Cr(VI). There are no significant changes in tap root length at \leq 50 ppm (figure 6.2. B), but significant changes were observed in root biomass (2. A) at \leq 50 ppm concentrations according to Tukey's LSD (p \leq 0.001) because less growth observed in lateral root \geq 25 ppm compared to control.

6.3.3 Cr(VI) effect on the photosynthetic pigment of S. cannabina

Plant enzyme functions are disrupted when grown in HM (above toxic levels) contaminated soil (Varun et al., 2017; Srivastava et al., 2021; Sinha et al., 2018). In particular, toxic HMs affect photosynthetic processes, which negatively affect plant development and productivity (Shahid et al., 2017; Srivastava et al., 2021). It is also well-established that chromium toxicity in plants decreases the chlorophyll-a, chlorophyll-b, and total chlorophyll content (Shanker et al., 2005; Panda and Choudhury, 2005)

In our study, results clearly showed that photosynthetic pigments in plant leaves declined with an increasing concentration of Cr(VI) in soil (figure 6.3), and a

significant decline (p < 0.05) of chlorophyll-a and total chlorophyll concentration was observed at \geq 75 ppm dose. The chlorophyll-a in *S. cannabina* leaves was significantly (p < 0.05) decreased from 0 ppm to a higher dose, but between 50 ppm and 75 ppm changes were insignificant. The chlorophyll-b in *S. cannabina* leaves reduced with an increase in Cr(VI) dose, but no significant difference was observed (p < 0.05) \geq 100 ppm dose. The total chlorophyll content significantly (p < 0.05) decreases from 0 ppm dose to a higher dose (figure 6.3).



Figure 6.3: Response of different Cr(VI) concentrations on photosynthetic pigments (chlorophyll-a, chlorophyll-b, and total chlorophyll) in *S. cannabina* after 45 d of growth. Error bars are standard error (n =6). Identical letters in the same column/color bar show no significant difference, as detected by Tukey's LSD ($p \le 0.001$).

Plant photosynthesis is disrupted or even stopped while grown in chromium (VI) contaminated soil due to ultrastructural changes in the chloroplast (Shahid et al., 2017). Many plant species also exhibit similar disruption in the photosynthetic process while grown in Cr(VI) contaminated soil, such as *Ocimum tenuiflorum* (Rai et al., 2004), *Hibiscus esculentus* (Amin et al., 2013) and *Lemna minor* (Uysal, 2013) Studies on several crop plants have shown chromium disruption of photosynthesis activities by inhibiting electron transport, disruption of Calvin cycle enzyme activation and decreasing CO₂ fixation (Panda and Choudhury, 2005; Rocchetta and Küpper, 2009). In this experiment, Cr(VI) significantly reduced total chlorophyll with increased Cr(VI) dose in soil.

6.3.4 Cr(VI) effect on proline content of S. cannabina

Proline is a proteinogenic amino acid which plays vital functions in leaves to regulate water loss, scavenge free radicals, protect enzymes and sub-cellular structures (Trovato et al., 2008; Liang et al., 2013; Kishor et al., 2015). Research has identified positive correlations between proline accumulation and plant stress (Hosseinifard et al., 2022; Aslam, 2017). According to Kishor et al., (2015), HM stress in plants elevated the proline content in the plant. At HM stress conditions in the plant, proline protects the plant by metal chelation and antioxidative defence (Hayat et al., 2012a; Pinho and Ladeiro, 2012).

Chapter 6



Figure 6.4: Effect of Cr concentration on proline content (μ g/g) in *S. cannabina* after 45 d of growth. Error bars are standard errors (n =6). values followed by the identical letter for each dose are not significantly different from one another, as identified by Tukey's LSD (p ≤ 0.001)

In this study, *S. cannabina* in all doses showed elevated proline accumulation than the control (figure 6.4), and proline level increased with increased Cr(VI). At 175 ppm dose, we recorded approximately 5 times higher than the control for 25 ppm to 75 ppm and at 175 ppm dose, about 9 times higher proline than the control (0 ppm dose). In a similar study, an increase in proline accumulation in tissues of *Ocimum tenuiflorum* L. exposed to Cr(VI) has also been observed, and the highest proline (600 µmole g⁻¹) was detected at 29.2 ppm Cr(VI) at a concentration (29.2 ppm) (Rai et al.,2004). Various research concludes proline accumulation increases in higher and lower plants for metal stress (Hayat et al., 2012a) but differs from species to species in response to different metals.

6.3.5 Chromium phytoremediation potential of S. cannabina

In phytoremediation research, bio-absorption coefficient [BAC], translocation factor [TF], and root concentration factor [RCF] were calculated to understand the plant's potential for phyto-management of HM contamination (Razmi et al., 2021; Mahmood-ul-Hassan et al., 2017).

Table 6.3: BAC, TF, and RCF of *S. cannabina* for Cr(VI) phytoremediation. Each value is the mean of six replicates (n = 6); values followed by the identical letter for each parameter are not significantly different from one another, as identified by Tukey's LSD ($p \le 0.001$)

Doso	Bio-absorption	Translocation factor	Root concentration	
Dose	coefficient [BAC]	[TF]	factor [RCF]	
25 ppm	0.1038 ^a ±0.0047	0.0941 ^a ±0.0033	1.1036 ^a ±0.0523	
50 ppm	0.0963 ^b ±0.0029	0.0938 ^b ±0.0045	1.0286 ^b ±0.0464	
75 ppm	0.0961 ^b ±0.0041	0.0897 ^c ±0.0040	1.0715 ^c ±0.0183	
100 ppm	0.0658°±0.0018	0.0593 ^d ±0.0018	1.1088 ^a ±0.0105	
125 ppm	0.0533 ^d ±0.0019	0.0455 ^e ±0.0019	1.1720 ^d ±0.0139	
150 ppm	0.0459 ^e ±0.0008	$0.0360^{f} \pm 0.0009$	1.2753 ^e ±0.0290	
175 ppm	0.0440 ^f ±0.0012	0.0334 ^g ±0.0011	1.3202 ^f ±0.0093	

Plants with BAC and TF values >1 are considered potential phytoextractors, whereas those with RCF > 1 and TF < 1 are considered promising phyto-stabiliser (Saravanan et al., 2019; Gautam et al., 2017). In this experiment, we observed, *S. cannabina* can grow or tolerate \leq 175 ppm Cr(VI) concentrations which indicates the capacity of the plants to grow in Cr(VI) contaminated soil. Despite substantial chromium accumulation in the root, a reduction in biomass (figure 6.2), a decrease in chlorophyll content (figure 6.3), and an increase in proline (figure 6.4) indicate that the plant is able to survive Cr(VI) ions up to 175 ppm. We also observed that

studied plants accumulate higher concentrations of Cr in roots compared to shoots (table 6.2), even when the soil contains a low concentration of Cr(VI).

S. cannabina had BAC and TF values all <1, and RCF is above 1 (table 6.3). S. cannabina can be categorized exclusively as a phyto-stabiliser for Cr(VI). In addition to that, the most promising outcome of this experiment is S. cannabina (root) can convert all Cr(VI) into Cr(III) at 45 days but is unable to grow \geq 200 ppm Cr (V). According to USEPA, (2000) recommendations, a suitable species for phytoremediation must follow one of the conditions (1) a low yield with higher HM accumulation capacity or (2) a high yield with moderate HM uptake capacity. In this experiment, we observed chromium accumulation in plant tissue, and the ability to convert Cr(VI) to less toxic Cr(III), which makes this plant a suitable candidate for Cr(VI) phytoremediation.

These results suggest that *S. cannabina* can be used in phytoremediation of Cr(VI) contaminated soil (up to 175 ppm).

6.4 Conclusion

In this study, we observed *Sesbania cannabina* could reach up to (a height) 40 ± 2 cm within 45 days. Based on its capacity for the reduction of Cr(VI) to Cr(III) and tolerance for Cr(VI), this studied plant can be considered a suitable phytoremediation tool for Cr(VI) contaminated soils in a short time with consecutive flushes.

6.5 References

- Alyazouri, A., Jewsbury, R., Tayim, H., et al. (2020) Uptake of Chromium by Portulaca Oleracea from Soil: Effects of Organic Content, pH, and Sulphate Concentration. *Applied and Environmental Soil Science*, 2020 (Vi). doi:10.1155/2020/3620726.
- Alyazouri, A.H., Jewsbury, R.A., Tayim, H.A., et al. (2014) Phytoextraction of Cr(VI) from soil using Portulaca oleracea. *Toxicological and Environmental Chemistry*, 95 (8): 1338–1347. doi:10.1080/02772248.2013.877463.
- Amin, H., Arain, B.A., Amin, F., et al. (2013) Phytotoxicity of Chromium on Germination, Growth and Biochemical Attributes of Hibiscus esculentus L. *American Journal of Plant Sciences*, 04 (12): 2431–2439. doi:10.4236/ajps.2013.412302.
- Arnon, D.I. (1949) Copper enzymes in isolated chloroplasts: polyphenoloxidase in Beta vulgaris. *Plant physiology*, 24 (1): 549–557. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-409548-9.11130-3.
- Aslam, M. (2017) Specific Role of Proline Against Heavy Metals Toxicity in Plants. International Journal of Pure & Applied Bioscience, 5 (6): 27–34. doi:10.18782/2320-7051.6032.
- Branzini, A., González, R.S. and Zubillaga, M. (2012) Absorption and translocation of copper, zinc and chromium by Sesbania virgata. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 102: 50–54. doi:10.1016/j.jenvman.2012.01.033.
- Buendía-González, L., Orozco-Villafuerte, J., Cruz-Sosa, F., et al. (2010) Prosopis laevigata a potential chromium (VI) and cadmium (II) hyperaccumulator desert plant. *Bioresource Technology*, 101: 5862–5867. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2010.03.027.
- CCME (1999) Canadian Sediment Quality Guidelines for the Protection of Aquatic Life: Chromium. Available at: ceqg-rcqe.ccme.ca/download/en/226/.
- DoEC (2010) Assessment levels for Soil, Sediment and Water (A Contaminated Sites Management Series). Available at: www.dec.wa.gov.au/contaminatedsites.
- Ertani, A., Mietto, A., Borin, M., et al. (2017) Chromium in Agricultural Soils and Crops: A Review. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution*, 228 (5). doi:10.1007/s11270-017-3356-y.
- Gardea-Torresdey, J.L., Peralta-Videa, J.R., Montes, M., et al. (2004)
 Bioaccumulation of cadmium, chromium and copper by Convolvulus arvensis
 L.: Impact on plant growth and uptake of nutritional elements. *Bioresource Technology*, 92 (3): 229–235. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2003.10.002.
- Gautam, M., Pandey, D. and Agrawal, M. (2017) Phytoremediation of metals using lemongrass (Cymbopogon citratus (D.C.) Stapf.) grown under different levels of red mud in soil amended with biowastes. *International Journal of Phytoremediation*, 19 (6): 555–562. doi:10.1080/15226514.2016.1267701.

- Hara, T. and Sonoda, Y. (1979) Comparison of the toxicity of heavy metals to cabbage growth. *Plant Soil*, 51: 127–133. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02205932.
- Hayat, S., Hayat, Q., Alyemeni, M.N., et al. (2012a) Role of proline under changing environments: A review. *Plant Signaling and Behavior*. doi:10.4161/psb.21949.
- Hayat, S., Khalique, G., Irfan, M., et al. (2012b) Physiological changes induced by chromium stress in plants: An overview. *Protoplasma*, 249 (3): 599–611. doi:10.1007/s00709-011-0331-0.
- He, Z., Shentu, Yang, X., et al. (2015) Heavy metal contamination of soils: sources, indicators, and assessment. *Journal of Environmental Indicators*, 9: 17–18.
- Hingston, J.A., Collins, C.D., Murphy, R.J., et al. (2001) Leaching of chromated copper arsenate wood preservatives: A review. *Environmental Pollution*, 111 (1): 53–66. doi:10.1016/S0269-7491(00)00030-0.
- Hosseinifard, M., Stefaniak, S., Javid, M.G., et al. (2022) Contribution of Exogenous Proline to Abiotic Stresses Tolerance in Plants: A Review. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 23 (9). doi:10.3390/ijms23095186.
- Hu, L., Cai, Y. and Jiang, G. (2016) Occurrence and speciation of polymeric chromium(III), monomeric chromium(III) and chromium(VI) in environmental samples. *Chemosphere*, 156: 14–20. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2016.04.100.
- Islam, M., Uddin, M., Tareq, S., et al. (2015) Alteration of water pollution level with the seasonal changes in mean daily discharge in three main rivers around Dhaka city, Bangladesh. *Environments*, 2 (3): 280–294. doi:10.3390/environments2030280.
- Jeřábková, J., Tejnecký, V., Borůvka, L., et al. (2018) Chromium in anthropogenically polluted and naturally enriched soils: A review. *Scientia Agriculturae Bohemica*, 49 (4): 297–312. doi:10.2478/sab-2018-0037.
- Kaiser, S. and Scheuring, D. (2020) To Lead or to Follow: Contribution of the Plant Vacuole to Cell Growth. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 11 (May): 8–13. doi:10.3389/fpls.2020.00553.
- Kishor, P.B.K., Hima Kumari, P., Sunita, M.S.L., et al. (2015) Role of proline in cell wall synthesis and plant development and its implications in plant ontogeny. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 6 (JULY): 1–17. doi:10.3389/fpls.2015.00544.
- Kotas, J. and Stasicka, Z. (2000) Chromium occurrence in the environment and methods of its speciation. *Environmental Pollution*, 107 (9): 263–283.
- Li, C., Zhou, K., Qin, W., et al. (2019) A review on heavy metals contamination in soil: effects, sources, and remediation techniques. *Soil and Sediment Contamination*, 28 (4): 380–394. doi:10.1080/15320383.2019.1592108.
- Liang, X., Zhang, L., Natarajan, S.K., et al. (2013) Proline mechanisms of stress survival. *Antioxidants and Redox Signaling*, 19 (9): 998–1011. doi:10.1089/ars.2012.5074.

- Lichtenthaler, H.K. and Wellburn, A.R. (1983) Determinations of total carotenoids and chlorophylls a and b of leaf extracts in different solvents. *Biochemical Society Transactions*, 11 (5): 591–592. doi:10.1042/bst0110591.
- Lin, Z., Lin, H., Wang, Y., et al. (2018) Study on the potential of hyperaccumulator leersia hexandra swartz to repair chromium contamination of heavy metals. *MATEC Web of Conferences*, 175. doi:10.1051/matecconf/201817504026.
- Liu, D., Zou, J., Wang, M., et al. (2008) Hexavalent chromium uptake and its effects on mineral uptake, antioxidant defence system and photosynthesis in Amaranthus viridis L. *Bioresource Technology*, 99 (7): 2628–2636. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2007.04.045.
- Liu, L., Li, W., Song, W., et al. (2018) Remediation techniques for heavy metalcontaminated soils: principles and applicability. *Science of the Total Environment*, 633: 206–219. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.03.161.
- Mahmood-ul-Hassan, M., Suthar, V., Ahmad, R., et al. (2017) Heavy metal phytoextraction—natural and EDTA-assisted remediation of contaminated calcareous soils by sorghum and oat. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 189 (11). doi:10.1007/s10661-017-6302-y.
- Malar, S., Manikandan, R., Favas, P.J.C., et al. (2014) Effect of lead on phytotoxicity, growth, biochemical alterations and its role on genomic template stability in Sesbania grandiflora: A potential plant for phytoremediation. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 108 (October 2014): 249–257. doi:10.1016/j.ecoenv.2014.05.018.
- McComb, J., Hentz, S., Miller, G.S., et al. (2012a) Effects of lead on plant growth, lead accumulation and phytochelatin contents of hydroponically-grown Sesbania exaltata. *World Environment*, 2 (3): 38–43. doi:10.5923/j.env.20120203.04.
- McComb, J., Hentz, S. and S. Miller, Maria Begonia, G. (2012b) Effects of Lead on Plant Growth, Lead Accumulation and Phytochelatin Contents of Hydroponically-Grown Sesbania Exaltata. World Environment, 2 (3): 38–43. doi:10.5923/j.env.20120203.04.
- MEF (2007) Government Decree on the Assessment of Soil Contamination and Remediation Needs. *Ministry of the Environment Finland*, p. 6.
- Nargis, A., Sultana, S., Raihan, M.J., et al. (2018) Multielement analysis in sediments of the River Buriganga (Bangladesh): potential ecological risk assessment. *International Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*, 16: 1663–1676. doi:10.1007/s13762-018-1822-8.
- Oliveira, H. (2012) Chromium as an Environmental Pollutant: Insights on Induced Plant Toxicity. *Journal of Botany*, pp. 1–8. doi:10.1155/2012/375843.
- de Oliveira, L.M., Gress, J., De, J., et al. (2016) Sulfate and chromate increased each other's uptake and translocation in As-hyperaccumulator Pteris vittata. *Chemosphere*, 147: 36–43. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2015.12.088.
- De Oliveira, L.M., Ma, L.Q., Santos, J.A.G., et al. (2014) Effects of arsenate, chromate, and sulfate on arsenic and chromium uptake and translocation by

arsenic hyperaccumulator Pteris vittata L. *Environmental Pollution*, 184: 187–192. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2013.08.025.

- Oves, M., Khan, M.S., Zaidi, A., et al. (2012) "Soil Contamination, Nutritive Value, and Human Health Risk Assessment of Heavy Metals: An Overview." In Almas Zaidi, Wani, P.A. and Khan, M.S. (eds.) *Toxicity of Heavy Metals to Legumes and Bioremediation*. Springer-Verlag Wien. pp. 1–28.
- Panda, S.K. and Choudhury, S. (2005) Chromium stress in plants. *Brazilian Journal* of *Plant Physiology*, 17 (1): 95–102. doi:10.1590/s1677-04202005000100008.
- Peng, H. and Guo, J. (2020) Removal of chromium from wastewater by membrane filtration, chemical precipitation, ion exchange, adsorption electrocoagulation, electrochemical reduction, electrodialysis, electrodeionization, photocatalysis and nanotechnology: a review. *Environmental Chemistry Letters*, 18 (6): 2055–2068. doi:10.1007/s10311-020-01058-x.
- Pinho, S. and Ladeiro, B. (2012) Phytotoxicity by Lead as Heavy Metal Focus on Oxidative Stress. *Journal of Botany*, 2012: 1–10. doi:10.1155/2012/369572.
- Rai, V., Vajpayee, P., Singh, S.N., et al. (2004) Effect of chromium accumulation on photosynthetic pigments, oxidative stress defense system, nitrate reduction, proline level and eugenol content of Ocimum tenuiflorum L. *Plant Science*, 167 (5): 1159–1169. doi:10.1016/j.plantsci.2004.06.016.
- Raimondi, G., Rodrigues, J., Maucieri, C., et al. (2020) Phytomanagement of chromium-contaminated soils using cannabis sativa (L.). *Agronomy*, 10 (9). doi:10.3390/agronomy10091223.
- Ramana, S., Srivastava, S., Biswas, A.K., et al. (2017) Assessment of Century Plant (Agave americana) for Remediation of Chromium Contaminated Soils. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences India Section B - Biological Sciences*, 87 (4): 1159–1165. doi:10.1007/s40011-015-0685-8.
- Razmi, B., Ghasemi-Fasaei, R., Ronaghi, A., et al. (2021) Investigation of factors affecting phytoremediation of multi-elements polluted calcareous soil using Taguchi optimization. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 207 (September 2020): 111315. doi:10.1016/j.ecoenv.2020.111315.
- Ren, C.G., Kong, C.C., Yan, K., et al. (2019) Transcriptome analysis reveals the impact of arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis on Sesbania cannabina expose to high salinity. *Scientific Reports*, 9 (1): 1–9. doi:10.1038/s41598-019-39463-0.
- Rocchetta, I. and Küpper, H. (2009) Chromium- and copper-induced inhibition of photosynthesis in Euglena gracilis analysed on the single-cell level by fluorescence kinetic microscopy. *New Phytologist*, 182 (2): 405–420. doi:10.1111/j.1469-8137.2009.02768.x.
- Samantaray, S., Rout, G.R. and Das, P. (1998) Role of chromium on plant growth and metabolism. *Acta Physiologiae Plantarum*, 20 (2): 201–212. doi:10.1007/s11738-998-0015-3.
- Saravanan, A., Jayasree, R., Hemavathy, R. V., et al. (2019) Phytoremediation of Cr(VI) ion contaminated soil using Black gram (Vigna mungo): Assessment of removal capacity. *Journal of Environmental Chemical Engineering*, 7 (3): 103052. doi:10.1016/j.jece.2019.103052.

- Sarwar, A.K.M.G., Islam, A. and Jahan, S. (2015) Characterization of dhaincha accessions based on morphological descriptors and biomass production. *Journal of Bangladesh Agricultural University*, 13 (1): 55–60.
- Seneviratne, M., Rajakaruna, N., Rizwan, M., et al. (2017) Heavy metal-induced oxidative stress on seed germination and seedling development: a critical review. *Environmental Geochemistry and Health*, 41: 1813. doi:10.1007/s10653-017-0005-8.
- Shahid, M., Shamshad, S., Rafiq, M., et al. (2017) Chromium speciation, bioavailability, uptake, toxicity and detoxification in soil-plant system: A review. *Chemosphere*, 178: 513–533. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2017.03.074.
- Shanker, A.K., Cervantes, C., Loza-Tavera, H., et al. (2005) Chromium toxicity in plants. *Environment International*, 31 (5): 739–753. doi:10.1016/j.envint.2005.02.003.
- Sinha, V., Pakshirajan, K. and Chaturvedi, R. (2018) Chromium tolerance, bioaccumulation and localization in plants: An overview. Journal of Environmental Management, 206: 715–730. doi:10.1016/j.jenvman.2017.10.033.
- Srivastava, D., Tiwari, M., Dutta, P., et al. (2021) Chromium stress in plants: Toxicity, tolerance and phytoremediation. *Sustainability (Switzerland)*, 13 (9): 1–20. doi:10.3390/su13094629.
- Stambulska, U.Y., Bayliak, M.M. and Lushchak, V.I. (2018) Chromium(VI) Toxicity in Legume Plants: Modulation Effects of Rhizobial Symbiosis. *BioMed Research International*, pp. 1–13. doi:10.1155/2018/8031213.
- Tóth, G., Hermann, T., Da Silva, M.R., et al. (2016) Heavy metals in agricultural soils of the European Union with implications for food safety. *Environment International*, 88: 299–309. doi:10.1016/j.envint.2015.12.017.
- Trovato, M., Mattioli, R. and Costantino, P. (2008) Multiple roles of proline in plant stress tolerance and development. *Rendiconti Lincei*, 19 (4): 325–346. doi:10.1007/s12210-008-0022-8.
- USEPA (1996) Alkaline Digestion for Hexavalent Chromium. Method 3060A. Washington, DC: USEPA. (aliquot = a portion of a larger whole, especially a sample taken for chemical analysis or other treatment.). doi:10.24454/jps.19.0_81_3.
- USEPA (2000) Introduction to Phytoremediation. EPA 600/R-99/107, U.S. Office of Research and Development, United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA), Cincinnati, OH, USA. doi:10.4018/978-1-5225-9016-3.ch001.
- Uysal, Y. (2013) Removal of chromium ions from wastewater by duckweed, Lemna minor L. by using a pilot system with continuous flow. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 263: 486–492. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2013.10.006.
- Vajpayee, P., Rai, U.N., Ali, M.B., et al. (2001) Chromium-Induced Physiologic Changes in L. and Its Role in Phytoremediation of Tannery Effluent. *Bulletin* of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, 67 (2): 0246–0256. doi:10.1007/s00128-001-0117-8.

- Vardhan, K.H., Kumar, P.S. and Panda, R.C. (2019) A review on heavy metal pollution, toxicity and remedial measures: Current trends and future perspectives. *Journal of Molecular Liquids*, 290: 111197. doi:10.1016/j.molliq.2019.111197.
- Varun, M., Ogunkunle, C.O., D'Souza, R., et al. (2017) Identification of Sesbania sesban (L.) Merr. as an efficient and well adapted phytoremediation tool for Cd polluted soils. *Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, 98 (6): 867–873. doi:10.1007/s00128-017-2094-6.
- Vernay, P., Gauthier-Moussard, C. and Hitmi, A. (2007) Interaction of bioaccumulation of heavy metal chromium with water relation, mineral nutrition and photosynthesis in developed leaves of Lolium perenne L. *Chemosphere*, 68 (8): 1563–1575. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2007.02.052.
- Yang, Q., Li, Z., Lu, X., et al. (2018) A review of soil heavy metal pollution from industrial and agricultural regions in China: Pollution and risk assessment. *Science of The Total Environment*, 642: 690–700. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.06.068.
- Zayed, A.M. and Terry, N. (2003) Chromium in the environment: Factors affecting biological remediation. *Plant and Soil*, 249 (1): 139–156. doi:10.1023/A:1022504826342.
- Zhang, X.H., Liu, J., Huang, H.T., et al. (2007) Chromium accumulation by the hyperaccumulator plant Leersia hexandra Swartz. *Chemosphere*, 67 (6): 1138–1143. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2006.11.014.
- Zwolak, A., Sarzyńska, M., Szpyrka, E., et al. (2019) Sources of soil pollution by heavy metals and their accumulation in vegetables: a review. *Water, Air, & Soil Pollution*, 230: 164. doi:10.1007/s11270-019-4221-y.

Chapter 7:

Conclusion & Recommendations

7.1 Conclusions

From this study, it can be concluded that:

- Chapter 2: Among the sampling points, riverbank sediment of the Dhaleshwari River near the tannery site demonstrated the highest pollution with chromium (VI) (in 2019 and 2021) and the classified as a carcinogen by the World Health Organisation and above the permissible limit (table 1.1). This pollution level calls for immediate action for remediation, and an in situ method such as phytoremediation can be a viable option to remove this Cr(VI) from the river bank sediment.
- Chapter 3: Achieving maximum germination before the photo-toxicity study of Cr(VI) is crucial. In summary, the results of this study section depict that *S. cannabina* can germinate and emerge under a wide range of conditions. But maximum germination (98±1.23%) is achieved while treating with 6% (v/v) H₂O₂ (5min) and 65°C hot water (5min); seeds of *S. cannabina* germinate rapidly between 25°C to 30°C. The emergence of *S. cannabina* from deeper burial in the soil (up to 8 cm) indicates that these seeds did not require any special technique for cultivation.
- Chapter 4: After achieving the condition for maximum germination, in this study section, we try to assess the Cr(VI) concentration in which the seeds of *S. cannabina* can germinate and grow. The results provide information about the plant's ability for Cr(VI) phytoremediation of contaminated land or sediment. Cr(VI) dose up to 100 ppm *S. cannabina* seeds can germinate without affecting root radicle growth. On the other hand, germination percentages and root elongation were hindered by ≥ 250 ppm. Again, according to germination

percentage results, *S. cannabina* seeds can germinate even up to 500 ppm of Cr(VI) concentration, but considering root elongation study and confocal image, it was clear that germination and root growth stopped \geq 250 ppm after 96 h. Finally, it can be concluded that *S. cannabina* can germinate and grow in a medium containing \leq 175 ppm concentration of Cr(VI).

- Chapter 5: As from the previous section, Cr(VI) directly affects the root radicle. In this study section, we observed that the root system of *S. cannabina* behaves under 0 to 360 ppm concentrations of Cr(VI) using rhizobox. At 360 ppm concentration, germinated seeds of *S. cannabina* could not grow. However, under 0-80 ppm concentrations, no significant change was observed in the root growth (length). At 160 ppm, root growth was reduced by about 55±0.65% at 25 days and 35±0.25 % at 45 days compared to plants grown at 0 ppm. After 45 days, no chromium (VI) was detected in the soil for (0 to 160 ppm) in comparison with the control (with no plants), where no changes in Cr(VI) were observed. The absence of Cr(VI) in the soil after 45 days suggests that *S. cannabina* can be a candidate for phytoremediation of soils containing up to 160 ppm Cr(VI).
- Chapter 6: After studying the germination and root growth under Cr(VI), we finally conducted a phytoremediation study (0 to 200 ppm, Cr(VI)). During the investigation, no effect on plant physiological changes was observed up to 100 Cr(VI) treatment. The results showed that *S. cannabina* could tolerate and grow within concentrations of up to 175 ppm of Cr(VI) and was able to convert all Cr(VI) to the less toxic Cr(III) (discussed in chapter 6). *S. cannabina* had bio-absorption coefficient (BAC) and translocation factor (TF) values <1 and root concentration factor (RCF) above 1. Thus, *S. cannabina* can be

categorised exclusively as a phytosequestration species for Cr(VI). Pot experiments confirm that *S. cannabina* offers an alternate method for phytoremediation of Cr(VI) contaminated soil. *Sesbania cannabina* could grow height of over 40±2 cm within 45 days. Based on its dense growth, reduction of Cr(VI) to Cr(III), ample biomass, tolerance, and being this legume crop can be used in phytoremediation Cr(VI) contaminated soil.

 Finally, S. cannabina can be used for remediation of Cr(VI) (≤ 175 ppm) contaminated site.

7.2 Limitations of this study

- As Cr(VI) is highly mobile, there might be a chance that Cr(VI) can be drained in the bottom of the sealed pot and thus have less effect on the initial seedling growth.
- In this experiment, we did not consider the other contaminants (interference) available in the industrial contaminated site because we used non-toxic soil.
- We also did not observe the effect of rhizobium bacteria on Cr(VI) remediation; however, we did not observe any nodule growth up to 45 days.

7.3 Recommendations

 Chromium (VI) in the riverbank sediment of the Dhaleshwari River of Bangladesh contaminated with Cr(VI) by tannery industries poses a severe threat to the local environment, including residential and agricultural areas, and must be sustainably managed urgently.

- Phytosequestration appears to be a promising, low-cost solution and can easily be applied in the remediation of Cr(VI) in the riverbank sediment of the Dhaleshwari River of Bangladesh. However, we recommend further research for additional contaminants from tannery industries such as organics.
- Leguminous plants like S. cannabina may be appropriate for other regions since they have the potential to tolerate the high as Cr(VI) (≤ 175 ppm) contaminated in soil, but this requires further investigation.
- Environmental regulations should be developed (especially for riverbank sediment pollution) and enforced because many industries do not implement these regulations in developing countries like Bangladesh.
- This study suggests the need to conduct further investigations on the effect of sulfate on Cr(VI) phytoremediation and the impact of counter-cation on the uptake on associated contaminant anions such as chromate.
- After phytoremediation, plant material could be used in anaerobic digestion for CH₄ production. By-product slurry can be used as bio-fertiliser because it will contain Cr(III), which is less toxic even in high concentrations. In addition to that, by using bioleaching methods, it is possible to recover all chromium.